Wl Nationdl Lib
T T

B;phothéque nanonale

du Canada - . j
’ Canadran Theses Servrce ngce des théses canadlennes e N
Ottawa, Canada ' 4 |
. KIAON4w ‘ - -
, ‘ ¢ . -
X .

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the
quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming.
‘Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of |
reproductlon possible.

If pages are missing, contact the umversnty whmhgranted
_~the degree. .

Some pages may ha:ve indistinct print especially if the
original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or
if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

/

’ Prewously copyrighted. materials (journal amcles pub
hshed tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproductron in full or in pan of this rmcroform is governed
by the’Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, ¢. C-30.

NL-339 (r. 8804)

AVIS .

La quahte de celte microtorme dépend grandement de ia

qualite de la these soumise au mucrohlmage Nous avons
tout fait pour assurer une quame supérieure de reproduc
tion.

St _manque des pages, sveuillez communiqueravec”
I'umversnte quu a conféré le grade.

La quahté d ampressuon de- certaines pages peut laisser a
désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylpgra-
phiées a l'aide d'un ruban usé ou sil'université nous atan

. parvemr une photocopie de quahté mfeneure

Les documenls qu! font déja Iob]el d'un droit d'auteur 4
{afticles de revue, tests publiés, etc.) ne sont pas
microfilmés. '

la reproductioh; méme pamelle de cette microlorme est

soumise.d la Loi canad|enne sur le droit d'auteur, OH(‘
19?0 c.C- 30 . ~



GREAT ‘BRITAIN AND MALTA DURING THE NAPOLEONIC WARS -

%

WITH SRECZAL-REFERENCE TO THE ROLE OF SIR ALEXANDER BALL, 1798-1809
: . 4 ’ .

= Ld

by »

_ Heﬁryk Stanislaw Malkowskl

B.A. Simon Frager University, 1975 .

-

o A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL

— “FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF ARTS .

.t

~ in the Department
of |

" History

c:) Henryk Stanislaw Malkowski 1987 f
SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY
August 1987
-
" All righte reserved.. This work may not be

reproduced in whole or in part,. by photocopy
or other means, without permission of the author.



Permission has been granted
to the National Library of
‘Canada to microfilm this
thesis and to lend or sell
copies of the film. .

1

‘The author (copyright owner)

reserved other
rights, and
neither the thesis nor
extensive extracts from it
may be printed or otherwise
reproduced without his/her
written permission.

has
publication

ISBN  0-315-42596-2

*

L'autorisation a &été accordée
4 la Bibliothéque nationale
du Canada de microfilmer
cette -thése et de préter ou
de vendre des exemplaires du

L'auteur (titulaire du droit
d'auteur) se réserve les
autres droits de publicaticn;

ni ,la thése ni de Ipnga
extraits de celle-ci ne
doivent étre 1imprimés ou

autrement reproduits sans son

autorisation écrite.



o - APPROVAL S |
BN o _ : ‘ ' B | ¢ ) L
NAME e " HENRTK MALKOWSKI "
DEGREE, -  MASTER OR ARTS
TITLE OF THESIS: Great Britain and Malta duriho the I*Iapolef»nic .

'Wars with Special Reference to the Role of Sir
#lezander Ball, 1795- 1809

EXAMINING COMMITTEE:

CHATEMAN: Associate Professor [ 1 Little

-

. | ~* Frofessor B Ingram, Senibr Superviser
) | tofessor A, Cunninghatn, Su}i\@'r}’v* fzory Comtmnities

—
—

Frofessor R Debo, § Lper*\'ﬂorv Comittee

- Dr Gordon Martel,
Department of History

Roeyal Roads Military College, Victoria, B C.

DATE APPROVED



PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE
I 4

B | hereby grant to Simon Fraser University the right to lend
my thesis, pchecT or extended essay (the title of which is shown below)
to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or
single copies on+7>for such Uusers or in response to a request from the
Itbrary of any oTher university, or other educafional lnsii?uflon, on
its gown behalf or for one of its users. | further agree that pefmission
for muttiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes. may be granted
by me or the Dean of Gradua?é'STud}es, I+ Is understood that copylng

%{ publlcaflon ot this work for financial gain shall not be allowed -

4

without my wriTTen permtssaon.

Titie of Thesis/Project/Extended Essay

L . s I

) | _‘ - L : - ’
XL TR me B e Ta v, e Ly o

Author:
’ tsignature)




e oy e T —
s , ABSTRACT -

Great Britain and Malta during the Napoleonic Wars
With Special Reference to _the Role of Sir Alexandef Ball, 1798-1809 -

Britain had'littlé(interest 1n:the‘Mediterranean'and “almost none in Malta’

" until Naboleon'Bonapafte‘seized the island in 1798 and fbrééﬁ her to take’
heed.. Thereaftér; the question of who should COntrél Malta became one of
"the moét contentious isé;es affecting the dipioﬁac;~ of tﬁe period,”
particuiérlyvduring the"peace'negotiatione at Amiens inr 1801f2qe-/The
’///inabiiity to settle 'this.issue led to a resumpktion bflhostilit;es the
golloﬁiﬁg year. Some Englishmen wonéered Whether'gllowing peace or war to
gang on Malta gave the island  an importanéefit did not merit. Britain
would .control Malta for thirteen years before the other | powers
acknowledged her legal .rigpt‘to it. During this period her resolve to
kéep it steadily increased, as did her appreciation ofﬂifs'valﬁé, and the
person most responsible for promot;ng this appreciation w;é Br;ta%h's
Cigil Commissioner at Malfa, éir AlexahderiBall; Cf the two”tﬁemeg to be
deVeloped,ﬁere, the first explains the reasoﬁs for Britaih:s decision to
keep Maléa.in the face: of formidabie internatiénal oppositionirwhile, the
second gxamines the iéland'sﬁboééible véiJe to a great power, and asks-

| whether 1t was 1intrinsically 1important, or merely symbolicaliy BQ;‘“
~ Malta's most ser;ous drawback‘was its distance:from the Frerch naval base
at Toulon. However, tRTs became less important as Brifain's stfategic
priorities’shifted further east. Even so the qommonl?xﬁeld';belief that
Malta acted as a barrier protecting Egypﬁ was highly questionable becéuse

this would _have required .a large fleet to be stationed _at Malta,. and :
Britain was loath to bear such' an expense. She ‘eventually came to see

that her very possession of the island .was a cheéaper alternative. By

-
s

keeping Malta in defiance of international opinion, Britain, in effect.

»

~ - . ’ -
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declaned the island to be the symbol of her determination to provent other '

‘powers from dominating thefeastern Mediterranean. Thus, Malta e value to

Britain shifted,;in,conjunction with the,international situation; between

7 . - . ;
~ substantive andmeymbolicvpolee thef‘were not mutually exclusive.
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We "have. been admirlng the. wonderful strength of this place ’both by
nature and art. It is certainly the happiest situation that cah be

imagined. The city stands.on a péninsula betwixt two of thé finest

ports in the' world .which. are defended -by. almost impregnable
fortifications-...‘The ditches of .a vast size, are all cut out_of -

solid rock. These extend for a great many miles' "and raige our
astonishment to think that ‘so  small a nation has ever bSen'able to
e§Fcute theém. o :

N

e S, S - Patrick Brydone f1]

Thus Eatricﬁt Brydone deSCribed'_Ma&tae in 1770,> a place visited. by few

- \

Englishmen inethe late eighteenth . century. .Three years later, Brydone

published an account cf.his

on Malta and Sicily.

LR . N .
affirmation of Malta s military strength, but‘most would have'thought

irrelevant to Britain's

A ' %
then regard Malta as a potential naval base.

blockade of the French naval station at Toulon, and it was centrolled by

- —

N

and east to accomplish her - principal naval objective in time -of war,

'the Order of the Knights of - St. John. Eatisfied -that the 0O»de

trip that became the standard _referencé work

Few contemporary Englishmen would have: diSputed his

it

position-in the Mediterranean. Britain did not

It lay too far to the south

the

I"‘Bq

traditional policy of neutrality was sufficient to keep any of ‘the other

great powers from establishing itself at Malta, Britain regarded

island in a negative manner: any peeitive or intrimsic value ‘it mi

possess was, tnerefore, irrelevant to her.

_ When the Knights of the'Order first came to Malta in 1530, they

b

o

. had been reluctant to make it their home. . One of them described it as:j%

just a big wide rock'rather than an iélandi%and given its adverse

_ natural features, ... it could .never have -obtained eitner‘ great

riches or a great name.[2] . : S

the

ght

¥

Centuries later, Britain would share this reluctance to beconfe ' invalved

with such a‘eeemingly barren place. Malta was about the size:of the Isle

of Wight, -and except for an abundance of. bdilding stone, had no natural

.



desperation.

o N . - . Lo ) >

resources. Water was scarce.in summer, and -there were no permanent

‘ streams. Itsg rocky soil’ did -not grow-‘enough to’ feed‘-its'population.

——

.making"imports of 'grainnfrom Sicdly a necessity. ‘ Given these negative«-'

&

'features 1t was not surprising that the Knights d1d not w1sh to g0 there.

!

They;did 50 because they had no. choice. The Order'represented tha ;last
S b -

.- - . 2 “

remnantvof the crusading movement, and having‘been‘ recentiy expelled from

-

Rhodes by the Ottoman Turks, was looking for a base from which to rebuild.f

Malta, offered as a gift ‘by’the'_Holy Roman Emperor, was accepted ‘in
. \ 1

F ]

% : N 5 ’ .
The Knights- remained there for almost three centuries. Their

initial‘disappointment . was overcome by the reali;ation that Malta had

advantages which had "been originally _underestimated.. It possessed manyv

natural harbours, one : of which numbered . among the best “in the. .

° —

.Mediterranean. Its ciimate: was hea}thier than in other Mediterranean

- coastal regions, and its natural " infertility was compénsated by .a frugal » -
4 g

and hardworking population.[3] Under the Order's»rule, Malta prospered,

and the population grew from 25,000 in 1530 to almost 100,000 in .1789.i
When compared with its tiny area, this pOpulation made the 1sland one of:v

the most dengely populated places in all of Eurogﬂ’[4] Maﬂwa =Y economic .

\

well-being duning this period was a direct result of . the huge sums,of

money spent there by the Order. In each of the major Catholic stateseof'

T

Europe, it owned .vast estates that remitted a substantial part of their‘_'

3

revenues to Malta each year. Added to'this‘ was theureVenue,produced' by
. g ;

the Order’ S privateering raids on Muslim shipping Compared'tO»the;VSums

.

spent by the Order to develop-Malta, Britain's subsequent outlays: in the

e

first half of the nineteenth century were meagre. Travellers”to Malta in

A

the eighteenth century were amazed by the contrast between the prOSperity

B e )
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of this barren island and the wretched .poverty of ~its more fertile

neighbour, Sicily.[5] Indeed,.one British oficer remarked that "this

certainly appears in‘favoﬂr of the governnent of the Ordeb".felv The

comment was uncharacteristic, however, because the British gencrally
preferred to justify their own Trule oy denigrating that of the Order.
. Since the Order was constantly at war with the” Muslim

principalities, #he improvements made.to Malta’'s infrastructure reflooted

- an uneasy balance betweén'the' availability of wealth)and the nced for

security. The fortificé;ion of -the island represented two- and a  half-

centuries of ongoing effort, during which the techniques of siege warfare

" “becamé a science. The Order continually adopted the newcst methodé of

construction to cope with the rapid changes. It was obsesced with staying
up-to-date, andﬁﬂyork was commissioned from the most renowned milditary
engineorsil7]‘ Signﬁficahtly,(vmoét of~=the engineers employed by the

Knights were Fronchmen. By 1798, there was some question about whether

—_— (,; - , \

Malta s fortifications had become old- fashioned but both British and -

French experts could _agree that they were still formidable. Charles
P . . . ) ) a‘

Pasley who --became one of Britain's most emineht military engineers

concluded:. #

The Fort of Valletta is the finest specimen of the Ancient stylo -

the depth of the ditches [is] tremendous - Never had I before seen a

work deserving of the ‘name of a Fortification.i8] '

v

Napoleon Bonaparte s chief engineer, General Max Caffarelli, was even more
to the point when he remarked in 1798: "It's a lucky thing there was

somebody- there to open the gates for us."[9]

BN

Although the Knights believed . it their duty to wape holy war

>

against Muslims, they saw ~nothing incongruous in. helping ' Europe‘b‘

Christian nations trade with these cn:mies of the fa%ﬁh.’ As a Tesgult, the .
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Order did much to improve Mélta's commercial facilities. Foremost among
‘ - i . A ¢
these was the establishment of a lazaretto, essential for trade. aith the

Levant and Barbary because ships going to these plague ridden regions

needed a reliable place in which to perform quarantine. During the

~

éighteenth century, ‘many countries took advantage of Malta's lazaretto.

Indéed, unquarantined goods were prohibited rentry into Englandiby an act

~of 1753, and "Malta was . specifically dééfénated -as one- of the+ approved

lazarettos whefe goods;'bouid be aifed.flO] John Howard, - %he Britis;
hospita; reformer, was iﬁpreésed by his inspection of the quérantine
facilities at Maita in 1?@5, and thefe were many in Britain who came to -
(regard fhem as the finesE‘ in Europe.[11] Indeed,_oné of Bonaparfe‘s
reasons for seizing,Mélfgjih~ 1798 was to use it as a hospital station to
which‘he could send his sick andeéunded froﬁ Egypt-[12] -

~ -

Brian Blouet has stated that Malta s strategic importance has had

v

- less to do .with such advantages as the fortifications and the lazaretto:

than with its relationship to Si;ilyt ‘"He claims that Malta-'had a
strategic advantage over Sicily, in the past, only whén~ the two isléndé
were_controlled byr different powers. When one power  was in »COnfrdlvofi
both, Mélta:s strategic sigﬁificanﬁe dwindled,. and,.economically, ™ These
have been the most éifficult times for the Maltese.[13) This pattern did
qﬁf ;epeat itself, however;‘ Jduring the Napoleopic ‘Wars. f ‘Britain
controlled bofh islands;‘put Malta remained the more impoftant_ as/Brifain
: cam; to realize that Malfa possessed'a compgrative advantage: that coqldlbé
’ﬁtilized onl& by a maritihe powér. Piers Mackesy has notedQAthat the
mainfenance of effective sea power dependé not ohly on the number of
available warships, but also on the number of disposable troéps‘availablé

& . R
for amphibious operations. To be effective, a base must not reduce sucn a

-
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squadron could be brought back to its relief. .

.

force by tying up large numbers of troops as a garrison. [14]  Since

‘Sicily had .a greater land area and population than Malta, any »bower‘

interested in ruling it must expend propoftionally more resources and

manpower to do.so. Furthermore, Sicily, as a permanent possession_‘would

have been prone to constant diplomatic interference from European frionds

and fééé‘alike. In this réSpgct:, it was more suited to rule by a ln;d
szer. Mal&a;ton the other hand, lent itself mofe~feadily to the nceds of
a sea po@ér. ’The &sland, manageably small, did not make large demands on
scarce naval resQurcgs, and if attacked,.posseés;d a population. larpe
épbugh:and fortifications strong enough to defend the ‘Qlacevuntilzarunﬁu

After 1793, Britain was locked in a protracted strugple with

France that lasted until 1815. Colonial expansion was not a primary

concern, yet, ironically, Britain came out of the war with a greatly

a

enlarged empife.‘ This had ~occurred because Britain had 'found it . more

lucrative to seize enemy colonies than she did to involve herself directly

. -

in fighting on 'the Continent. Such colonies were nct  only commercially

<

' valuable, but could alsc- be used as bargaining counters during peace
1

negotiations. - Britain's seizure of Malta in 1800 was largely detcrmincd
< . - .

by such considerations, as were her subsequent reluctance to give it up

and her eventual determination to keep 1it. even
o b

"%t the risk of

- - 1

internaticnal censure.[15] This three phase procese explains how Britain

acguired the island permaneﬁtly, and makes up the first‘ theme of the

dissertation. Phase one begins with Bonaparte’s capture of Maltz in 1798.

Britain lazid seige to the island while at the same time using it as_Ei}t

. — -

. . .
to tempt Russia to Join the Second Ccalition. Thus, “the reasont for
Britain's initial involvement with Malta werc «cquivocal, =2nd the island

-
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became the crux of a larger struggle within the British government between

-

supgbrters of a maritime -wor Continental strategy. In September 1800,

Malta fell, but by then the coalition was faltéring, and Britain mo. longer
 trusted Russia sufficiently to hand the island over to 'herf Even so

Britain had no intention of keeping Malta herself, and'regarded it as a .

@

temporary possescioﬁ to be disposed of as part of a peace settleméntf

2

Phase two is delineated'by thé search for peace. In.a preliminary

N - S . - N .
agreement in 1801, Britain agreed .to give up Malta in return for a peace

~—

settlement; however, the negotiations ‘at :Amiensvfrom November 1801 to

Hg}ch“1802 préved more troublesome than egpected-4 The outcome was a

-

treaty that neither side.fhodgﬁt would last. Britain waﬁted to maké sure
. . :

France would not apgain take Malfa,‘ but the treaty’s guarantees were

unworkable, and Britain felt she had no choice but to refuse to evacuate

the island. This led .to a renewal of the war in May 1803, and* the

beginninglof the third phase. Britaih’again tried to coax Russia into a

. . o A '
coalition, but Russia was wary, because Britain s refusal to evacuate

Malta in the interests of peace made.the tsar suspicious that she was an

untrustﬁorthy ally. However, his fear of France evéntually overcame his

mistrust of Britair, and the Third Coalition was formed in the summer of

1805. Thereafter, the guestion of Malta remained on the periphery of the

diplomacy of the period until the island was ultimately ceded _to Britain

in 1814.- / S

The second thems of ‘the dissertation examines Malta's changing

value to Britain during this period.. Five distinct shifts in emphasis can

be traced, though they were not mutually exclusive,, and all influenced

&

Britain s decision to keep the island. The first has alrgidy been

designated Malta s negative— value. This manifested itself in Britain's
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desire to keep the great powers, including herééif,vout of Malta. 'She had

"a similar goal in the eastern Mediterranean, and, _ironically, her

possession of Malta eventually came to be seen as the means of effecting

this/<

Englishmen wondered whether the question of Malta.?md been a red herring

The secomd shift relates to Malta's diplomatic importance. Some

that had been given a diSprOportionate Significance. They were inpdrrect

2 .

in this assumption because the poésesSion of Malta determ15§¢, to a large

degree, the type of strategy itsspossessof éould pursue; Bonapdrte knéw
this instinctively Qhen he first seig@d the islénd, but Britain took much
longer to come to the same cénclusion.. | ’ |
Malta'sié;ratégic importance forms the third shift. The Bfitish
navy could not make .up ité mind about Malta. Admiral Horatio Nelson had

LY
no use for it,,primapily because it was Unsuited to be a base from which

to blockade. the French navalnstatioh at Toulon. However, his sbggessor as
Comman&er—in—bhief in the ﬁediterranean; Admiral Cuthbert Collingwood, was
not convinced that closely blockadihg Touloni wag iuseful. _Héﬂsaw an
expanded role for Britéin \in the‘eastérn ‘Mediterraneén protecting the

Ottoman Empire from great power intru;ion} and Malta as an idéal base for

such a task. However, the task would have required Britain to maintain a

4

large fleet at Malta, something "~she did not wish tdA do. on account.of the
expense. The fourth 'shift relates to the attempt to find a cheaper

alternative to the latter strategy. After Bonapérte‘s expedition to

Egypt, Britain had realized that maintaining weak %uffer statee in the

Middle East was the best means of protecting her position in India. By

1806, her diplomatic intransigence had made. it clear to all ' that her

i

possession of Malta was - 'the symbol of her resolve not to sec the Oitoqan

‘Empige paftitioned by the other great powers. Merely Showing&the fiag'dt

¥



Malta was ‘meant to save Britain from the expense of keeping an-extehsive

flect theré, and during the first half of the niheteenth century, she was

largely successful in this bluff. The last sHift rélates to . Malta's

comﬁercial'importance. » ‘Although many Englishmen proﬁotedrthe island’s

trade potential,~ it was never fulfifledf. Malta.did _experience a boom

after 1506 owing to the artificial conditlons ‘brought about by Napoleon’s

—_—- -

Contine;tal System, but it socn burst after an outbroak of plague in 1812

14

» ]

from which thie island’s trade.never ffilly recovered..-
11 explain, the role of Sir Alexander

‘ _ (
siege of Malta from 1798 to 1800. He was

.Finally, the dissertation

all who directed the two yez

oo}

again sent there in 1803 to lement the provisions of the Treéty of
Amiens, and after the war was resum d,-he stayed on as Civil Commissioner

until his death in 1809. Throughout his career‘hgfstaunchly believed in

Malta's importancé, and was the person most responsible,for promoting an.

appreciation of it within the British government. Although he had a
‘ genuiné affection for the Maltese people, it has been blown out of

proportion by - later writers who  have ignored .the fact thatQ'he was

/

essentially an imperialist. That he was able to set his character on the

type of colony Malta would .become had "~much to do. wigg the poor

communications that existed at the time, allowing any'repreééntative on

the spoﬁ great initiative. 1In this sense, Ball was typical of Britain's
—— :
r~ .
early empire builders, with one eye on increasing’ his influence in London

to further his career and the 'other. on minimizing his immediate

administrative difficulties. His_role should not be overemphasized, but
he is elgnlflcant because he was deeply involved in. the debate about the
retenticn of Malta and its value to Briééln as a colony.

Historians have neglected Ball, and no mons graﬁh has been written

\ . -

g
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b ,
about his ro}e at Malta. This méy stem from{the scarcity of his private
papers. Two collections, however, have been drawn upon -in this

" dissertation. The first consists of sixty-one private‘letters to Nelson,

now kept at the National Maritime Museum at Greenwich.  Ball and Nelson

~

remained lifelong friends, but were at odds over the stratepic importance

of Malta, and their disagresmsnt— manifested itself most clearly in fhese

°

"letters. The second collecyion, in the British Library,*is a volume of

letters to Granville Penn, ar/Under-Secretary at the Colonial Office. For

o

¥

Fl

his views to the government. As a result, these letters are more cordial

" but less candid than those to Nelson. Together the two collectionsﬁpermit

-

oné to assess more precisely the Trole of Sir Alexander Ball in helping to
forﬁﬁlate Britéin's Mediterranean strategy during the Revolutionary and

Napoleonic-Wars. ' v .

LS

Ball, Penn was both a friend and a .channel through which he could present
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Patrick Brydone, A Tour_through Sicily and Malta (London 1773), T, 73.
In 1769, Sir William Hamilton, Britain s ambassador at the Court of the
Kingdom of the Two Sicilies, wrote a similarly impressive account of

Malta’s almost impregnable defencés aftfer he was inadvertently blown A
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This study concentrates on Malta-s role-in the international

relations of the period. It does not have a section that deals with the'

internal affairs and sociad relations ‘of~the Maltese. This was done.
consciously because these topics have been thoroughly covered elsewhére.
Should the reader feel a need for such background,. he is directed to the
works of Cavaliero, Laferla Lee and Hardman in the blbliography.
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T B CHAPTER ONE —

Malta in the late Eighteenth Century and its Capture by Bonaparte, 1798

plkguntn g S el o usn it - Sl Siighiniiinhaplt Ao thP ooty sih Pt At ding sbioguiPigidl Pt o
. ; . .

There has been, no instance of a salary ever having been é}lowéd to a.

British Consul at Malta.> o
a , o - Lord Grenville [1]

The sharp reply of the Foreign Secretary,/lord -Grenville, to a bothersome

" consul in 1792 illusf;ggqs Britain's indifference'to Malta in the late
" eighteenth qentury. Only after Bd%%Qartgwseized _the island in 1798 did

-

involvement with Malta and the fips% chapter will outline the background

.leading up to it. Initially, Britain only wanted to get the French out,
not to keep the island herself; however, Bonaparte's reasons for seizing
it and those bf the Knights of St..John‘for not putting up more resistance

to him would later influence her decision not to give it up. As this

decision would also affect Britain’s relationship with Russia,. it is

important to set out the latter’s attituée-to Malta.’ The question of who
shouid ﬁqssess the island évenfua11§ bécame a symbol of*the mistrust that;;
developed -between Britain and .Russia, damaging their united effort to
defeat France. Thus, the tépics"diSCUSst’in this chapter will all have-

an.inleenqe on .Britain's future relationship with Malta despite their

) limited relevance to it during this earlier period..- ~

——

. I
.In 1801, an Englighrgfficer at Malta, stated that the island was "by far
the most valuable possession that could have,beén  aé§uired by the Britiéh
Nation in the Mediterranean'.[2] Another went further claiming that if
‘was ''perhaps the strongest [place] in the world".TSJ Such étatements

'stood in sharp contrast to Britain’s characteristic indifference to Malta

a mere three “years before. Indeed, . sﬁe héd -regarded the whole

- she begin to take notice:- This event marks the start  of Britain's

o
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Mediterranean as something of a backwater.’ Her main .trade routes were
elsewhere, and her sole interest was 'to _ensure that no, other power

establiéhed predominaﬁce there. Britain did t%y to prévent'the Russiahr B

-

seizure of Ochakov in 1791, but more in an attempt to preserve.the balance

of power in Central Europe, as Allan Cunningham has>shown; than to ekpand

her interest in the Black Sea and eastern basin of the Medigg;ranean.fdl
B a e . ‘ X . .o =
In time of war, her principal strategic objective was -<confined to the

western basin where her squadrons would blockade.the -French naval bage af
Toulon to prevent vessels stationed = there from linking up with their

Atlantic fleet.

To facilitate the blockade, Britain established bases at Gibraltar

and Minoréa, but few could agree - on.their relative merits. Cibraltar s
oy . = - ' . )

harbour was~fhopéle951y exposed,. and in winter, no fleet dared anchor,

-there. This bége may have been advantageously located at the entrance to-

the Mediterranean, but in an age of sail, its location did not give

-

. ~ ! e B
absolute control over the' shipping passing through the straits, since

gnprediétable“wiQQS‘sometimes blew vessels towards.Spanish held.ALgegiraa.

It was also too far away to be used either toipfo%ect' Minorca‘of: to

-

P N , - o
" blogkade.Toulon. Britain came to regard _it as an expensive liability,

“and d%ring the first half of the century, offered it to Spain no less than

»

five times in exchange for an alliance that would have Canirmed Britain's

<

posseseion of Minorca.[s5)

3
kY

In con%fast, Minorca’s harbour was both secure and 'capacious, and’
was convehienfly located clése to the mgin blockading -station off Toulbn-h
Despite these advantages, TMinorca had serious  limitatiéns. Unfavouféblé
tdbography Eéndereq the port-vulnerable' to attack. It could not bé

defended by the agiéting foftifications, and military.experts doubted

4 s
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‘ whethérrany sufficiently strong could ‘be built.[6] A naval -squadron

stationed there, therefore, was held hostage to its base, as the island -

could be easily captured as sobnlaéf it had -left.[7]) JThus,' when Spain -

seized Minorca in 1783, Britain gave it up without a fuss, trusting that

it could be easily ' re-taken if the need ﬂarose.:‘TQniryeafsvlater,i she

instead seized Toulon, but was forced .to withdraw from it “shortly

ﬁpereafter, and decided .to experiment with.a new Mediterranean baéé

thought to be an improvement on Minorca.

N\ In January 1794, Admiral Hood -signed a convention with a band of

Corsican rebels by which they ceded the;r island .to Britain. The British

experience in Cogsica,préved,_however, to be a disaster..‘The island was
too large and mountainous to be controlled by .the available . forces. Few
supplies were to be had .locally, and the inhabiténts were as intractable

to the British as they had been to the French. Britain had accepted the

island partially on the advice of Horatio Nelson, who could see no further:

than the immediate need to maintain the blockade.of ‘Toulon.[8] Not all

naval officers agreed with him. Commander Cuthbert Collingwood,. for one,

-

foresawvan expensive drain on British resources that would ultimately make

Corsica untenable as .a béSe,fQ] His prediction proved .correct: the

British were forced to evacuate it less than two years after they had -

arrived.

During this’ period, - Britain never considered yMalta as én

élterqative. Had she done so, its comparative advantages .might have been

discovered. Its harbour was as good as Minorca’s, and its fortifications

N

ensured’ that this harbour could .be defended for a considerable_ time by a

force much smaller than would -be required .to besiege the place.

Furthermore, Malta was more compact and less rugged than Corsica, ’méking
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it-$asier to control both - the terrain ‘and theé inhabitants. .By 796,

however, the Corsican experience had soured Brifain on the Mediterranean

altogether. The First Lord of the Admiralty argued that the fleet could

- -

not operate there, once‘Spain héd,allied‘hefself with France_>~éﬁd.Na§1es

had qeclaréd her neutrality.[10]  Some Cabinet members\ objected, but the

inertia of Britain’s- long indifference carried _the majority. Thus, the

withdrawal ffom the Mediterranean in October feflected ~an  attitude

prevaleﬁt for most ofmthe“century; 7
Britain's colmercial interest in ,the M&diterranean wasijust as

circumscribed.. The Levaﬁt Company had .been éctiVe for nearly two

centuries, but the volume of its trade-had been nowhere near as great as

. that between Brifain and her colonies, especially those in the West

Indies. By 1750, the company: ;38 in decline: most British merchants

-

/ preferred to circumvent its'monopoly by dealing with Italian middiemanvin‘

the entfepets at Leghorn and Genoa.[11] Few Englishmen, as yet, realized

0l

_that the eastern Mediterranean was the backdoor to their Asian
possessions. George Baldwin, Britain’s . reprgsentativé in Egypt, was the

exception who claimed that this area was a "necessary link in the chain of-

communication with India".[12] However, ignored .by his government, his
plah to ~establish an overland . trade. acrbss ‘Egypt in 1786 came "to
nothing.!13]

_Ultimately, Britain's  indifference to the Mediterranean was

reflected in her apathy towards. Malta. Trade;betw€on,the two was almost

non-existent. Only a few British ships put into Malta’s harbour each

year, and tHey had a bad reputation. iThey often disregarded — the harbour

regulations, and their privateering threatencd- -to compromise  the

neutrality of the Knights.[14! In November 1793, Admiral Hood sent a ship’

e

RN
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to Malta with' an offer of - British protectionb in ‘exchange for 1,500

- -

— Maltese seamen. His offer was more an admissibh .of the crifical‘shortagé RS

o .
_ties—Imthis instance, he was only able to recruit 414 volunteers;-the
_ '{ . a . T v

[}

Grandmaster, however, received .an admonition from France.: Five years

later, Bonaparte ;Qould ‘use this incident as one of the pretekts for

-

seizing MaIﬁg-[lS]
Similarly, Britain’s diplomatic ties with Malta were kept to a

minimum. Her consuls were generally appointed by the Grandmastef, and

London would usually humour him ,by recognizing the appo%ntee. Neither -

governmentbtreatqd éhe ﬁost seriously, and és Britain had'nq real need 6f
a representative af Malta it‘aéQuieséedi-in*%he arrangement.(16] Of the
'non-eptitieé who held the'cénsﬁl's,post,:the most significant Qas William
England. His correspondepce with the Foreign Office during the 1790 s
‘iexemplifiea Britain's lack of iﬁggrest( in the island.i Englénd was a

Bristol sbaman who. had been cast off at Malta by his French captors in

1783.  He had .no'md£a§ of returning home, and .in 1790, the Grahgméstér

encouraged him to apply for the  post of consul. 'VThé, new “Foreign -

Secretary, Lord Grenville, . reluctantly écceded to his requést, but only
after England had paid -a hefty fee for the unsalaried .post.[17] His
persistent réquest-for some sort of remunefafioh met with an angry'repiy.

: Thereafter, Grenville chose to ignore. him and during ‘the criticalxzperidd

-

when French agents were gathering the intelligence to facilitate the

French seizure of Malta, England did not receive replies to his despatches

= )

for as long as a year and a half.[18]

n : ‘ Coo
Although the tone of England’s correspondence indicates that he

was something of a nuisaﬁce who probablyq%eserved .no- better treat@ent, he

of manpower in the Royal Navy thah;a ggahine attempt to éstablish closef»

" R S S - S
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was, nevertheless, one of the first Englishmen to point out that Malta waé

A}

strategically important (the British gonsul af'Genoa having :preceded_bim
in this by two montﬁé);ilgl In Augﬁst 1794, .England‘Submitted é det;iled
memoréndum to the Féreign Secretary iﬁ which he claimed that™as fhe‘
Knigh;s were nobldngef‘capable of defending.fhe isiand,»Malta ’thld,aboﬁ.
have to place itself undér the: protection of one of :;he -maritiﬁa
pOWers.fZO]‘ Either Francé,or Russia miéht use it‘aé a StéppinngtOne to
 the partition of the Ottoman Empire; therefore, Britain must act to
forestall them. Her possession df Malté» would cause the least
intéfnational tension; both France and Russia would rather see her . in .
contrel than the other. This conjecture wduld .eventually be proved:: |
“correct, but not until 1805-6, and then only after loud pr‘.o‘tests from all
.qﬁarfers. In 1794 howeve},k England's prophetic memorandum Qent
uﬁanswered-< Theaprice for suqh'apathy would be two years of/;;rd fighting
before the walls of Valletta, and anofher;zfive yeérs ‘of' diplomatic
wranglinéhin the cﬁancelleries ofifu;ope.:
France;s atfitudeLtowards,the Mediterranean was the>antithesis of
Britain“s. Her trade; with the Levénf was important, and the use of
Malta s harbour and lazaretto were eésential“to it. At the beginning of

: : AN :
the eighteenth century, France had threatened to expropriate the Knights s

Ty

French properties if they did not end their annual raids.on thé‘TUrks.{le
By 1740, Oftoman ships were no longer molested, and French vescels

increasingly used Malta as a depot en route to the Levant.  French

¥

merchants were attracted by its many warehouses, and the incentive to‘use
N 5 Q\; 3

L ) »
these_had been increased in 1733, by the lowering of the duty on transfer

v

cargoes to one percent.[22] Malta was also a convenient place at which to

undergo quarantine.“‘In the two decades from 1760 to 1780, French ships



- source both of .umanpower and money.

1792

s

using the lazaretto amounted .to 40—65%( of the total, . gm,fiQUré

disregarding the _large mumber of French vessels that just touched

there. 23]

Therefore Malta, although . still professing its independence,’ had

become, by the middle of the century, a French sphere of influence, or as

Jacques Godechot put it, "unercolonie de-fait".[24) Indeéd,_Frenchmen'had:

always outnumberéd‘others Joining the Order, and in 1789, they made up two

thirds. of the Knights.[25]  Similarly, a large part of the Knights's

revenues came from France. Its treasurer, Bosredon de. Ransijat, who

betrayed his Grandmaster for Bonaparte,;egtimated tHat the French estates

brought in almost one-half of the receipts while . the rest were shared

among six other European states.[26) Thus, = the Order .of the Knights of

St. John was an integral part of the ancien -regime, and' Qhen the

revolution began, it found itself dangerously dependent on France as a

+

11

' The French Revolution shattered the Order as a politigal institution. The

*

Grandmaster, Emmanuel de. Rohan, himself a Frenchman, recogdized _that its

survival depended upon keeping aqut of France s internal affairs. However,

deciding where France s affairs ended and those of Malta began was not an
easy task. Unless the Order could demonstrate its usefulness to the

Assembly, it would be unable to justify the retention of its estates in

France. One Knight even went so far as té argue that the island was a.

"frontier * of France" that would . always provide. asylum to its

seafarers.[27] Such arguments were to no avail; in September and October

a series of laws suppressed the Order in France, and confiscated all

HERN
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" of its properties there.. Spain, Portugil, Naples and Piedmont were quick

“to follow suit by imposing -excessive taxes on its possessions in their

realms. Almost overnight, the Order lost most of .its income, ahdifoﬁnd

itself despérate for outside support. To find another patron as generous

as France would not be_easy; the Order’s special relationship with her ﬁadﬂ;'

o

been extremely beneficial é% France had not only >supplied fiﬁanéial aid,

but also guarznteed the territorial integrity of Malta. The Knights s ’

despondency is 1illustrated -.by their ‘unsuccessful atteﬁp}ﬂ,&m 1794 to

conclude .an alliance with the United States, by which they offered the use

of Malta's port, as well as protection against piracy, in eXChange for a

o
e . . . ———

grant of land in-America.[28] : B
A few mohthé‘later, the Order tried again, this time with Britain.
In February 1795, a little more .than a year after Hood's visit, it

submitted a draft treaty to London “that asked for British protection'in

S

return for the Royal Navy s use of the® harbour and its fight to recruité

Maltese séaﬁen.fzg] Such a treaty would have ended iMalta's neutral
status, and:de Rohan‘wasdrésking a great deal in pfopoéing it. Grenville
neither cared about this, nor was he‘interested ié' the treaty. Although
William Wiédham, one of his Cabinet colleagues, subporped it, and urged
him to meet wif% the Grandmasteris} enYéy, he refused.[30]) ~ Grenville
plaéed little ;aiﬁe on é maritime‘ strategy, and felt :that thé resourcés
peeded fo.protect ou%lying bases could better be used in defcating the
Frénch on the Continent. Furthermore,  de.Rohan's timing had becn bad.
- .
Britain was currently trying to extricate herself from the disakter of
Corsica, and did not wish to make the same mistake twice; ~

Acceptanée of the Orderfs offer might have led to tpe'postponement

of the decision to withdraw from the Mediterranezrn, thist "most desperate



of all measurés“; as Windham characterized "it.[31] ‘Once Britain had

.withdféwn,‘hqwever, the 7Order'ne§ded‘putsidelfhelp more than ever. This

help eventualiy came from Russia, the powerv most .distrusted.; The
treﬁidation the Order felt was aptly expfesséd by one Khight who wrote:

Russia is now in our diplomatic oriqﬁ;li and from . her comes the
~ ljght, faint it is true, and false, but seeing that it has 1lit up
~  'th® horizon, we must follow where it leads.[32] '

relationship with Malta since the

- -

Russia had maintained a tenuous

time of Peter the Great. Peter h3

: B N
" naval warfdre from the Knights; his successors : had viewed ~Malta .as'a

possible Russian base. For this - reasbn, relationg had _not always been

good.. In the symmeong 1770, a fleet sent by Catherine II had requested

the use of thé harbour and the Order s naval support in a campaign against
the Turks. The Grihﬁmaster pleaded neutrality, bdt many of the Knights

later regretted_tﬁat.they had-not played a part in the éussian victory off

Chesme. To have done so, however, would have alienated .the French, and

£ .

Y
v

few doubted,.at that time, théf Frénce was a more benevolent patron than
Russia might prove to " be. - Catherine’s ~goals were unquestionabl;'
acdﬁisitive. In 1775, her ambassador was expelled .from Malta for
* attempting to foment an uprising that would have broughx‘avRussian faction
to power . Thereafter, the~%sarin;- bore the Knights a\gFUAge. She tried

unsuccessfully t¢ purchase the King pf Naples's feudal‘ rights overb'the

island, and at the conclusion of the Third .Partition of Poland in 1795,

she stopped the Order & revenues from that‘country.f33] Its ambassador at:

St.Petersburg was - unable - to . obtain their restoration until after

‘Catherine’s death in 1796. s

[

Unlike his mother, Paul I esteemed .the Knights, and, more

important, his interest in Malta did nbt appear to be acquisitive. He was

]

‘been' interested . in learning about -

&



“,ybbéessed by ritual, a trait which translated itself into a psychological
affinity for the military and religious rites of the Order. Paul’s

contemporaries believed*,him"mad,, and cited his féSCination' with the
- Knighfs as proof. Howevér,‘two recent-studids by Hugh Ransda1p and Norman

~

Saul ,dispute this interpretation, arguing ‘that Paul’s policies 'wére—

*

singularly consistent despite the idiosyncratic way in . whigh they werc

often implemented.[34] AlthdUgh not proving him mad, his re}ationshlp

with the Order does suggest the key to understanding his personality. He .

wés terrified by the French Revolution and appalied‘ by the ideolupgy that
had produced it. Forﬁ him, tﬁe Order symbolizeh the ideal of thei ancten
regime, and heLieli‘evéd it to be a rdtural ally in  the
éounter—fe%olhti;n.f3éi Tge Khigbts‘weré by no meéns upited'in their
opposition to the Revolution, as 'he believed them to be, but ﬁost did
agree that fhére was no better patron than»dne whose(underlying‘goals,wggc
ideological rather‘thaﬁ territorial. |

| In January 1797, Paul committed himself to the annuai péyment of a
large sum of money to’the Order. The terms of fhe convention he offered
were much more '‘generous than had- been éxpected,.and his _patronage séequ
to provide.' an opportunitj for‘-regeneration. However, the French
iﬁtercepted a copy of the convention; indeea,.the Knights first learned of
it when it was published in Paris.  De Rohan, who immediately saw the

. . : v

danger from French resentment, was unable to do. anything to head it pff

because he was dying. In December, the -"tsar made things worse by

ceremoniously declaring himself "Protector of the Order". In itself. his

declarztion should not havée been seen as a ﬁrovocative act as both the

King of Naples and the German Emperor had .previouslyrclaimed gsuch statusg,

but coming on the heels of his finarcial succor, it proved too much-of an

Y
P
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opportunity for intervention for the égg%ch to ignore; ‘ : )
France had always been cyéical ‘about Malta’s neutrality; she
respected it only because this seemed the cheapest way of tpréventing

another power from . taking the island. By 1797, however, the Directory

Y
F)

o Bégén to haveé second thoughfs about continuing to observe it. -According

to Jonquiére,‘Mélta was éhe "key to the Levant",>and its loss wggid héve ‘
been a\:commercial'disaster;f36] The new Foreign Minister, Ialléyfand,,
claimed that Malta's central pdsit105  é;ve it the power to disrupt
navigation in .the whole ©f 'the Mediterranean, and he was ;fraid that .--
intrigyes were underway that would _deliver it.into the hands - of either
hussia or Austria. General.Napole;n‘Bonaparte was therefore instructed in
September to take the necessary steps to prevent this from‘happening.f37]

Although Bonaparte had already,-realized that Malta’s current weaknegs

)

demanded immediate action, his attitude.was more positive than that of the

Directory. Three months before, he had written:

The isrand of Malta is a major interest for us. The Grand Master is
dying, and. it looks as though his’ successor will be a German. It
would take 500,000 or 600,000 francs to have a Spaniard .madg.Grand
Master ... Valetta [sic] has 37,000 inhabitants who are qggy well
disposed towards the French; there are no longer any English in the
Mediterranean; why shouldn’t our fleet or the Spanish, beforc going
into the Atlantic, sail to Valetta and occupy-it? There are only
500 knights and the regiment of .the Order is only 800 strong. If we
‘don’t, Malta will fall into the power of the King of Naples. .This
island is worth any price to us ...[38] - o .

) . . :
Bonaparte, who dreamed .of establishing a chain of island bases in the

Mediterranean that wouid make Fréhce its master,vwith Malta the first and
the strongest, saw the 7Ordér's weakness less as a threat than as an
opportunity. Paul s recent interest in Malta had d&sturbed -him less than
he led .the Directory to believe. Russia’s fleet had -not entered the
Meditérranéénlﬁor nearly thirty years, and had the tsar been serioﬁs about

o~

gaining a foothold there,he would have been'more secretive about it. -

<
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- If/Bpnaparte concluded ' that Ru;sia posed ». no 1ﬁmediate threat to
Fragce in the Medite;fane;n; Austria‘ was another matter. DeSpife tﬁe
signature in April 1797 of a preliminary tfeaty‘ of peace with her, l.itfle
‘progress~had been made towards-a general settlement.. Indeed,'Austria had
used the»h;?tﬁs to seize Ragusa on éhe Adfiatic coast. Theb,Directory
régarded this -as. the first step toward .the devélopmeﬁt of a strong
Austrian navy. .The dy;ggtic ties‘that existed befwecn JAuétria and Naples
' =

were equally worrisome since the King of Naple§> claimed titular

suz;r%inity over Malta. Legal%y, the Knights held the island as qkfief of
*Naples, but the king s influénce had begn‘ limited to granting ﬁoble
titles; and appointingu biShOpS., ‘Now that the Order was cbllapsing,
Naples, ehéourag;d byméqst}ia,- might seek> to strgﬁgthen hé; hoid, and
ominous éigns éeemed to sqggest that fhis.prOQess had alfeady begﬁn. In
July, dé,Rdhan was succeeded by Ferdinahd von'Hompeéch, the Only\German
ever to hgld the post- Although he had lived most of his life at Malta,
Hompesch maintained close conta;t with his fatherland éﬁd had acted as the
Austfian ambassador to the Ordéf for twent&—five years.[39] His election
convinced tge French of the need to capture Malt;, whith they now saw as
serving the dual rolé of compensating them for the Ausfﬁian seiigre of
Ragusa while at the same time checking ,Austria'éi fgrther maritime
expansion. | ,

The. fighting on the Contihent ;enaed with theiTreaty of~aCaméo
Formio in October 1797. Only Britain still rem?inéd at, war, and sﬂé had
previously evacuated the Mediterfa;éan. Therefore, Bonaparte could afford
to be¢ generous with Austria’ by giviﬂg her a. share of the Ven:tian
Republip. Shelgot éhe city,‘thle France got the-Venctian havy and‘ the

Ionian Islands. Bonaparte valued the latter enormously since they gave

I
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A

him control of the mouth of the Adriatic.[40] “What he found most alluring

about them, however, was  their proximity to the Ottoman Empire. His

imaginatioﬁ was fired with dreams pf territpries'that would replace those

lost to Britain. The IonLan'Islands,would serveias the stépping-stones to

his future conquests, with Malta as the essential link between them and

Toulon. - .

Although Bonapamte seemed .to shift his priorities during the
, T . . S L
autum} of 1797, and plan” for the invasion of England, his ambition to

“seize Malta was not forgotten. 1In December he sent an agent there who -

happencd to be related to the captain of the port, and was able to gather

a wealth of information about the Order s sorry state. There were only
300-400 Knights on the island most of whom,

being Frenchmen, disliked th?

new Grandmastgr, »and scarcely more than 2,000 other troops capable of

defending the place. Malta’s treasury was almost empty, and the magﬁii:y

of the inhabitants were ‘disaffected.[41] The—island’s seizure appeared to

be an easy task, far easier than the ptopo invasioq? of England, which

—

was eventually rejected .as too risky. Bonaparte had hoped .that Admiral
: . R . .0 )

< |

Brueys at Corfu would make: short work of capturing Malta, but neither

B

Brueys nor the Minister of Marine were enthusiastic about the project.

'Brueys eventually/ébt out of it by pleading tha%‘fhe Venetian ships-hé was:

ST ) s ] :
expected to use were unseaworthy.{42] - ;/( ~ s ~
. 4 ) - s )

Wheén the plan to capture Malta was revived .in the spring of 1798,

e

it became part of a bolder design to establish French control over Egypt. .

"It is doubtful .Whether Bonaparte intended -the expedition to Egypt to be
the first step towards an invasion of India. Not only were the logistical

problems enormous, but also the capture of Malta en route, in wasting

precious time, would have been a serious tactical error. As the winds in
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the Red $ea alternated with the seasons, he would have arrived too lite ta
catch the monsocn he needed.[43] It appears more likely that Bonaparte

believed Egypt to be intrinsically valuable as a'célony, and as avconstant

threat to Britain, hecessipating the dispersal of her uscé}cevmilitarj and
naval resources. . In blanning fhe expédition, Bonaparte had‘cdnéluded that
the capture of Malta‘was es:entiai to the viability of the ncw‘cdlony. It
was the necessary .link between Toﬁlon and Alexandria, and ﬁe could not
riskAﬁéssing by it.

At the beginning of May 1798, the news that Bonaparte ~was
. assembling an armada at Toulon caused the British to send'é naval  force

under Nelson back into the Mediterranean. Nelson tried .to monitor the..
movements of the French, but was blown off station, permitfing - them to

sail away unhindered. On 9 .June, Bonaparte arrived off Malta. After one

day‘of skirmishing in which no more than three Frenchmen were killed, and,"

another of  desultory - negotiatidns, ~the Knights surrendered. - Much
speculation has been given to the sdbject of why they Vcabitulated 50
k)

£ ;
quickly. A letter exists, dated five days before the French arrival, that

warns of an imminen%.invasion, but it may be a later forgery intended to
discredit Hombesch-?dd] Had de:RthEdgjill been alive, the impfegnabilig;
of Malta's fortifications might have becn tested. Hompesch seems to ha?e
suécumbeq to what he took to be a Hopeless situation. He had only a few

troops at his disposal; and given'his doubts about the loyalty- of -the

French Knights and the Maltese militia, could not rely on them. Moreover,
"

he made.a sericus tactical error in' trying to defend the whole island
rather than just the fortified urban strongholds as Generil Vaubois would
later do against the English:

Perhaps most important, the poensions offeresd to the ¥nights 'by



Bonaoarte made,heroism on their part seem foolish.: Their caoitulation was
almost unconditional “and ithey were'ignominlously expelled w1th1n a few

‘ days. The fall of Malta on {é June was'a psychological rather than a

military victory. When Bonaparte learned that a British fleet was nearby -

he was so worried about his exposed .situation that he was prepared to.

offer a bargain thétjwould‘have giveo the French the fortifipations and
the harbour, but left the Order in control of the rest of the islano.[ASJ
ﬁuch a compromise-‘proved -unnecessary beoauSe the Knights no lohger had
the wiil to resist. Indeed,,'the Frenc‘hl putting it down to a iackr-of
moral fortitude, werezsomewhat indignant that the Knights had not put up

more of a fight.[46] -

Had the Knights dome so, the outcome might have been very

different.' Delaying the French by a fortnight would ,have-resulted in the
arrival of the British fleet, rend the battle of the Nile might have been
fo@ght off Grand Haroour. Unlike Nelson'sneubsequent victory that merely
.re—affirmed the stalemate between land power and .sea power, sooh a battle.

would have been decisive: Bonaparte would have been ~stranded . before

formidable fortifications, without provisions, in an island with few
N :

natural resourges. Nelson never understood .this -because he never'

-

understood the strategic importance of Malta. He mistAkenly assumed that

the French had gohe there to use it as a spring-board for an irivasion of

Sicily. Indeed, he dreaded a naval ehgagement there because he thought

that the enemy would .have the advantage.(47] Nelson was unable to
entisage how vulnerable Bonaparte would 4have been had . the Knights
resisted. His indifference to Malta, however, merely mirrored _the myopia
of his COUntrymen. Bonaparte had _not been so ea81ly decelved-- .He wrote

triumphantly to the Directory: "We now have in the centre of the
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l‘flediterr'anean' %the 'strqgrgest fortress in Europe, and it will :cc{st‘,ahfaﬁg R
dear to dislodge us.'[48] - o R
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Whoever for a moment casts an eye on the map of Europe must be
satisfied that the possession of the island .of Malta from its.
situation, harbour and impregnable fortifications, requiring owly a
small garrison, must be of the highest 1mportance to England.

“ - Sir Mark Wood [1]

The éasy seizure of Malta had .contributed to Francefs. confidence in her .,

ultimate victory, but by the end of 1798, shg had .lost control of the

‘Mediterranean, and on the Continent, -she was being confronted by a

powerful new coalition. During the War of the Second Coalition, Malta was

to aséume unp‘ecedented _importance. /The issue of who éhould control it

~was a principal cause both of the formation of the coalition, and of its

collapse. Although Britain was no longer able to ignore the 1sland, she

wanted nothing more, initially, than to remové the French from it.

- Captain Alexander Ball did .not agree -that 1t was 1mportant only in this

negative sense. He strove to convince his goyernment_ though with minimal

efféct, that it was intrinsically important and should not be given away

lightly.‘ Nevertheless, Britain did see fit to announce that she would

keep it temporarily, and at the cost of a breach with her main Continental
ally, Russia.
I

The Maltese had been generally pleased to see the Order cxbelléd, and when

'Bdnaparte sailed for Egypt on 18 June31798, there was even some enthusiéSm

for the new rulers. The terms of the capitulation had guaranteéd the

property rights and customary privileges of the inhabitants, and there had

Hen
)

o

been a promise that no extraordinary taxes would .be levied. More
. e

important, the Maltese ' were assured .of the freedom of practicing their |

Catholic religion.(2} These guarantees were soon violated, and on 2



September, a forced sale of church property brought about a revolt that:

- 8 . .
compelled the small French garrison to seek refuge behind the walls of

Valletta. PBritain’s ambassador at the Sicilian court, William .Hamiltén,‘
claimed that the revolt had ;been‘caused by the news, at theAbeginning of
August, of Nelson’s destruction of* Bonaparte’s fleet in Aboukir Bay.[3]

There,is no 'doubt that the rebels were encouragedﬂ.by it; however, tHe

&

grievances agéinst the French had become so widespread that a revoit would,

o
. T =~ )

L2

probably have occurred .in any event. It is more ‘likely that Nelson's

»

victory dissuaded the French from taking a more vigorous® approach to
suppressing the insurgents. General Vauboisfs speedy.retreat to the
 well-stocked capital was made in anticipation of a British blockade. The

French military commander thereby husbanded .his resources, and saved

himself the responsibility of having to feed Malta’s large population.
Nelson heard of the revolt on 13 September, and immediately sent a
small Pdrtuguese squadron to blockade. the island.. He was ,primarily

interested in capturing the French frigatéé that.had .sought refuge in its

harbour after elluding him at Aboukir Bay. His éhoiée of the Portuguese
showed that Malta had a.low priority. FThe Maltese ' expected little from

.

Britain and threw themselves on the mercy of Ferdinand IV, King of the Two

Sicilies, whom they now proclaimed . their sa;ereign, albeit
unenthusiastically. At the end ofA-kpe month, a group of their deputies,
crossing to Sicily: met with Nelson, and requested arms' and ammunition.{4)
This event signalled the start of Britain's involvement with Malta. 'Aé

~ that time,.however, Nelson saw little value in possessing the island, and

was quite willing to see 1t revert to Naples. In his opinion, expresséd i

in a. letter to Lord Spencér, the First Lord of the Admiralty, Malta‘s only

~

value was negative. He wrote:



The possession of Malta'by England would be a useless and enormens
~expense .-. I attach no value to it for us, but it 1is a place of

such consequence to-the French that any expense ought to be incurred\'”

to drive them ocut of it.[5)

Alfred Mahan,A.Nelson's biographer, was taken aback by the latler s,

reluctance to put more value on Malta.[8] Nelson would never do so, and,
throughout his life, he developed an antipathy towards fne'inland that

bordered on the irrational. o K&\‘\W

At the end of QOctober, Nelson chose Captain Alexander Ball to take

]

charge of the blockade. of “the island.[7} Ball had been one of his more

audacious commanders at the Battle of the Nile, and Nelson thought hipghly

of him despite the fact that Ball’s family background and ostentatious

manner were in sharp contrast to the more plebe{an roots of his cuperior.
When they had first met, years befoce, Nelson hed considered him ar"great
~ coxcomb", but had changed his mind inAJune 1798 when Ball had resolutely
towed Nelson s dlsmasted .ship to safety.(8] Thereafter, Nelson praised
him as, "eminently consPicUous:er his conciliatory mannene as for his
judgement and gallantry”.[Qj These were traits that- were - noticeably

~

lacking in Nelson, and the contrast in temperament betwcen the two would

;,become more pronounced .as a result of their differing attitudes towards

Malta. UnlikefNelson_ Ball had .no doubts about the intr;nsic impqrténce
of the island. His lettels are full of its advantiges, and he believed
that it would make the best base for Britain in the Mediterrancon. In a

r
letter to Hamilton, he asserted  that Malta's -ctrong fortifications

precluded the nzed for a large garrison, and argued that the cost of
‘maintaining the necessary garrison could éasily be made :up from local
revenues, after a few years of efficient administration. He alco felt

that the Maltese wcre much /hardier and more trustwcrthy as  ucldiers than

either the Minorcans or Corsicans.(10]

[
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~ Ball reélized, however, that none 'ofv these advantéges appiied'-

until hé had forced the French to surrender. His direction of the

blockade.and -siege was skillful, but he was hampered .by ~ the lack of
regular troops and proper siege artilleri, and at ;he point, had to

3 . , ’ ,
off-load his ship’s cannon for land use.[11] Moreoverl&i shortage of food

caused great hardship-ampng the Maltese. The island s ‘granéries were all
within the fortifications, ‘and corn had _to be imported .from Sicily.

.

Neither the Sicilian government nor Nelson provided much "in the way of

money or supplies. In January 1799, it seemed as if the besieged ~ were.

eating better than the besiegers.[12] Because Nelson's 6pinion— of Malta
i( .

was the only.-.one accepted ;by the Admiralty, Ball had to make do with

whatever half-hearted\supporf he could cajole. The island’ s reduction was
unnecgssarily prolonged by this short-sightedness! Meanwhile, the lack of
food and supplies was causing the Maltese to squabble>yamong theméelves,
‘and Ball saw the ﬁeed for someone to act as their FChiéf”: He got Nelson
.to.convince Ferdinand F°' appoint him goverqpr.of the island, and at the
end of February 1795, was taken off active service in the navy in orderrfo
- become the vicéroy of a foreign king. Despite this formality, Britain's
flaé flew alongside. thét of Naples, and -in this anomalous manner, she
first established a foothold on the island.[13] :

In London, the govgrnhent waé cdncerqea with more important

matters« With Bonaparte sfranded'_in Egypt, Grenville saw 2an opportunity

to rebuild the coalition against France. This was not an easy task, as

the collapse of “the First Coalition in 1796 had .shown that victory .

sometimes led to unaécebtable territorial gains by present allies who had

Seen past rivals. Nevertheless,‘jGrenville worked diligently, in the

gutumé and winter of 1798-9, to re-establish the coalition; the



g
disposition of Mdlta was one of the tools he used.. He gut no importance’

“on it however, except as a pawn to be used ih exchange for some.other

advénta%é, Grenville had percéived that Malta might serve as the bait to.

lure Naples an&\\possibly Russia into the,coalition:>though he could notu

see how “such an acquisition would be advantageous to either of.‘those
50vereign§".[14] ’ | @ |

Bonaparte. had mockingly written‘th;t Paul should 5; thankful to
France becausge the OCCUpatioh_§f Malfa saved his %reasury AO0,000 roubles
annually that would no longer have to be paid tgathejorder. Thus, Frdnce
" had understood the interests of Russia better than the tsar himself.[15)
Paulvdid not agree; having assumed the patronage oé the Knights, he fclt
personally insulted by France s occupation of Malta. This iﬁsult,
combined with the frencb threat to the Otéoman Empire from.tﬁeir bases in
the Ionian Islands, caused him to reverse his former ﬁoiicyﬂof'neﬁtrdlity.
He ac;used Hompesch of being a traitor for not resitting more vigorouély,
and allowed himself .to' be | convinced by the Knights *residing ~at
St.Petersburg that the offiée of Grandmaster was vacant. - In a Ahigbly%
dubious‘election, fhe Orthodox ruler of -Russia was “made head of * the
éatholic Order of Malta. Protestant England’s reaction to this event was
pragmatic. Grenville bg}ieved it expedient fo}humour the tsar, and
instructed that Paul s neQrdigihity be recogniied.' Chapfes Whitworth, the
British émbassador at St.Petérsburg complied,. though privately he believed
tgét the tsar had foolishly neglectedrﬁussia'§ interests for '"the barren
rock of Malta".[16] Even so, -hée suggested .to Paul. that Britain would
subsidize the Order s re-eétablishment in Malta.‘ Although Whitworth was

sever:zly reprimanded by his government for this unsanctidr.ed 1liberty, the

die had alreadv been cast; Britain’s main objective was to persuade Russia



to join the coalition, and Malta was a small price to pay fofathis.[17]
 Britain and Russia signed a convention in December 1798. , Malta
was not' explicitly mentioned, but all parties acknowledged -that its

disposition .was the basis of the accord.f18]‘ In a letter to his

ambassador in London Paul eXplalned that Malt% would .be temporarlly.

garrisoned by a trlpartlte force with Naples being the third . power.

Furthermore, it was understoocd ,thaf eventually the island would be

‘restored to the Order.[19] In conveying this news to the Admira%ﬁ&,

Crenville stresced the importance of demonstrating Britain’s good faith to
-her allies, even if this meant giving ug.territoﬁial gains made.in -the

Mediterranean.[20] A month after this initial convention, Russia Jjoined

the coalition in return for a large British subsidy. Austria still.

distrusted Russia, but France s expan%iop beyond her limites naturelles

wag a more immediate danger, and she, along with Naples; Joined the Second

+

Coalition in the spring of 1799.
The December convention was not popular in Malta. 'The inhabitants
disliked both the Order and Russia with an equal.intensity and Nables only

a little less so. Ball claimed that the . Maltese regarded British rule as

more desirable than any ‘other.‘ Both he and Nelson distrusted ¢ the
. -

Russians, and doubted .whether the Neapolitans would have the resolve to

keep the French out. Ball asserted that he would not allow Russian forceé A

to land because he could not Euarantee their safety at the hands of the

3

inﬁébitants.[21] He was also worried that the Maltese might  go over to

. \ Y -
the French, if either Russia or the Order were forced .upon them; to-

NelSbn, he wrote: "They would _have remained very contented under the .

French had their religion and laws been respected,.and they treated with

kindness . and humanity."[22] - Spencer scolded .his subordinates for
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attempting to flout goverhment policy, but he too was not enthusiastic

about Russia gaining coqtrol'of Malta.[23) Thereafter, Ball and Nelson.
had no choice but to obéy. While Nelson's letters were full of sarcasm

about doing so, Ball was beginning to- welcome the thought of Russian

troops as a necessary solution to the deteriorating military situation in
which he  found himself. Nevertheless, all of Russia’'s forces in the

.

Mediterranean were entangled 'in the Ionian Islands, and she made no
serious attempt to send any to Malta. - - : .
< IT°

Nelson's victory at Aboukir Bay gave the Royal Navy complete control over

the Mediterranéan. In the pafriotic upsurge that followed, it was. easy to-

miss the point that this victéry was defensive. Both Nelson and ‘the

BriEi§h goyernment overestimated its significance, and in so doing, they
underestimated the new geo—politlcal reality that demanded British cdnérol
of the eastern as well as the western basin of théuMéditerranean. Britaiq
found }tldifficult_ thereafter, to play her customary roie of fighting én

the Continent as a subordinate because the French in Egypt now posed a

perpetual challenge to her position in India.[24] They had to be removed,

RN

but this was impossible to accomplish at the beginning of the War of .the.

Second’ Coalition because Britain lacked .the land forces necessary to
follow ‘up her méri%ime,victog;.125] As a result, her naval strategy in
the Méditérraneaﬁ during thié war was often confused and contradictory.

7 In 1795 Minorca'was‘ the only base céﬁsidered by the Royal Navy.
It was eas&i;)taken in November w1€gout the loss of a, single man, but the

ease with which it could .be captured was its princ1pa1 shortcoming. Its

capture had been 'an instinctual reaction. The Sea Lords argued that it

made.an ideal base from which to blockade Toulon, and blockading was,

)
)

ﬁ '4‘
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another instinctual strategy.(26] Indeed,. Nelson had .rejected Malta

primarily because.its diétance fﬁ%m Toulon made.it unsuitable for this

purpose. As a strategy, blockading had severe limitations. It was"

extremely wasteful of naval reesources, and if the enemy chose to remain in

L

port, it would fever lead to a deé%;iggw victory. The "close" blockade of

Brest was justified by that port’s proximity to England and .Ireland, but
S » . - . & o ) ik - .
Toulon did not pose. such an immediate threat.[27] Moreover, no blockade

of Toulon had ever prevented the French from 1leaving it for long. They

had merely to watch from the high ground above the city for the British to
be blown off-station by the appropriate winds. Mahan, the enthusiast of
seapower, recognized that the- Mediterranean s long indented coastline with

its numerous peninsulas limited . a seapower s effectiveness. By

controlling the internal passagéways formed by ’these peninsulas, a land

power needed only to make short hops across narrow stretches of water in- - -

[

order to secure its vital communications.[28] This was what Bonaparte had -

‘iﬁ mind when he had seized such strafegically important points as Malta,

¢

the Ionian Islands and the heel of Italy.

The Admiralty was reluctant to ask whether Britain needed to

blockade. Toulon closely. It was influenced .by the memory that "close

blockade! had been associated with victory 1in fhe Seven Years War while
"distant blockade' had contributed to defeat in 1783. However, this was a
faulty analoéy in reference to the Mediterranean. Had .Malta been used as
a base, it would have beeh sufficient to monitor the French at Toulon with
a few fast cruiéers because its cehtral position ensured .that the fleet
couid catch up with the French wherever their destination - might be. 1In

this way, Malta could be used to cover 'not only the eastern and western

basins of the Mediterranean, but also the Tyrrhenian and Adriatic seas as
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wellt This new strategy was‘ advocated by Ball wha wés one of thel féw
naval officers‘tOf’recoghize‘that Britainfs.priorities had - changed és” a
fesult‘of Bonaparte s Egyptian expedition. For him, Minorca had becomé
obsolete because ''Gibraltar aga Malta place the enemy, as it weré_rbet:éon
two fires from their eastern and western situations".{29) - Malta was also
useful as a convenient place .at which to keep a diSposablgm_force that
could .be quickly despatched 5to wherever it might bé needed. The
Admiralty, howe&er_ refused to consider such an innovative appreach until
after Nelson's death in 1805.

" Malta was one of thg ﬁost difficult places in Europe to bIOCkgde.
A squadron attempting this was faced with some very special problems, as

Ball was to discover to his discomfort. Its small size and numerous

harbours made. it necessary to station ships in each of the four quarters

~of the compass, and it was atmost impossible not to have some of these

blown off-station at any one ‘time.ISO] The sea around .Malta became

extremely rough during the winter, and the French were sometimes able to.

take advantage of the lull between storms to &8lip supplie&E into Valletta. -

Ball was criticized for allowing this to happen, but th¢ forces allotted
to him were too:- few to prevent it.. Maintainihg the‘bléckadé Qnder such
conditions was costly in men and ‘ships: however, the very difficulty of
the operation could be inferpreted as an advantage sinée only the Royal
Navy had the resources and expertise necessary for such a gruelling task.

Once Malta was in British hands, the French would never attempt it.

Over-confidence after Nelson s Nile victory caused .Britain to :

disperse her forces foolishly in 6 the Mediterrancan. The Commander-.

in-Chief, Lord St.Vincent, was ordered fo accompligh an imposgible number

of taskt. He was to protect the Italian and Adriatic coéstu}while at the

hY
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same time lending SUppoft to the land forces of Austria and Naples; he was
to co-operate with the Russo~Tprkish squadron that had rjust'been sent

thfough‘the Stréi#s, ana insure that all communication between France and
Alexandria was severed.. Only lastly, was he expected .to bring‘ the
biockéde.and siege of Malta to élcohclusion.[31].' The rédﬁction of theM 
island w;s the;;;ore unnedessarily'prolOngedftbecéuse ofkthe Admiralty's

unwillingness to concentrate its available forces. Such a strategy showed

" that Malta’s value h;E\Thr% yet been grasped.. Britain was safe in

-

]

dispersing her forces oni& if the remainihg French fleet could 'be kept

&)

confined at Brest; however, in the spring of 1799, Admiral Bruix was aBle

S

to break the: hblockade, and . sail his fleet <un¢heck%d -into  the -

A\

Mediterraneag. - AdmiTal Keith, who had _just .repléced -St.Vincent as

Commander—in-Chief, had 5; choice,but to order the concentration oflthe
.various British squadrons, so aé to prevent their being pickgd ‘off -
piecemeal by the French.[32] On 18 June, Ball was commanded .to 1ift the
blockade.of Malta, -and réjoin.Nelson off Sicily. Insfead‘_of rushing to

r

protéct Minorca with his enlarged squadron, as‘he had _been'qpmmandedlto
do, Nelson uselessly held his ships in reserve~where,he was. He th¢feby
disobeyed a’direct.ordef,  but luckily for»him the French did not attack
Minorca, and he got off with a reprimandqinstead .of haying' his career -
ruined.{33] Neve;theless_ Ball's bléckade, had .been ruined.;and, for'
nothing; between May and June, the Frénch were able to re-supply Valietta.
At the beginning of July, Bruix returned irresélutgly to Brest, and Ball
was sent back to Malta.[34] His tactic of starving the French into

submission had to begin all over again. Clearly, Britain s naval strategy

in the Mediterranean h~d been myopic and unsuccessful.
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The blockade. and siege of Malta cqntipued -in a desultory fashionrfor A;'

almost two years. During this time, Bri:ain's attitude towards = the

x

island .underwent a transformation.  Her former complacency = about ,’b

Neapolitan or Russian control over it changed to a firmer - stand that saw

its temporary retention as necessary to the succeseful conclusion of the o

. war. This change came abquf as a result of the stfuggle betweon the
Foreign Secrefary, Lord G@Grenville, and the Secretary of HS£ate for Wa; and

the Colonies,. Hénry Dundas. Together with William Pitt, the Prime

Minister, these three mem formed -an "inner Cabinet". As the war drageed

on, Pitt’s mental and physical state began to decline. Increasingly

.

_ unable to make up his mihd,i he was inf;pencedh:in.turn by- each of these

ministers with the result that -Britain’s war  policy . .often Becmed

vacillating and-ineffectual-{35) Pitt’s procrast%pation eventually led to
the downfall of his administration, but not before - Dundas had brought

about a transformation of Brif;in's policy in the Mediterraneamw in “which

~ Malta was to play a pivotal role. ’
In October 1799, Britain' was faced .with the defrat of a joint
Anglo-Russian expeditionary force to Holland. Both: Grenville and Dundag

-had been equally responsible for this fiasco, but each had learncd a

different lesson from it. Grenville wanted to continue supporting the

coalitién despite ité impending breakdown, but Dundas =cupported the

alternative policy of reverting to maritime warfare. The goal of sBuch a
A\

strategyowas to increase Britéin's wealth through‘ thie cxpansion of

commerce. The captured colonies also 'had the potential of being used as -

. . . . :
bargaining counters at future peace negotiations. . In surrendering
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European hegemony 7tb France‘ Dundas riskedA_ permanently alienating
Britain's allies, a prospect that was totally unacceptable to Grenville.
Because he opposed Dundas’s mar1t1me strategy, fhe Foreign Secretary put
iittle value on‘tne achisitionrof Malta. - He wrote to Dundae: "I.am-clear
we have no interest in keeping it, nor ' any other concern about it than to
keep it out of French hands".[36] | |
Dundas “s attitude<towards-Malta had been influencea by a political

advisor named Mark Wood. . Wood had .been a successful East India Company

2 -

official in Bengal who had formed -strong views -~ about the island on a
return trip to England via Egypt in 1779. He had -been favourably

impressed by the shortness of this route compared .to that around the Cape

-_—

of Good .Hope, and felt it necessary, in 1796,‘ when the proposal to

. withdraw from the Mediterranean was being discussed,.to warn both the

Prime Minister and Dundas to take eteps to ‘secure this backdoor to India.
He believed that’Britainlneededl?some tenable port". in the Med{tenranean,
and suggested .Malta. In British .hands, it woulo -gerve as a barrier
preventing France from taking Egypt. A f}eet based there would .have
command of the shipping between the Levant and Europe; the coasts of

Italy, Spain and France would be subject to the constant vigilance of its

patrols. Malta would .no longer have to depend .upon Sicily for food °

because it would be free to develop its trade.with North Africa. and the

A

" . .
Levant; it also had the potential of becoming a depot for naval ’storqb
brought from the Black Sea.[37} Dundas sympathized with Wood s views, but

believed the latter was overly optimistic about the ease with which

- Britain couid acquire Malta. Moreover, he had already. been convinced, by

2

the Admlralty that it lay too far east to serve as a base. wogdfs'eecondr .

¢

letter to Dundas dated.. two months vefore Bonaparte 8 'eastern expedition,

a
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was even more urgent. In it, he predicted the invasion of Egypt,‘and'”'

_claimed that this made. Malta's eastward position ‘even more desirable.

Once the French got Egypt, Britain could expect to spend far more fo
defend India, he argued,.than it would have cost to.f
he described as "an impregnable post which could beﬁaéfvnééﬁ' against all

)
!

the world at a small expense either of ' blood or of treasufe".rﬁéj»; This

time Dundas took the warning seriously, and at the end of April 1798, he

supported the sending of a naval force back into the Mediterrancan:

however, it was already too late to stop -the French.(39] During the next '

two years, Dundas would of ten regret he had not acted Eooner, but Buch

—
B -

regret served orily to strengthen his resolve to challenge Grenville on

T

this vifarlj important issue.

The confrontation between the two now began in earnest. Grenvillé>
wrote to Dundas urging him to be expeditious about removing British forces

from Malta because the Russians were becoming anxious.- It must be handed

N

over to them -as soon as possible, and - the Royal Navy would-haVe to be

content with Minorca as itsAMediterranean base.[40]. Dundas. was beginning

to have secona‘thoughts about the reliability of Russia as an nlly, and he .

recommended that thke treaty with her.beﬁ scrapped. She should not be

’

allowed,.he wrote: . . A -

to seize upon the whole Watch Towers of the Levant and the Adriatick
[sic). Malta stands the foremost in that description and if we were
to make our choice between the two, there cannot be a doubt that a
preference is due to Malta over Minorca ... With Gibrazltar at one
end, .and Malta at the other, Jjoined to our Naval Superiority, ...
these two Fortresses without any - other would at all times kcep the
Mediterranean and Levant in perfect order.([41] o

His words.came close to paraphrasing the advice he had received from Wood.
Grenville was not convinced, and he urged Dundas to reconsider before any

damage had .been done to Britain's relationship with Russia.[42]  The

vébquifé MaIta;’whiGh~r



latter remained adamant, and the most he would ccncede?waé' a restoratién o

of Malta to the Order if Russia agreed-to allow Britain to use its naval "

-~ -

facilities.[43] : R
Dundas was beginning to be as worried about Russia’s influerice in’

the Néar,East Vas he was.about the Frepch.in ‘Egypt§ Various haval< and
miiitafy CommanderS' had advised _him Yagai%st-t?usfing her, énd ‘despite o
their resérva;ions about Maltafsr strategic value{~§hey were iﬁ agreemént'»
that Russia shqpld not be. égven the island.. Keith was inqensed that
Russia had sent neither ships nor men to aid in’the‘blockade,and siége of‘
Ma}ta, and he felt that she*had_-thereby,;forfeifed any~ right to it.[44]
The Bri;ish amggésadpf at Constantinople had sent a private wafning to the

~ Admiralty that -the Pérte was alarmed at the prospect of Russia confrolling
Malta. The Turks‘felt that Russié had airéady-taken’unwarfanted lib;rtigs
in the ioqgan Isiands, and wanted v'itain.to retain Malta as aﬁ assurance
that Russia would not encroach further upon;théir territory.[(45] General
Charles>Stuart, Dundasisréhpoihtee to the command of -Britainfgﬁdispééablaa
tforces in the Medifetraﬁean_ asserted that he would refuse to allow the
Russians to land at Malta. Because of this blatant insubordinétion,
Dundas'w;s forced to accept Stuart’s resignation,.but ‘he let Greh?ille« '
know that he agreed‘wifh the General s views on not aliowing the Russians

g .

into Malta.[46]

Sir Ralph Abercromby, ‘Stuart’s succeséor. wasu not ab;e to reach .
the Mediterranean” in time to help fhe Austrians who were decisively
defeatad‘in Juné¢ at Margngo. This battle ‘had a major effect on Brifish
pélicy which now shifted away frqm a Continental 'strategy,'bagk to the‘
more_limited maritime  warfare Dundas Eréferred.fd?] érenvi}le clung ‘to

the fantasy that the coalition could be ‘revived,.and tried to aid the



Austrians by bribing7them,with a subsidy to prevent them from signing.a
| ’ . . | o
separate treaty. Since Russia had .broken with Austria several monthe

before, such efforts were now futile. In July, Talleyrénd made'hié)?irst

M

%

pfisoners of war, and to cede.Malta to  him. The Russian chancellor urged

Paul; to acpepf_’ bu£<ﬁﬁé‘fsar realized that Bonaparte’s offer was holld; '
since Malta waé  on the/ point of sdrrendering to\:the British.r48]
'Bonaparfe‘s secret negotiations with Paul convinqed -Dundas thét é Break
with Russia was now necessary. In August, he persuaded the Cabiﬁet, over
Grenville s objections, to reverse Britain’s ﬁolicy. Russian troops  wera
noQ to be diécouraged from landing at Malta. If they did so, they were to

~ be kept apart, not given any role in the reduction of éhe cify, and,
afterwardw.ﬁére not to be allowed to garrison any of the fortrésses.
Dundas ;ustifiéﬁ his position by claiming that Russi® had denied Britain
thequse of Corfu’s naval facilities, and would do.the same in Malta if she ,;,
gained contfol of it.[49] |

In August, Bonaparte offered .to makerpeace§‘ %he prerequésit;%g?

s

his initiative was_a naval and .land armistice. This was a thinly

‘disguised .ruse intended to consolidate his position on the Continent
while preventing the British from bringing the siege of Malta to a

successful conclusion. A general negotiation would have prevented Austria

~

from signing a separate treaty, something Grenville wished to avoid.
. . - ~7
gowever, Dundas convinced the Cabinet against acceptingsthis bait since he

= a¥elieved that Austria was now a spent force. Moreover, France had no
4 =
- * . . . .
intention of giving up the Netherlands, Britain s most important aim in a
, p: .

gencral settlement. Bonaparte was stalling for timé, and a naval

armistice would allow him to resupply his forces 1in Malta and in Egypt.

U



Britain could not rely'on being able to starvé-the Frengh intorsubmission
in Egypt, a country that would revert back to the Ottomaﬁ Empire as part
of any pa&ce settiement. Therefore, Malta waéfthe more crifical'of the
two. Not only were “fhe:Fgench'forces there 'onbthe poiht ofr{étarQaticn,
but also the Knights had beerr discredited,_ané France feared that Britain
would not give Malta back to them once shéq'hadigained ,éonfrol'ofw&;;{
Eventually, it was Bonaparte who broke off the %alks at the end of
Septembér when héylearned thétthisfgafrison at Malta had é&frendered., The
“ abruptness with which he ended these discussions, jus% when théf were
sﬁowing progress, provedk.fgét his pr?ncipal aim was the relief Qf his
forces there; when this could not be accomplished,. he no longer saw any

" point ipﬁnegotiating.lSOJ
) v

The French %n Maltausurrendéred on 5 September 1800, two .years after thé
siege had begun. It had;taken fa} too long because of the lack of regular
troops and préper Aartillery. British rofficers had high praise for the
Maltese volunteers, but they- were no substitute for traiAed professionélé.
In June, Abercrombylhad sent  a force qf'l,SOO British regulars, but they
too had been insufficient to accomplish the task. The French eventually
succumbed -to starvation, provihg‘the worth of Maffé;s fortifications.
: Despite'Bail's conspicuousr efforts duriné:the siege, thé credit; for its-
success went to the British afmy. He was excluded fromrthe capitulations
because his mandate had comé{”qlbeit at the requeét of his own goVernhent.
from the king of Naples.  Afterward, he was made. Civil Cémmissioner, but
this post was subordinate to the ‘authority of the island’s military
cdﬁmander,'and Ball felt that he was being trgated with less dignity than

a '"Town-Major".[51] Abercromby was of two minds. about him. He
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acknowledged the latter s efforts, and requested .that he be recdmpensed

for them, but also felt that Ball s position was now incompatible Qith the

© military authori%ies.[52]‘ Abercromby = was not a disinterested. party,

however,bsince he regarded Malta as a ripe oppgrtunity for patronage, and
feared that Ball’'s diSappr9val and his popularity with the Maltese might
prove disruptive to this end.[53] | |

B Britain s ambassador at Naiales, ithur Paget, was not informed of

Dundas’s reversal of policy; Abercromby¥s implementation of it at the

conclusion of the siege put 4Paget in an extremely embarrassing position.

Unlike Russia, Naples had contributed .men and money, only to be excluded

3

from the capitulations. G@Grenville attembted to mollify Naples by pleading

" that the_reversal of policy had been Russia’s fault. He claimed that the

subject had been of such "great delicacy" that he could not risk divulgiﬁg
it until after the surrender. Naples was better off with  Britain in
control of Malta, he said,. than either Russia or France, because Britain

was her only true friend.. Even so, Paget was to assure the Neapolitan

court that Britain’s occupation of Malta wasmonly temporary, and did not

N

"pre judice the question of the future disposition to be made of the Island

at the conclusion of a general peace".[54] -

»

Paul reacted as angrily to Britain’s decision to keep Malta s he

'fﬁgbhad to the original French invasion. Russia’s relations with Britain had

4

been deteriorating throughout the summer, gul nating in Auguét with the
recall of the Russian ambassador. In the same month, Bonaparte had
attembted to reconcile his differences with tke tsar, and Brifain‘had geen
thiévas an indication of Russian treachery. Paul was beginning to feel
the same about his allies. During the cgmpaign, Austria ‘Bad used ‘every

opportunity to aggrandize herself in Italy at Russia s expense until the
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tsar had finally broken with her. Britain’s decision to «keep Malta, in

e

violation of a solemn conventién_ appeared .to be folloﬁing “the same

course.[55) On 7 November, Paul placed an“embargo on all British ships in

Russian harbours until Malta was restored to the Order, and .in December,

‘

he ahnounced_ the formation of a league Qf Baltic  powers that would

‘maintain an "Armed Neutrality” agaihst Britain. Grenville claimed  that

his government had not been given sufficient time to consider Russia’s

request before hosti?% action had been taken. This may have been true,
but his assertion, to the Russian Chancellér, that the 1798 convention was

merely a proposal and therefore not binding, was a grose distortion of the

original agreement.{56]

K

By the end of the yeab,’ the Second Coalition .no longer exiéted.t

This came about not only as a result of the defection of Russia but also

becauseJAustria's only ~remaining army was - destroyed at Hohenlinden on 3

N { rd
December. GY¥enville believed .that Britain’s retention of Malta was the

main cause of -the coalition s collapse; howevgr, its viability had been
shaky from the start. It was doomed .by the breakdown of co-operation

between Austria and Russia, and by Russia’s distrust .of Britains

willihgness to commit her forces to a Continental campaign. It was also .

impossible-t& ignore Bonaparte's military victories as a cause. These
~» v i e
features would have remained to destroy the ‘coalition even had .Britain

A

sought‘to placate the tsar by giving him Malta.
As the coalition crumbled, Dundas’s views gained ascendancy. Even
bé?gie he learned of Valletta's surrender, he was attempting to get the

Cabinet to sanction a militaryAexpedition to remove the French from Egypt;

on X October, it agreed to do so. The fall-of Malta was regarded as

- something of a bonus since the island could be used as a place to rest and

-

48
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re-organize the troops :before they continued on to Egypt. winAHam, who
like Grenville had opposed Dundas’s plan,‘\agreed that the possessién.éf
Malta made.the expedition less hazardous, but he also argued that Britain
might now‘safely postpone the expedition until it could be mounted on a
larger scale\because naval forces based at Malta were certair to intercept
any relief being sent to the French in Egyptfj§7]

" Dundas was of two minds about Mailta. To the king, who was upset
about the proposed éxpedition, he argu§d~tﬁat its possession made all the
difference because it minimized the risks involvéd.ISB] To the ministe; h
in charge of transpérts, he was not so optimistic. Dundas had Jdespatched
'thévexpedition.hasfily and without properly éupplying it. He feared that
the troops landing at Malta, ''by increasing the numbers of-vmouths will
rather add.to their'difficulties".fSQ} As a result, they mightrbe‘QGlayed
while'waiting for supplies to'arrive. A‘com$on complaint about théAisland
;as th;t‘it depended upon the importation of a major part of its food
supply. Ball believed .that this point had ‘been overemphasized. He
admitted that Sicily’ s proximity ma@e it a convenient place from which to-
import corn and o0il, but once the’Oréer had been removeds Malta was no
longer,atl its mercy for these supplies. They could now be obtained
anywhere in the Mediterranean, including thg Muélim pripcipalitées, and at
a cheaper price.[60] This altered situation made it difficult fof an
enemy to cut off éll fhe island s sourcés of supply, especially if that
- enemy did ot have a predominant navy. :The _recent siege had shown that
Malta s underground granaries Vwere capacious enough for it to hold out

¢

until it could be relieved, if it were ruled .by a power with naval
. & X
superiority.

The expeaition's officers were favourably impresced by Malta.
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‘Their attitude.was epitomized by Sir John Moore; a subaltern who was later

to gain fame in Spain. He considgred it a "most remarkable place", and

 spent his time there inspecting the fortificatiogg which, he claimbd, were
. : : » Vo :

—_—

still the strongest in Europe, though in need of repair. He also attested

to'the usefulness df.Maltd' as a place where fresh produce and meat could

a

be obtained. Its harbour ~had .adequate facilities for cleaning and
repairiné'shiﬁg,'and there was-no‘ﬁapt of lodgings on shore while these
tasks were being.cafried aout.[61] Aberqrdmby' who had>,béen named the
expedition's commander,rwas similarly ’impgessed by“Malta. AHe praised it
highly in a letter to Dundas ig which he asserted:.

As a miiiféry station it may be proéounced to be tge most complete

in-his Majesty's possession, andythe harbour, which is capacious and
perfectly safe, is perhaps the best port in the Mediterranean.[62)

Abercromby had .wanted -to /sail éirectly from Malta té JEgypt.
However, the government had insis%eq .on a priér stopover at Marmorice in
" Asia Minor to make Jjoint plans Qith the/Ottémans' from whom the Britiéh
were to receive hérses and supplies. He‘felt' this stopovérr would have -
been unntfessary had the‘government sent him off properly equipped. He

was as disappointed with his stay at Marmorice as he had been delighted

with his sojourn _at Malta. The supplies, horses and reinforc¢ements

S

promised by the Turks never materidlized, and the only real use it served

‘ . é :
was to give his troops an opportunity to practice amphibiocus Landiggs.IGBJ

Both Moore, and Captain Ben Hallowell, one of the few naval—officers with
any experience 1in the eastern Medgterrahéan, agreed with him that the
expedition should have sailed directly from Malta.[64)

Abqrcrdmby’s gqod opinion ‘of the island had . been ’largeiy
influenced by a report written by Ball. _ This report que. a detailéd

comparison betwecn Minorca and Malta, énd',concluded _that Malta's

o

~
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fortifications and harbour were superior. The harbour’s entrances were
impregnabie to an attack from the sea, and its dockyard,.though Small,iﬁas

compléfe. Furthermore, there was an adequate supply of fresh water, a

resource that was scarce during the sgmmer in Minorca. The report also

contained a section outlining the potentiailcommercialr advantages of

keeping Malta. Ball felt that it could become a great entfepat sellingf

.English manufactured goods-in exchange for Mediterranean and Leyantine

products. A copy of Bal;is report‘§$d find its way into the archives of
. :
the Colonial Office, but at that time, his ideas had little effect on the
L} o ’ )

government.[65] - !

Britain had achieved _her aim of removing the French from Malta,

~but ‘her gértinued occupation of the island was considered temporary. The

collapse of the SecondVCoalition had demonstrated how sensitive the allies
could be over such issues, and Britain knew that it.was not possible fb ’
defeat France without a renewed coalition. Thus, Ball's entreatiepvweré
seen és potentiaﬁjy embarrassing.to this wider policy aim. Over the next

few years, Britain would begin to re-appraise the importance of Malta, but

,not‘before she had first promised to give it up as part of a peace

settlement. ' .
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CHAPTER THREE =
Malta and the Peace of Amiens 1801-1803
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And all‘this for Malta! Malta! Plain bare naked Malta, unconnected
with any other interest. What a point of honour can the retention
of Malta be to you? Something of that nature may be felt by France

" but to you I aver, it is as a point of honour nothing.

i ‘ _ - Charles James Fox [1] \J’/q‘\\\
Britain’s fortunes in the war reached their lowest ebb in the winter of
1501; The Fecond Coalition had collapsed, .and once again she faced France’
alone. At home, the people were feeling the pinch of the govefnment's
austerity measures, and sqciai unrestﬁtpreatened to become& revolution. A
peace settlement had become - a political and econehic Qecess;ty, and in the
. ensuing negotiatione, the question of Malta was to play a2 central role. A
.new administration in England agreed to restore it to the Order but only
under a eet of‘ rigorous conditions that sought to safeguard its
neutrality. The treaty proved to be unworkable because the govefnment_
quickly realized that the provisioné designed .to keep the French out of
Malta would not do so. - In the summer of 1802, Britaia began to regafd her
occupationgef the island as a form of compensation for France s continued
aggression on the Continent. By October, she had decided .to keep 1it,’
despite the possible consequengfs. Negotiations Were to continue  for
another six months, and a numbef'of compromises concerning Malta were put
forward; however, Britain knew/that most of them would be unacceptable to
France. Her® tactic was a}med',chiefiy at co%vincing Russia that her
objectives were reasonable. By so doing, she'was successful in preventing
a Franco-Russian entente, though the tsar remained diSpleased with her fers -
keeping Malta.

I

In the wecks that followed -Britain’s decision to send an expedition to_
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° Egypt, the squabbles between Grenville and Dundas took their toll. The
administration became more divided than ever, and the Prime Minister s
_ physical and mental condition rapidly deteriorated.. In March 1801, Henry

Addington, fhe Speaker of the House 6f Comm:ns, wéS“invited fo form a new
government. He was Pitt’s own choice as a successor, but neither
Grenville nor Dundas could stomach sgfving under an inaividual who had
been Openly;characterizéd as "a piece of~Pitt‘si posterior which had stuck
to the T#easury bengh”.[2]i Conditions couid not have becn worse for any
administration, and even more so for one that was gencrally regarded as

Y

weak-and incompetent. There Hgd' been six baa harvests 1in succession
</<,/——\\‘ compounded by the stoppage of the Balt%c)grain tradé. Taxes, prices and
war casualties were constantly rising. The ;ontinuénce of an ideological
vwar’agéinst revolutioa under these conditions now threatencd to provoke at
home the very thing it was trying to confain abroad.. Scarcely é week
afte£ coming to power'Addington made. his firét peace overture, but at that
time, the French had no incentive té‘negotiate because the international
situation in which Britain found herelf was asfFritical as her domestic
malaise.v Austria hgd just_signéd a separatg)treaty at Lunéville}’ Naples
h;d declared her neutrality: Portugal was threaténed with an attack"from
Spain; and Prussia was on the point of overrunning Hanover. Worst of ali;
Russla was COnsidering ancgc%rland\invasion of India.[3]

Britain had been effectively is01atea, and her defeat seemed
imminent when Paul was assassinated in a praetorian codp on 23 March. His
successor, Alexander I,'did not feel the same personal pique at Britain’s
occupation of Malta.  Simon Vorontso; was cent back to London  as

ambassador, and the plan to invade India was dropped. John Holland Rose,

and more recently Ian Christie have contended that Paul ‘s murder, followed



by Nelson's victory at Copenhagen resulted in the destruction of the

‘'Second Armed Neutrality.[4] This conclusion is a misreading of Russia's 

reaction to these;eveﬁfs. The first'did result in a shift in policy that
waé beneficial to"Britéin, but the second almost  negated the benefit.
Nelson's bullying only servéd to impiant'in the »tsar a basic suspicion
that lingered long after the event. Indeed,.Alexander did .nof lift the

embargo untilfafter Britain had .signed a convention, much to Vorontsov s

astonishment, recognizing the rights of neutral shipping on the Baltic.[5]

The dire situation in which Britain found herself had .left her little

choice, a point conveniently overlooked by Rose and Christie who are more’

concerned with stfessing Addington’s spinelessness.

Alexander was interested in Malta only in so far as he wanted to

see Britain give it back to the Knights, about whom he had mixed feelings.

Me genuinely esteemed their Qéiueé_ but was uneééy about their presence at
his court. They were something of an embarrassment because the&vréminded
people of Paul, and of the pbssible involvement df‘ Alexander in his
murder.[6] Four 'days‘ aftef .his fathef's deatn, Aléxander issued é
pfoclamation asserting that he.wouldliremain the Order‘s protector,‘ bqt
refusing to be  ijts head.. Russian aristocrats continued Ato‘accgpt high
.positions in it, and one of the tsar’s officers was éppointed to serve as
‘its vicar until such time as a general <chapter could be convened to elect

.a new Grandmaster.[7]) Lord .St.Helens, Britain's ambassador at St.

Petersburg, believed that the expense of maintaining the Knights at his

court was the main reason for the tsar's attempt to diséntangle himself
from their affairs. He reported that the best way for the tsar to get rid
of them honéurably was to re-establish them at Malta.[8) 1In April,

Vorontsov was sent a list of Alexander s foreign policy objectives which
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reaffirmed that he .wanted —neither the Magistracy of the Ordef nor

possession of the isiand, but also stressed that he -did .not wiéh Britain -
L 3 . .o .

to keep it eithgr.{gl \Like his father, he regarded Jthe‘ continued
occupation with suspicion, and ,Britain's'wiliingness to evacuate as thg
tigk qf”herltrustworthiness. =

After nearly a decade. of war, France was also reaching er
breaking point. Bonaﬁarte knew that he needed time to 1é£ theacountr&
rest in order ‘to consoli@afe his power. After.Paul’s assassinatioh, he
could no‘longér count on the friendship of Russia,‘and therefore, he would
have to negotiate a Rtruce with Britain. Louis Ottd;b Franéeié
quasi—represéntative in Britain, was authorized in May 1801 to discuss
great secreéy throughout the summer. Britain offered to hahd back her
recently captured territories to their former rulers, mogt impoitant of
which were the Cape\qf Good Hope and Malta, in ei;hange‘for a French roll
back on the Continent thai included .the evacuatidn of Holland.[10] The
sticking point was Malta.#Initially, both sides agreed .that it should.bé
returned to the Order, but éiitain wa;ted some guérahtee’that 1£ would not
again fall so easily to the French. Bonaparte proposed that the
fortifications be razed, thereby rendering it militarily useless.
St.Vincent, the First Lord ‘of the Admiralty, objected to the proposal

because he believed that the enemy could . quickly re-erect the

fortifications, given the ease with which Malta stone could be wdrked.lll]

- + -

Britain therefore suggested .that a third power be named as the Order.s

guarantor. Otto was told . to resist _fhis demand, "but if it should be -

insisted upon, Naples wae to be designated because-of her vulnerability to

French coercion.[12) Addington felt that only Russia was strong enough to

K]

o
g
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terms for a preliminary agreement. The ensuing talks were = conducted in
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act as guarantor, and he wanted her to be explicitly named in the tfeaty.

Otto argued that there was no real need .to name her since the Order had

its. headquarters at St.Petersburg, and alfeadyl reéarded'fhe,tsar as its
protector. ' Thus, waitingk for a formal confirmation from him would only
delay the settlément needlessly.[13] French tactics throughout the

negotiations were charzcterized by many such-verbal assurances that were

Yater denied or evaded. .

The main concession fthaf,France was williné to make was the
evacuhtion o} Egypt- Britain had heard -no news of the fate of her
expeditionary force, and Bonaparte learned ef its victory befone she dié;‘
Rather than lose his:- trump card, he issued -an ultimatum on 17 September

that Britain agree to the preliminary terms as they stood within ten days,

or the negotiations would be broken off.[14] Addington decided .that it

was best to acguiesce - In an ambiguous agreement, leaving the hard

bargaining over the exact wording until latér. He ‘therefore congented to
Malta s guarantors remaining unnamed -until a definitive settlement had
been reached.. Britain also agreed to give up the Cape'efAGood Hope and a
number of other captured terrifories_ but kept Ceylon and Trinidad.’

The Preliminaries of Peace were signed -in London on 1 October
1801. The negofiations had been pervaded by an optimistic 'mood,tvand
Addington felt the French were beginning to act more reasonably: Their?>
control of Holland had always been a Britieh nightmare, but in the recent
Treaty of Lunéville in February, they had agreed to its independence.

Furthermore, tne Hague Convention, -signed in August, had .stipulated that

—

French troops‘ were to be evacuated from at the conclusion ef a

definitive settiement.

The only person 1n whom Addingtorn had confided was Pitt. However,

3
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- he consulted the former Prime Minister only after Hé had the terms in

hand. The two .met for an all night session in late September, and-

concurred that the terms as they sfood were not dishOncurablé, and that
economib'conditions made peace imperative.[15] Pitt was pgobably relioeved
that the responsbility was.ﬂKddington‘é, not his. Shortlyr after the
meeting, he wrote to several people, includinvarenville, to elicit.their
suppbrt for the government. Although he said that-.he deeply'rogretted the
loss of the Cape, he did not mention Ma;%a. For him a colony with no
commercial value was /Végless, and now thg% the French had been removed
from if,‘there was no reason to keep itéfle]'iﬁf‘

Addington's feeling about/thé value of Malta remains unclear. Oir
Mark Wocd reported that he had discussed - this topic with him when the

" latter was still Speaker, and claimed that Addington had agfeed"with hiim

on Malta’s importance.[17] St.Vincent had also advised him not give it

up-[18) It appears the Prime Minister wanted peace 8o much that he

allowed himself to be convinced .that Britain’s strategic pégsition in the
Mediterranean was sufficiently safeguarded by keeping Malta out of French
hands, which he believed .-had .been achieved .in Article IV of ‘the
Preliminaries. The latter read as follows:
The island of Malta and its dependencies shall be evacu:ted by the
troops of His Britahnic Majesty, and restored to the Order of
St.John of " Jerusalemji For the purpose of rendering this Island
completely independe of either of the two contracting powers, it
shall be placed undér the guarantee and protection of a  third
Power, to be@ agreed upon in a definitive treaty.(19]
Addington presented the Preliminaries as a fait accompli. There

was general rejoicing among the population, but the ncw parliamentary

opposition led by Grenville was incensed. When the ncws of the French

surrender in Egypt arrived on the following dav, Grenvilie charged that

the government had. conceded toc much for a ben:fit tha#* had slready bewun
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won. He also claimed that he had revised .his earlier. opinion about the

importanee of Malta. Windham had -been instrumental in brigzing tzi?

Vienna, all of whom had urged .him to resist giving it up.[20] Shortly

after he learned of the treaty's provisions, he wrote to Dundas looking .

fon‘support.[2l] The latter replied .that he too had been shocked by the

a

treaty:.

By giving up the Cape; we have given up one of the essential points
of security to India; and we have done even worse by giving up
Malta, for we have abandoned the proud pre-eminence we had obtained
in the Mediterranean. If we had stationed .ten thousand .of our
troops in Malta, and preserved .it as an exclusive naval station,
such a force Joined to our naval superiority would have given a real
guarantee to the states of the Mediterranean and Levant.[22]

Unlike Grenville, Dundas said that he would not air his views publicly
because of his personal regard for Pitt, who was supporting the tfeaty.

Even so, he was so disgusted that he planned to rétire from parliament for

a time.

,At the beginning Vof November, . a motion of confidence‘ in: the
government was debated in both Houses of Parliament. Dundas, true to his
word, did not attend; Windham led the attack for the Grenvillites in the
Commons. He charged fhat the loss of Malta was the worst-of the treaty's
provisions. Handing the island back to the Order was tantamount to eeding
it to Bonaparte, since the Knights were almost wholly dependant upon
revenues that eame from states now doménafed by him. By‘giving it up;
Britain would again abandon the Mediterranean as she had done in 1796, and

such a-course ot action would have a devastating effect on her allies in

the region. The possession of Malta might not be able to check a French

‘invasion of Egypt in a literal sense, but symbolically it demonstrated

Britain s determination not to allow this to happen.[23}

about, as were \Qngzéarl of Carysqut in Berlin, and William Wickham irr..
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The'government led the defence of the ﬁreaty with taﬁ addresé by

* the Fofeig; Secretary, bkord qukesbury.u His speech contrasted :sharply.
with Windham s emotional rhetoric.”‘He. claimed that the‘peace Wéuld give

Britain avrespite of seven to teg years, allowing the country to b;c0me‘
more fully prepared for war thanrit was at present.(24)* The old Whig
opposition, led by Charles James Fox, had always decried the war, and now
that peace was at hand they could hafdly not subport it: Né;ertheioén,
Fox\had resefvations about.the Malta provisidn because hé believed that
Malta and Minofca wefe infin;tély' more 1important than ’Trinidad a&d-
Ceylon.[25] Pitt’s defcnce of the government in parliament made public
the break with his former colleagues. His céégénté emphasized the
economic aspects of the agreehent, and he ciaimed that Malta could safely
be given up pecause trade.with the Mediterranean states was a secondary

consideration compared to tﬁat with the Indies.[26) ' ‘. .

> N
7

) In the Lords, _Grenville«vbiced\.the most impassioned opposition.
He declared .that Malta, 'was a most important militéry station" T&bich
could never be safeguarded adequately by a third power.[27] -Windham had ~
been consistently saying this. since 1796, buf the sincerify of Grenvilie's
volte-face must be doubfed. He still believed . in a Continental, _as
opposed to a maritime strategy, apd in such a strategy, pawng -1ike Malta
would always be expendable. Nelson made. a rare appearince in the Lords to
defend the government s position by .arguing that Malta was of 1little
positive st:atégic importance. Once 1t was out "of French .haﬁds, and
protected by a tﬁird power, he asserted, "it became immaterial to us".[28]
He no; publicly claimed that it was unsuitable as a b.se from which ﬁo

blockade Toulon. In this, he was stating his honest opinic:; however, in

regard to the treaty itself, alnumber of private letiers t.o Lady Hamilton
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_sﬁow that hg waé disguéted .bofh with ‘it.and with ‘Addington.‘_ﬁe was
supporting the gOVefnment mainly to obtain preferment for himself and his
brothér;[29] Lords Mulgrave and St.Vincent also supported-the government.
The former demoﬁstrated his 1ignorance of theb topography of Malta and
Minorca, while the 1attér wasr suspiciously silent on  the importancé of
either.[30]) Theée speeches show that Britain's ‘leaders were still. hazy

about Malta’s value, and they argued for or against keeping it as a matterb

of political expedience. In fhe Lords;, the Grenville faction received

- -

only th votes of ten . out .of éﬁe 114 peers assembled,. while in th
CommonsEhWindham did nof.even bother to call for a division. Thié wags a
great victofy for the -government. Addington s popularity had  never been
as high, nor would it be agaiﬁ.

| II
On 3 Novembér, the same day the Preliminarieé were being, debated,’
Britain’s plenipotentiary, Lord Cornwallis, wasiéetting of f for Frénce to
negotiate a definitive settlement. He had a long and distinguished career
as a éoldier and administrator which had .included . a term as
Governor-General of India, and "more recently as lord _Lieutenant of
Ireland. Unfortunately, he knéw little about diplomacy, and has been
accused, .most recently by Mackesy, \of mishandling the negotiations.[31)
Such a view is inaccurate since the treaty he was able to secure
repreéented a §trengthening of Br;tain's posifion vis-a-vis ‘the vague:
provisions of the Preliminaries on almost every poiht, and its detailed

article on Malta can be seen as a particularlf good.,example of this

contention.

<

Cornwallis’s strength lay in recognizing his own limitations, and

in delegating }esponsibility to those who did possest the needed

——
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‘expertise. In these talks, he was assigned .a career diplomat named
. . [e3

Anthony Merry to act as his aide. “Mérry had nothing but contempt for him, )

but Cornwallis esteemed .Merry,. and encouraged .himﬁ to construct the
rigorous provisions that would safeguard .Britain’'s interests. Even so

Addingtdn kept a close personal.watch on the prdbeedings, and allowed his

— . . . 1
negotiators little room for personal initiative. Merry wrote: "We are

plainly told that-nothing whatever extraneous to the -Preliminaries can be

‘gdmit@§d.?[32] In his instructions, Cornwallis was informed that

Britajn’s main concession would -be the substitution of N8apolitan for

5V ) \

Russian troops in the proposed .garrison of Malta. This change was to be

' presenﬂ%é as a great concession that would entail an equally large quid

pro guo from France. In reality, Britain had 1little choice. Shortly

after Cornwallis had set out, Vorontsov informed Hawkesbury that the tsar

would not agree to send troops to Malta; but would ,cdnsider»guarahtéeing

.an arrangement whereby a force from Naples would .be used.{33]

Cornwallis’s instructions also statedfthat Sritain would not give up Malta
unless substantial changes were made. to the constitution of the Order.
These changes, which included the admission of Maltesg for the first time
and prohibited British and French subjects from membership, were intended
to prevent either of the signatories from gaining & predominant inflﬁénce
over the Kﬁights.l34]

Cornwallis arrived in Paris on 7 November, and managed to arrunge
a private interview with Bonaparte on the 28th.‘ Both ﬁen agrecd that
Malfakwas the main queétion that needed to be settled.. The First Consul
objected to having Russia guarantee its independence. He claimed that

) -

keeping Russia .out of the Mediterranean was a matter of mutual

self-interest,” and Britain, possescing the superior navy, would benecfit



.
most from it. He also argued that Malta woﬁld -remain the object of
rivalry until the fortfficatiPns “had . been destfoyed,k bﬁt Cornwallis.
repliéd that dismantling them wouid leave the island. prey-to attaéks from
.;he Barbary corsairs. He left the meeting overlylsatisfied that Bonapartev
had fhought him a hard bargainer.[3g]
3 - -

The offictal talks which began in December were held <at Amiens,
and Bongparte's eldér'brother, Joseph, acted as thg main Frenchxspokesman.
Cornwallis was conf{d;ht that a treéty would -soon be ratifiedji " He

believed that the difficult bargaining had already been completed at the

Preliminaries: and that 1t would be a simple matter to incorpoggte the

5

4 . > [
various verbal understandings into a final written' agreement. 'As the

talks dfagged on, hoWever, he becamebincreasingly pessimistictr He dgﬁbted
whether a Ne%politap garrison would ;be able to defend Malta effectively,
and in~ a private letter to Addington, he warned that it ‘might be
impossiblé to eliminate French influence among the Knights. Talleyrand
had been pressing Joseph té get a Bfitish commitment  to destroy the

1

fortifications, and Cornwallis begén to wonderfwhetﬁer this might not be a
bad idea.[36) . The Prime Minister was adamant, however, that the
fortifications not be demolished.. He claimed that such a course of action
Qould be rejgcted by Russia, and .might be forcibly resisted .by thé,
Maltese. Furthermore, even if the demolition were accomplished, the
Knights would probably refuse to take over a defenceless jsland.[37]

What the British did not knbw was that Bonaparte s priorities wefe
chéngin;, and Maltarwas no \longef»as important to himy as it formerly had
beén. On 12 December, Joseph was authorized to make concessions

concerning it as ldng as these brought about a British evacuation, and did

not result in a Russian  presence.[38] Peace, however short, had now

‘. . ‘ V N . A 766 o o
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'become'imperative; Firstly, Bonaparte, . havihg sent off a large flotilla
torSt.Domingo to quell a slave revolt, was keenly aware that the bulk “of

his navy was at risk if a definitiveé settlement wefe not signed. He also

needed time to bring about the domestic reforms he had planned, and to

consolidate his European comquests by turning them into French satellites.

Under these circumstances, he believed it best to acquiesce in Britain’s

demands. concerning Malta.[39]" However 3oseph was otill expected to make

\Vr>the English struggle for every concesbion

By the end of 1801, Cornwallis had become disilluaioned with the
sincerity of the French. Not only were they denying. all of the wverbal
understandings made during the Preliminaries, they were also rejecting,

daily, that which had been agreed .upon the day before.[40] Merry could

) 3 i S
not decide.whether he was more upset with them or with Cornwallis, whom he

believed fit for nothing more than "a nap after dinner'.[41] In a private

&

;iiter to Francis Jackson, Britain s minister in Paris, he wrote:

I cannot describe to you how shuffling, evasive and contradictory
Bonaparte s language and .conduct have been throughout the two .
conferences, and still less the excess of cunning and chicane which
he has employed on the one hand to establish a system of delay in
the negotiations, and on the other to throw the odium of it upon us

[Cornwallis) has known little of what was going. on till the
battle was over, amd If at any time he did interfer<, [he] rather
comtradicted through ignorance of the subject than assisted toward
my defence.[42)

Séme allowance must be made for Merry s dislike of Cornwallis, 6ince the
former was privately a Grenvillite and had oébosed making peace from the
beginning.' Cornwallis a;so found:the negotiations onercus, but unlike his
aide, he thought them necessary, and had- felt thi; way even befdre
Addington had céosen him to be Britain s chief negotiator.[43] In this,
he had a more realistic sense of the limits of Britain s power than did

Merry. He was an extremely moral man, and his responsibility for the



68
possible failure of the talks, leading to a resumption of waf; wéighed

[

ﬁeayily,on him. . s

Although the aim of the Frenchistpaéegy ;as to wear down the
Eng}ish, it only served to make thém—mofe intransigent. On 31 December,
Cornwallis included in his deSpafch to Hawkesbury a project outlining in
thirteen points the conditions under which Britfin would _evacuate Malta.
fhese had been largely drafted .by Merry, and were based .on a compiiation
of the guidelines. found .in ‘the Foreign Secretaryfs despatches to
Cornwallis. Herein were contained -the loopholes that Britain would
ultimately use to Justify her retention of Malta. After the project had
been sanctioned by hié government, Cornwallis did nmot deviate from its
stipulations. Although the definitive t;?aty would not be signed for -
‘another'three months, and countless gfojecgg énd counter-pro jects would be
submitted and rejected,. the ﬁfench would .eventually agree to all of the
stipulafions contained in this original prétocol.[dal

ThgnFrench continued to dissemble throughout January, and “at the
beginniné of February, they rejected _the previously agreéd idea of a
Neapolitan gar;iéon, arguing that the Order must be able to stand on its
own. If it needed a foreign force to defend its territory, fais proved .
that it could not.[45%] ~ Such a révgrsal was .more‘than the British could
accept. In a confidential despatch- to Cornwallié_ on 12 February,
Hawkesbury stated that the negotiations wogld be broken off if the Ffench
attémpted ;to alter Article IV of tﬁe' Preliminaries. According  to
Hawkesbury, two iscues were yet to be settled:. the conditions under which
the Order would be reconstituteg,‘and the power that would be named as

Malta s guarantor.' If the French opposed a garrison supplied by Naples;

another power must provide. one. Without some outside. force to defend



Malta, Britain would no£ relinquish>her control:fdel

One month later, a draftnvtreaty was sent to 'Corﬁwallis.r It
includeé a new provision thét preQénted HdmpeSCh, now France‘s-pensioﬁer;
from resuming the Magistracy of the Order.” The French were to accept this
treaty within eight days,' or- Cornwallis would .be recalled.I47I. The

ultimatug/was backed .up by extensive naval breparations in all of the

ports of England. Cornwailis_‘alarmed by his government’s stridency, was

loath to present the ultimatum. Fortunately, his fears were groundless.
Bonaparte Qas worried .about losing his St.DomingQ squadron, aﬁd when he
. realized that the talke might ope broken off, Joseph was éqld‘té yiela to
the British demands.[48) 'This was another about-turn for the First
Consul , since only three days before,'he insisted that he had no fear 6f_a
resumétion of hostilities.[{49] After a few last minute compromises over
wording, the Treaty-of Amiens was finally signed on 27 March 1802.

Article X dealt with Malta. It was considerably more detailed
than-its  counterpart in the Preliminaries, and,.as has been mentioned

above, it closely paralleled a . British project of the previous December.

Even its wording was substantially the same. In every respect, the final

article was a strengthening of Britain's position in relation to the more
9 .

[Ny

ambiguous article found in the Preliminaries. Article X specified that
Malté_was to be retufhgg .to the Ordér, but only uﬁder a set of strimgent
conditions. Henceforth: and-in perpetuity, the island would be‘neutral;
Its harbour and lazaretto would -be épen to the commercial vessels of all
nations, excep§ those of the Barﬁary' s;ates. Both French and English

subjects were prohibited from becoming members of the Order, and the

Maltese were to have their own subgroup, or langue, within it. Unlike the

‘other Enights, they would not have to show any specia} proof of nobi}i&&, \\/>
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and thereafter one half of Malta s garrison was to be ~composed, of levies

drawn from the local inhabitants. Britain agreed to evacuate the island

within three months of»signing the treaty, provided . that é representative

of the;Order's executive and a‘Neapolitan force of two thousand men had

1
arrived there. Instead of a single guarantor, a concert of six powers,

consieting of Great Britain, France, Austria, Russia; Prussia and Spain,
"were invited to guarantee the settlement.[50]

Given her avowed aims in the Preliminaries, Article X must be seen

as- a British success, and this was generally so with the other pfbVisions

as well. Where the treaty could be criticized was in the areas upon which
1

: : »
she had received only verbal assurances from the French. The treaty s

///;;;; defect was the lack of a provision- that would have renewed or made’

her a party to . previous treaties of peace.. This was especially true in
fegard to thé“Treaty of Lunéville. Addington expected Bonaparte to honour
its provisions, and evacuate his troops from Hollandﬂ’ He connected this

action with the evacuation of Malta, but Bonaparte could correctly reply

that nothing had been mentioned about Holland in the Treaty of Amiens, .

and Brita;h had not been a party to the Treaty of Lunéville.fSl] However
posterity has censured Addington too harshly. He had little choice but to

hope the French would .respect their other treaties. The treasury, was

>

almost bankrupt, and a vociferous public opinion was clamouring for peace

on almost'any'terms. In such extreme circumstances, he probably obtained

il

the best -terms he could have.[52] In the months that followed the

‘conclusion of the treaty, many people came to agree with Sheridan who 

wrote: "It is a peace which all men are glad .of, but no man is proud

of ."[53]



III

There was less popular enthusiasm in.Britain for the Definitive Treétf
than there had been for the Preliminaries. On 27 April, ’lhe.King of
Spain, who‘had been é party to it, confiscated the prOperty of‘the Order s
three ;gpgygg in his dogain. 15 parliament, the G?envillites‘claiméd that
Bonaparte had .instigated these ‘confiscationéx as o meang- of ,fﬁrthef
weakéning(the Knights, and put forward a mo%ion, on 13 May, condemniﬁg'thel
governmeﬁt for having signe@ the treaty. Windham claimed thaﬂ boLh LHQ
Order and .Naples were now so much under the influence of France ‘that
Malta’'s neutrality was a éhgm. He set forth the syllogism: "If Malta is .
in -the hands of Naples:“and Naples is in the hands‘of France; then Malta
is also in the hands of France.'[54] Greﬁville, whose specch rar alohg
simila;blihes, claimed that the provisions concerning Malta were absurd..
The six power guarantee was worthless since no real consensuy could ever:
be worked .out | among _SUCh rivals. Méreover,_ the Order was now’
impoverished,.and local revenues were insufficient to pay for Malta’s
defence.[55] At the -end of the dgpgte, however, the gévernment still had’
the backing of a large majority in both houses, and the motiun of
condemnation was soundly defeated.

The government s éése in defeating the opposition con@faéted
sharply: with the difficulty it experienced in getting Rus<ia to
co—operate. Even beforp the treaty had becvn signed, Alexander was muking
his objec%ions to the rumoured .provisions about Malta. He wished td B
the Knights restored to the island in an héhourable fashion, and at  Lhe
least possible expense té his treasury. St.Helené had be:n informed, at

S

the beginnirz of 1802, that the Knights had objected o tiv ind‘zcriminate.
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admission of Maltese natives to their Order. They would be willing to

compromise by qonsidering for membership Maltese able to provide. the

B

proofs of nobil;fy prescribed by the Order’s statutes.[56] This was an

empty cqncession} since it would bar the entrance of all but a few of the

"irland’s inhabitants. Article X's provisiohs infuriated Alexander. (,Heu

felt that he would be involved too deeply in Malta’s affairs. As far as

-he was concerned, Naples was its suzerain, and should .be considered its

principal guarantor. Furthermore, he did .not _ understand that Britain

2 . .
regardecd the participation of the Maltese in the Order s government as a

méans of counteracting its francophile bias. Rather, he interpreted fhl&
provision as a personal snub.{57] St.Helens _thought his government was
being insensitive to the tsar’s feelings, and warned _that the Russian

Priory might establish itself as a separate entity; fhereb§ denying the

Order of nine-tenths of its revenues. If this wefe to héppéﬁ; +the remnant

o

would never be able to defend Malta effectively.[58]

After the Definitive Treaty had been signed, Hawkesbury tried to

convince Alexander that the arrangement for Malta was only slightly at.

variance with the Russian’position. He ' explained that Britain would

=J

'gladly recognize a Grandmaster elected under the tsar s auspices, but also

§tfessed that Malta would not be evacuated with8ut a prior'guérantee from
Russia.[59] However, Hawkesbury found it difficult ,to deal with the
Russian meassadérj who  soon became alienated from him. Thereafter,
Vorontsov preferred to be in the company of Grenvillites, and in June, he
withdrew ffom England to show hié dissatisfaction.{60} In November, the
tsar s chancellor addressed a letter to thg British CaBinet that set forth

the precise terms under which Russia would agree to become a guarantor of

the Maltay setllement. Britain must allow the Order full sovereignty over

[
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itsxaffairs. Malteée would .be admitted,.  but Only,‘ugder conditioné e
establ.iéhed by the Knights ﬁhemselves. Malta was 'tov be -defended” by
Neapolitan troops for as long as necessary, and .the contfacting ﬁowere

were to accept the costs of this force. - These conditions were to be
subjoined to the Treaty of Amiens, and considered an integral part of
it.[B1] Alexander s conditions were iqtended’ both to rid himself of ' the

Ordé;_ and to evade. his internationél responsibilities. Saul is éofrect

z : : *

in aéserting that he, thereby, has to share the blame for the weventual
failuré af the peaceisettlément.[GQ] :‘ - —

‘ Seven and a half months of Qneasy Beace had shifted the gencral
‘mbﬁd in ‘England. Evénts had occurred fduring this short interval ‘that~
destroyedfthe spirit of the treaty. Bonaparte had refused to éign a trade
pact with Britain, annéxed Savoy and Pledmont, and -had himself elected
rpresideﬁt of the new Italian Republic. Such actions led to a hardening §f
Britain?s attitﬁde in September 1802, exacerbaﬁfd by the French
re-occupation of Switzerland in Oc?qber.lﬁB] Thereafter, Britain insisted
that the Treatyljof Amiens was directiy iinked with' those signed at
Lunéville and thé Hague, uand -demanded that Holland be evacuated; If
France refused,.hénding back the Cape to the Dutch would be tantamount to
giving France the keys to Iﬁdia's front door. Giving up Malta wou%d have
added the keys to the back door as well. Britain was especiélly‘COnce?néd
about the;lattér ras she had recently learned . that Bonaparte COnsidéred.
"the new afrangement'for Malta akromance which could not be exccuted".[64]
The two counfries wou{d .not be at war fof another six monﬁhs,- but given
such events and attitudes, the wonder 1is that the resumﬁtion _of

hostilities took so long.

ﬂ\\\\__ The causes of the breakdown of the peace have bcun the subject of
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muqh scholarly analysis. Two articles, writteﬁkaf the turn of the CQntﬁt§
by waldemar Ekedahl and Conrad Gill serve to illustrateithe\réQpived.@ayS‘
in which the breakdown has been treated. [65] 'Bofh writers think bBritaih
was sincere about implementfhg the treaty’s conditions, énd jthat she ohly'
abandoned this position in reaction tp Bonapqrte's agérandisement on thé
.Confingﬁt. They also aréue that she,Qid not opehly admit her decision to
. keep Malta because the Addington admihistration was weak and irresolute.
in coming t; such a‘facile-conclusioh; both authors ignore the importance” -
of Russia. Keeping Malta appeared to be'the best way Brifain cogld get
compghsation fof France'é recentlbehaviqur,nbut by keepipg it she ran the
risk of alienating Rassia. The war could hdt pe régumedl_however, before
she gained the létter)s' support; otherwisp, thé'land4sea stalemate would
continue indefinitely; |

A further concern emerged when Merry, now §~__g§_g_g;f§;;§§ in

-

Parig’ reported an unsubstantiated .rumour that the tsar’s émbaésédor had
been bribed .by Talleyrand.[66]) The poésibility of an eqtenfe;rbetween
France and . Russia éouid _not be lighfly aismissed‘LeSpécially'-sihce
Alexander had been ?éo equiv6cal on Malta. If i;»materializéa,, Britaiﬁ
/Spﬁfa’not afford‘fo giiefup‘the iélana;qas this wo 1¢ mean abandoning both
| the Mediterranean Sea and the Ottoman Empire. An rder bearing the wordé o
"most seéiet" waé sent on 17.'October i862 inétructing the British
authorities at Malta not to‘-evacuate. If pressed byéthe French Minister
there, the Civil Commissioner wasvto use Russia’s non compliance with the
ggarénfee as the official prete#t. Furthe}more, The miiitary commander
was toldgto rétai; as bmany“%roops as could‘-be acéommodattd-ifrom those

returning from Egypt.f67j The tenor of both letters made. ft giear that

Malta would remain British for some time to come. In the same month,

N
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similar instructioné were sent to the Governor-General Bf‘ India.[68] \itt 

was not weakness that preventededdington'from openly declaring his hand,

rather it was the prudence of statesmanship. The longer'he waited before

-4

admitting that Britain would retain Malta, the better chaﬁce he . had of

convincing the tsar that the island was a Just compensation for

v

Bonaparte's duplicity.

‘In the autumn of 1802, Britain anderance exchanged ambassadors

for the first time in' over a decade. The. British minister was Lord

| Whitworth, a long-time ambassador to ngsia who had been expelled by Tsar

Paul. " Whitworth Qas a flamboyant ahdlhaughty ariétbcrat\ who bad acquired

3 - b
a reputation for

P =

aéting independently of his instructions. Malta was not

mentioned in his qofficial instructions, but in a confidential despatch»

given him on 14 Novem er, thefgoﬁernment's revised attitude tdwards it was
. 2 ) , 7 ‘ .

-
re

the -main theme. 1In is qpcgment,:Hawkesbury asserted  that Britain had a

right to some compensation-"as an equipoise to the acquisitions of France
o g

since the conclusion of the Definitive Tfeaty".[69] Howéver, Whitworth

was to avoid bringing up the subject of Maita, and if the French did so,

was to reply that Article X had .not yet been complied with. More
important, he was not to commit Britain to any course of action, even if

the terms of the treaty were fulfilled..

Whitworth arrived in Paris on 15 November, where he quickly

deve;oped'éﬁféntipathy toward Bonaparte whose autocratic whims he compared

with those of Tsar Paul. 1In one of his first despatches, he claimed that
Britain’s retention of Malta, although a ‘ma jor impediment restraihing

Napolegn from launching a new invasion of Egypt, was not an insurmountable

one. He could safely launth his expedition from Ancona, if he.first

obtained the co-operation of Russia’s 1quadron at Corfu, jfij:/gontrolled
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the narrowsileading to and from the.Adriatic:[7OJ Whitworth agreed .Qith\
Merry in ndt trusting Count Markoy, the Russian ambasséddr,ét\ Paris, and
on 9 becember, he advised Hawkesbury‘not to accépt a Ruésian guérantee of

PO | N |
Mdlta, even if one were forthcoming. Nevertheless, he cautioned that

Britain neédéd to find a-better pretextvfor keeping the islanéﬂlhén‘bshe
cﬁrréhfly had.[71] A | ' o
Subprisingly, Talleyrandvhad not mentioned Maité up to this point,
though Whitworth was sounded .out by .the Spanish ambassador ’ét  tﬁg
beginning of 1803. Hercadtious;y‘reblied that his government s pbiicyjhad—
not cﬁanged);bﬁt‘he‘personally believed that Malta‘could not be given up
WHile France was eipanding her power and influence on %he Contineqt.f72]
Talleyrand forcefully brought up the éubject for - the first timecoh  27

January. He claimed that most of the terms of Article X had beéﬁ complied

with, and Britain's refusal to evacuate Malta was now based -on the

Cans

- HX¥
slimmest of pretexts. Whitworth answered evasively, but to Hawkesbury, he

had to admit that Talleyrandfs logic was correct:[73]
Britain needed .to find ~a more substantial reason for not
evacuating Malta; at the end of January 1803, Bonaparte provided her with

7 /
one. The semi-official journal Moniteur published the report of Colonel

'Sebastiani_ a young French officer who had Jjust come back.‘from a mission
to the Middle East and Egypt.‘ In it,‘he stated that Egypt was longingnfor
the retu;n of - French rule, énd _enthusiastically claimed:. "Six milles
Frangais suffiraient aujourd hui pour cqnquerif l‘égypte,"f74] The
British government reacted‘,sharply to this report, Hawkesbury asserting
that its publication was "uttefly inconsistent with the spirit'and letterr
of the Treaty".[75] There would be no more discussion of evacuating Malta

untjl satisfaction had been received .on this cémplaint. ‘ Hawkesbury s



: 77

anger was more studied .than real, however, because the 66ntent3 of

Sebastiani’s report did not take him by suppriée. Merry had warned him

.
€

about Sebastiani’s ‘activities as eariy as the previous September. [76)
Furthérmore;‘Bonaparte woﬁld not have so naively givénfﬁp the element of
surprise, if he had really been considering a reconauest'of Egypt.

It appears that Bdhabarte tried to use the report to bully the
British Cabinet into evacuating Malta, but that the taciic backfired. He
was quick to retreat, cl;iming that the >article expreésed a personal
opinion rather than Fr’enchépolicy,= and Sebastiani was made to apolopize.
The Egyptian ‘historian, Shafiq Ghofbél, argues that Britain used the
report as the "occasion" pub%ibly to announce her intention to keep Malta,

v

rather than the report’s being the '"cause" of this change of‘policy.

Unfortunately, Ghorbal falls back on the worn-out idea that the "cause"

B

was the weakness of the Addington gdministration.[77] 1In reality, Britain

. had timed her indignation for its §ffect on the tsar. Whitwdrth set to

work almost immediately to convince Narkov that Bonaparte's)ambition in

the Near East was equally dangerous t

oth Britain and ﬁussia. It was
therefore in Russia’s best interest for Brifain to keep Mal;S?T78]
Although.Markév did not agree with the latter point, he was concerned
about the French soundihg him out on the fate of éhe Ottoman Empire. His

despatches to St.Petersburg, when put in the context of others reporting

the activities of French agents' in the Near East, greatly alarmed his

government. [79])
Throughout the month of March, Whitworth diligently tried to work
out a settlement that would .leave Britain in possescion of Malta. At

first he attempted to bribe Talleyrand and Lucien Bonaparte with an offer

, i , , :
of money. He then suggested a temporary-occupation of not less than eight



years. In yet another attempt; he proposed that Britain remain in control

of the fortifications while the Knights would be put in charge of the
' T s

civil administration.[80] In the middle of the month,’ he was subjected to
a violent outburst from Bonaparte in front of the whole diplomatic

community. Although he claimed that:the First Consul s bluster had not

intimidafed him,, thereafter . he nursed a grudge, and for him, the issue

became 'Malta or war'.[81] On® 13 April, Hawkesbury sent him the

government's final ‘proposals. Bonaparte was to choose between two

]

scenarios. Either Britain would control Malta s garrison witq)the Knights:

regaining civil power, or she would keep Malta for ten years, after which

it would be given over to its inhabitants. In addition, Britain would :

have the right to the island of Lampedgsa as a ﬁermanent Mediterranean
base.[82] %Uperfici?lly this offer appeared‘to be a concession, but in
reality it was, a hardening of Britain’s positio because it was gade. on
conditio; thét~.France evacuate Holland.. Pierre Coquelle ané J.R.
Gwynné—Timothy_‘suggest thét the issue of Malta was‘ a red herring because
theyA clai; that ' Britain’s . real concern was the independence of
Holiand.[83] There ;é.no doubt that she aspired .to this aim, but given

the military. deadlock, it was unrealistic to think that France could be

induced to complyiv Probably, the British government had _already.decided :

. ™ . .
that there was no other way to keep Malta but war, and the negotiations

were continued merely to demonstrate to Russia that she was still acfing

in a feasonable:manner. Alekander had not been consistent in his attitude.

towards.Malta. Indeed, Bonaparte’s Qvertures concerning Turkey had so

upset him, at the beginning of 1803, that he had . then advised Britain to

keeép Malta as a way of checking France s eastern designs.[84]

Bonaparte’s correspondence with Talleyrand shows that he did not

2
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want to see a resumption of waq,‘and both Alfred Méhan, and the editor of
Whitworth's despatches; Oscar quyning, f;elithat it still could have Beén
"avoided.[85] One cannot help wonderihg whether Cornwallis’s am{abii;ty‘in
comparison to Whitworthfs_;cerbify might have been better able toi‘find'a
solution. Joseph made:several attempts at reéoncilfation thaﬁ mighminave
resulted in Britain keeping Malta, had not the Bfitish government in the
last stages of the negotiations demandéd thagﬂﬁrance respect the torms éf
%he Treaty of Lunéville. On 20 April,-Whitwofth reporféd\tﬁat'thé French
were stalling for time in replying to the ‘British proposal, and suggerted
that they were »waitiﬁg for Rqssia's formal disapproval of it. In the
meantime, Markov was urging Britain to Aaccept Lampedusa in exchange for
Malta, but this:idea was rejected as unfeasible. It would .have required
considerable time énd money before Lampedusa coﬁld be transfqrmed into a

suitﬁple base, and even then it would no; have equalled Malta. Wﬁitworth
the;;fore asked . his government‘ for én ultimatum which he presented to
Talleyrand on the 27th. The terms of Britain's uitimatug were not new;
they were consistent with those found in the project of December 1802; and
Mackesy is incorrect in asééfting that the ultimatum was hastily thought °
out and obscure.{86] Talleyrand s reaction t% it was to stall while
Joseph tried to mediate with his brqther. Bonaparte;s final offer was to
have Malta handed over to Russia, but Whitworth felt tﬁat neither the tsar
nob his own government would accept such a compromise.{87]‘ He left Paris

vl »
on 12 Ma@, and on the 18th parliament declared war.

. -
The government asserted that its .rationale was France's violation
of the Treaty of Amiens’s most basic. principle: the cxpectation that the
. ‘ F :

territoriai poSseésions of the adversaries should not be substantially

altered.. The government claimed that Bonaparte s continued agir:ndisemsnt

=

,
.
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ga&e Britain the legitimate right to seek compensation. Even had this

e

principle nof~béqn violated, . Britain would still have had the right to

@

keep Malta because the conditlons specified in Article X\Eéd not been met.

]

Russia and Prussié . had .refused .to act as guarantors, 'énd .Aﬁstria's

acceptance was conditional on the compliance ofrthe othérs.r Furthermore,

p— 4

the Order had bégﬁﬁéo‘ weakened financially at French instigation éhat it
was no longer able to function as an indepéndent body.[88] In the debéte
that-followed on 24 May, Malta s value was declared to bé botﬁ substantive
apd symbolic. Thomas Maitland,. whowaas later to become its first
governor, claimed the island wés "absolutely neceséafy . ‘to carry on
offensive operations in the Mediterranean".[g9] George Canning argued for
its symbolic importance by declaring that its retention was '"that point
upon which the honour of this country is committed .... being that last
point upon which, after a series of v;olenées: insults and agg}essions .ea
left us no ‘alternative'than.7insté%t submissioﬁ or open war".[90) Only
Fox s small grouﬁ opposed the war. Eérlier Fox had acknowlédged ‘Malta’s

importance, but now he believed peace to be worth "a thousand Maltas".[91]

Ironically, after he became Foreign Secretary in 1806, he would ‘again

(4

change his mind.

Although Addington had .taken a strong stand in the months sigce"
" the treaty s ratification, he ﬁad -received little credit for it, nor was
the declardtion of war greeted .in any better fashion. His own ministers
.were worried that Britain was unprepared, . and the dpposition charged‘th;t
the governhent had allowea _the navy to become run;down. A motion in.
parliament to censure it was defeated, but cracks in Addington's support

were beginning to show.‘ Grenville s group was grbwing 'ndticeably)larger,

- ahd Pitt was trving ‘to- distance himself from the Prime Minister.

e
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Addington'had gambled that he could keep Malta and not alienate the tear.
He was in some degree succesgful, but the cost of his policy would be the

defeat of his administration in 1804, partly because Alexander would no

o~

idnger deal with it.

-
:
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- CHAPTER FOUR

The_Role_of Sir Alexander Ball, 1301-1305

Everything lends to prove that this island must be possessed cither
by us or by the French. If we cude.it, we shall be execrated by the
Maltese, and our charzcter in consequence degraded in the opinion of
all Europe ... [Maltal is considvred by all here so stfong by nature
and art that no nation will ever attempt an attack upon it. So long
as the Maltes= are attached -to us, it can never be taken by a coup -
de.main, and can only be reduced by a blockade which from its-

peculiar situation makes it so difficult that all Europe com@ined

could .not effect. it ... All our provisions are within the
fortifications, and an 2nemy must bring all its own supplies. This
place leaves the naval Commander-in-Chief unshackled.. He has no

dread of it being attacked during his absence. . ) .
- Sir Alexander Ball [1]

Captain Alexander Ball has zlready. besn mentioned as ~the British naval
officer who set up and directed ths blockade. and siege of Valletta from

1798 to 1800. In the ycars that followed, he was to become Britain’s main

reprdsentative, at Malta. From the outset, he was a strong advocate of
keeping the 1island, who not only recognized its negative value - the-
necessity of keeping other bowers out —-  but also ‘believed that Malfa

possessed .an intrinsic imporfance> that could .be used  to Britain’s
advantage. Historians have neglected Ball, and .the fuw pageé that have
been written about. him, mainly by Maltése authors, were based almost
N ~
exclusively on cofficidal documents. Ball was either praised as a benign
and paternalistic figure who had the best interusts of the inhabitants at
. R S .
heart, or else execrated for beirg a corrupt tyrant who had convinced his
government that the Maltesc =hould have no say in the runni:ng of their

affairs. The former opinion is more prevalert, however, ‘and Maltese

historians like Albert Laferla’ tuke their 1lead from Ball's friend and

admirer, the poet Samuel Taylor Coleridge, who char.cté%izud him s = "man

above his age".[2] 1In reality, Bal! wag very ‘much 2 men of his ape. His

char zter typified tha- blend of =2ltruism and .abit on which nultiplied o

=
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thousandfold succeedad in greatly expanding the British Empire during this
formative period.

I

In January 1801, Ball was relieved of his duties as Civil Commissioner at
the instigation of the British army and sent +to Gibraltar as a Naval
Commissioner. One senses that the unfairness of this treatment did ‘much
to vitiate the basic altruism of his character. In May, the government
belatedly rewarded him with a baronetcy, but he did -not receive his
rightful share of the Valletta prize money until several years later.[3]
At age forty-four, Ball felt that his naval career had come to a dead end,’
and despite his abrupt dismissal from Malta, he now fancied _himself
something of an administrator cum diplomat. He saw an opportunity to
improve his situation, in January 1802, when a delegation of Maltese
notables stopped at Gibraltar en route to London. News of the Preliminary
peace agreement had ‘reached Malta three months earlier, and .had stunned
the inhabitants. Charles Cameron, Ball's replacement as Civil
Commissioner, wrote to Lord Hobart: "The people here are alarmed beyond
description at the idea of the restoration of the Order, and ‘I really
believe they will never submit to it.'"[4] Although the Maltese were upset
by what they regarded as Britain s betrayal, they still preferred her rule
to that of any other power. Therefore, a delsgation had besn sent to
plead their case. In deciding to accompany them, Ball hoped to establish
contacts in the government that he could .use to advance his personal
ambitions.

Ball arrived in London with the delegation on 5 February. The
Maltese had with them a petition that stressed their desire to remain

under British rule. This document had originally becn written in Italian,
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( emb%rraSSment- Bonaparte protested that they had been put

~ ) . ) R

»

<

| , o T

but Ball had it amended and. translated into Frehch b&AWilliam'Miles‘fSJ

«

Milés was gkpolitical writer and one of Pitt’s advisors and just ‘the sort
of acquaintance Ball needéd to advance his career. Unfortunately, Ball's

t;mfng was dff. The government ‘"was in the middle of ~negptiating‘péace

? ) £ . .
with France, and the : presence of the Maltese in Londen was an

- e
up to it to

providefan excuse for Britain to keep Malta. Of their petition, he wrote:
"it has the colour,\stylenand tone of a revolutionary Englishman ... such’

frecdom is not African".[8) As a result, Hobart refused at first to meet

e

the delesgates, and when;he dia ASpeakbto them privately, it was only to

reject'tﬁeir petition. The Maltese then resorted to the expedient of

confronting the King with their petition as he was leaving church one

<

morning.[7] George III was sympathetic, but however much he may have

deplored the peace, he had .given . his word  to the government rot to

criticize it publf%ly.fel Ball had -not been behind -this unorthodox

tactic, buE Hobart, who believed he had been,.told-;him!to peréuade' the
Maltese. to leaye England as soon as possible. At the end of April, thef
were ignominiously put aboard a ship bound for Malfa. Miles was dngUsteai'
with their treatm?nt, and rgmarked Ihat'the‘Frencﬁ““Wbuld not have beeﬁ 50
short sighted as to offend fhe amour-propre of a péfential ally.f9]

Ball stayed in London, and continued _to lock for like-minded .

ascociates who would help him advance both the Maltese cause and.his own

career. Through Miles, he met Grenville ?enn{ an Under-Secfetary to Lord

-

Hobart. Like Ball, Penn came from an old and distinguished family that

was culrently down on its 1luck. The two men shared an admiration for
Pitt, and both had serious reservations about the current administration.

Penn was regarde. v Ball as both a2 friend and = ch..miel through which he

¥
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could present his views to the government: FQE? the historian, Penn is

important because he présérVed a'se}ection.of Ball's _Hrivata”iattaré; and

, . e . L S :
these, along with the latter s correspondence with Nelson, are the two

main sources of private material extant. [10]) Each’ collection stands in’

contrast to the other. Balli's correchw#dence with Nelson it nsomewhat

éeryile, on the one hand,.and rather patronizing or the other. _He admired

Nelson s naval skill, but did.not think much “of his political acumen. In-

contrast, Ball could _be as ekpansive with his ideas as he liked in hia 

letters to Penn, and these letters exhibit a degree of pollitical intrigue

<

that is lacking in those to Nelson.
- Despite his desire to make influential contacte in London, - Ball

was careful to distance himself from the ‘parliamentary opposition. . He

knew that Grenville underestimated the importance of Malta, and he blamed
; 3 .

Dundaé for his removal from there because he had oprosed the ex-minister s

wish to turn the island into a personal fief. His caution wae vindicated

when Windham, learning of the details of the Maltese delegation’s

treatment, had them published - in Cobbett g Pc
caused ég extreme - embarrassment to the government, and had B:ll" been
involvea in it, he would have lost all chance of being considersd for. a
new appointment by the Addington administration.: .
At the end lbf May 1802, Ball was acked .to become Britain's
Minister Plenipotentia£§ to the Order of Saint‘JohanlQ] The choice had
not been a foregone conclusion since many others, including Sir Mark Wood,
had wanted fhe appoinf&ent. Ball was chosen‘bebause of his popularity
with the Maltese and his reputation*?br conciliatory béhaviour.. It is
also likely that both Penn and'Miles rdcommendedv him for the positicn.

— . . - , :
Ballzijf made responeible for seeing that' the provisi~n: regarding Malta

e

bett's Political Register.{11} This
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in the Treaty of Amiens werse fulfilled before authorlzlng the evacuation

of British troops there. From a career point of view, it was not a very -

4

xpromising apppintment as it was expected -to laét only a few monthé.

Furthermore Ball felt he' would -lose the affection of. the Maltese by
1mplempnt1ng a trpaty he and they overwhelmingly’ desplsed,_ It appeared to
be another situatxon llke the - slege from whlch- he could .expect much grief ‘-

and little crédit. Ball accepted the appointment with a heavy heart. ' He

.told Miles that he had done so because he was in need of money . However,

‘he also believed that the- peace’could not last long, and speculated that

once at Malta, he‘would-be the logical cheice:to govern the island should -

war agiin break out.[13]) : ' )

Ball wés convinced . from tne outset that the treaty’s provisions
would not keep the French out of Malta. In any case, he felt Hobart’s
instructions to be | contradiétery, and . consequently impossible to

; _ & :
implement. He was enjoined to co<operate with the French'ambassador while

at the same timg limiting French:influence:on the island -and maintaining’

V

the goodwill of tne Maltese How was it possible to co-operate w1th an
individual gho would be! trying fo subvert Britain's goodwill and establlsh

French’ influence over the islanders? Similarly, Britain s forces were to

evacu:te Malta as soon as the 3,000 Btrong'Neapolitan garrison and the new

Grandmaster 8 representative had _arrived,.but mot before Russia and | the

54i_0?héf‘great powers had guaranteed Malta s neutrality.[14] In other words

Ball could do nothing umtil he had been informed that the latter condition

had been met. Ball had serious doubts about the wisdom: of this condition.

He f.ared that, as Ruseia would all& with France-as soon ag Malta and .

Alexandria wer: evacuited, Britain ought to continue to occupy both of

them and he himself ought to stall for time and -try to 1limit French



o

influence at Malta.[15) 1In an agé_before telephone or telegraph, a local

official could do much to slow down the i&p;;@ehtation‘of a treaty. The
: : it | 37 o N s .
Marquess Wellesley was doing just this,in I“@Q?,at the time, and Ball felt.

he could: get away with the same . deceptioﬁ‘ét ‘Malta, albeit in a more

modest fashion.[16]) : S S o
' : V 7 - % » ) N ’ %” ‘
Ball arrived at Malta on 10 July. A little over a month”later the

i/

French Plenipotentiary, General Vial also arrived. }Ball took‘animmedffhﬁu”'
b > | = .

. ) - . L q‘ R B .

disiike to him, and despite instructions‘to the contrary; resolved not to ~

co-operate with him.  In a letter to Penn_>8all justified this course of

_powers to which e was not

‘action by claiming that Vial had assy

eéntitled.. He had not _o@ly launched ropaganda  campaign against  the

British, but had _also attempted _to interferc with the operation of the
local courts. Such presumption on~£hé’>part of a- foreign diploﬁat_ Ball
sarcastically noted, was ''only -allowed .at Constantinople'.[17] Ball -
remained confident, however, that the majority of the Maltesc still

distrusted France, despite Vial's efforts,' because the Jdatter had sald- -

nothing about the repayment of the many debts left behind by‘ﬁonaparte.

A v N

Nevertheless, Ball s letters are full of his activities designed to check ..

-
By

Py

b

French-influence on the island;- He recognized the value of propagandxzﬂgg
established an Italian _;;nguagg press to-wage '"a paper war against the
French Minister.'{18] Penn provided him with current ahti:french a:ficles
from Britaiﬁ and the Continent which he then had translated for local
publication. His efforts, in this respect, prbvéd 50 sﬁccesaful‘that by
December, Ball feared that the pro;French Maltese who had recently
returned to the island might try to aseascinate ﬁih? The «esgence of his‘
administration was that type of paternalism practiced by eﬁlightencd

despots, and Bzall freely admitted. that the gondwill of the people could be



" when Hobart sent Q1m the despatch, headed ' most secret', instructing him“

fq postpone the . evacuation - of Malta until further notification. -

. x/—“

. proves that Britain had no immediate intention of giving up Maltd. On the

’ — — ————— — -

easily lost wifhout COnstant vigilance and management“ l19]

. Ball s dissembling course. of acticn was vindicated in October 1802

S ‘. ' . ' 5
Signi%?cantly, Hobart now referred to him as Britain s Givil Commissioner.
Ball was instructed to do ndthing that would lessen either his authority

at Malta, or the affection of the Maltesé for Britain. - Hobart's despatch

contrary, she was making provision for its efficient adminigtration.

Nevertheless, Ball was ,not,tdj‘diVUlge the contents of this despatch to

anyone, and if the French‘ambaééador protestéd that he was stalling, he

was to reply that neither Prussia nor Russia had ¥et agreed to guarantee

Malta s neutrality.[20]

At the end of January 1803, the government asked .for Balls

opinion on the proposed changes Russia was requesting to Article X. These

involved the weakening of the Maltese langue that was to be established ..

prior to the Order’s return to power. Ball was adamant in urging his

government not :to accept changes, which .would .destroy Britain's

credibility with3:thqA//Maltese. He reasoned _that the = pro-British h

inhabitants would soon go over to the Frénbh'party, if Britain evacuated

thq_island without fully implementing the provisions of the treaty. Since

- the French were now in control of - every other important port in the

Mediterranean, Britain's evacuation of Malta would only facilitate a

second invasion of Egypt.{21] In the private counterpart to this official

i

despatch, Ball went even further in advising the course of action Britain

should take. He claimed that France wae behind Russia’s attempt to change

_the treaty. The tsar’s objections to it would evaporate in direct
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proportion to the appfehensions he was made to feeLﬁeéeP Fronch agg}esslon
in the Balkans. To facilitate this, Ball had secretly written to
Britainis,ambaséaddr at St.‘Péteerurg‘urg;ng him to warn the: Russians of

% ~

Sebasttani’s dangerous activities at Zante.[22]) Ball knew thatfthegIdnién

Islands.were more important to Russia than was Maltél and he urged- Penn to

k'

suggest a pact whereby Russia would recognize Britain’s right to Malta in
exchange for similar recognition of Russia’s right to Corfu. Such an .

agreement, he felt, might even form the basis of a rapprbchement between

these two powers.[23]

" .Ball saw the greatest threat to 1ta s independence coming from

o s

the very powers that were'suﬁposed;tofsafeguardzit —'Naﬁles and the Order.
The Neapolitan consul was openly pro—French,-as‘was the bishop of'Maita,

who had .been appointed by Naples. Ball took steps to neutralize the

consul by summarily stripping him of the sinecures that had— given him so
much’ influence on the island.[24] In contrast, the. bishop was popular
ambng the Maltese and had to be conciliated.. As for the Order, Ball,

believing that France had  influenced .the outcome of the - magisterial

election, refused the new Grandmaster permission to enter Malt§;125] The

Order was stilf' despised there, except by those . who were its ,unpaidv

N
3

creditors. Ball claimed _that its supporters had failed to "seduce the
—_— § . .

minds.of the people' with their promises of lower bread prices because his

import and price stabilization programme had already led to prices far

below those in Sicily.[26])
, Both the French ambassador and the Order s represcntative
protested that refusing to allow the Grandmasfer ’entry was a gross

violation of the treaty. Vial warmed Ball that his stubborness would put

the odium of breaking a solemn treaty on Britain’s head. Ball countered

P
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by saying thateethe-fhternational"guarantees had not yet been given. In

«

&F

'justifying'his?action -to Hobaft,jﬁdhever, he explained that. it had been

done to prevent an insurrection among the Maltese.[27]
By,the late épring of 1803, Ball knew~ that war was very near. He
received confirmatlon of thls from the British Mlnlster at the Court of

. — e

Naples who informed him that the- negotlations in Paris were breaking

'down.l28] Ball alsoflearned from the same ‘source that the Gra;dmaster was =
being influenced by' Vial to take the initiative and _sail to Malta -

uninvited. As a reeult, he informed Vial that he would -not now evacuate-

Malta without explicit orders frgm his government.f29] On 16 May, Hobart

Ea

wgoievto instruct Ball to prepare for war, but by the time his letter

arrived,fon 26 July, ,Ball' had ,already; anticipated -its contents by

expelling Vial and all of the Neapolitan troops.[30] Ball’s foresight and -

tenacity in not giving up Malta had finally been vindicated.. Unlike the

Cape of Good Hope, which had -been relinquished too eagerly, Malta remained .

in British hands.s

\

IT

kS

ritain declared‘war in May 1803 and,.in June, Nelson was’sentvback to -the
editerranean. Most of Ball’s private letters to him relate to the period -
thereafter. vThese letters establish that the two menrremained close until
Nelson's death in October 1805, despite being seridusiy at odds. over the

,
o

question of Malta & 1mportance ‘Nelson had formed a poor opinlon of the‘

1sland 8 value durlng his previous tour of duty in the Mediterranean in -

1798, and had subsequefitly reiterated .this opinion in the House of Lords

in November 1801. Basically, he believed that Malta’s importance was
» / il )

negative. The French had to be kept out, but aside from this, Malta was

of nc intrinsic value tb’ Britain. Bv 1803, Nelson had .realized that

Fy
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neither?Rﬁssie' Naples nor the Order would  prevent the French from

returning. H%ﬂftherefore conceded that Britain would'have tU kejp ‘thé"“‘“‘

g_ﬁd

"island herself ﬁhough as a naval base, it remained useless,[31] Upon

returning to thé Ebd;'ipranean Malta was Nelson’s first port of call - He
- Co»
arrived on 1 July and left a mere thirty- 8ix hours later. While there,

he was feted both by a jubilant populace and by his friend Ball. The two

men did not go- 1nho their differences, but each noticed a change for the‘

worse in the other. Ball now thought of himself ‘more as a dlplomat than a

naval<officer: while Nelson felt his® frlend had become too pretentious,

‘and’ was particularly annoyed when Ball refused to éxplain the preeence$of

a Mameluke emissary, remarking that his current negotiations were ‘too

sénsitive even for Nelson s ears. Nelson left the island feeling that

Ball had -found .a too comfortable niche ‘wherein he could _enjoy ”the_v

privileges of the beatified".[32] Ball thought that his friend had become
more stubborh and narrow minded than ever. He felt Nelson would-never be
. <’ . : ) ’ ' i ~.

able to grasp the wider political issues at stake, and that it.was useless

to tfyrio explain them to him.

RNy

- Nelson s sojourn in Malta unsettled him, and on-the threc-weok
. . - . .
voyage to the blockading station off Toulon, he decided to set out his

opinion of the island in a letter to Addingtor. He ddmitted the Maltege

were in high spirits and would . probably remain loyal to Britain‘;though

General Villettes, the military commander, had 'been pescimictic ‘about
holding the lsland if the garrison were removed to def..nd Sicily.rlﬂell
had disagreed, and had claimed that it could be held by the Maltese
themselves. Nelson concluded that the truth probably lay somewher:

betwezn the two cpinions. He then peiterated his objection to using Malta

as a bzse from which to blockade Toulon: —



The’ fleet*can never go there'if T can find' any*other corner to put ,
them in, but having said this I now declare that I consider Malta as

the most important. outwork to India; that it will ever give us great -

influence in the Levant, and indeed all the southern part of Italy.
In this view I hope we shall never give it up. [33]

Significantly, Nelson ‘now begrudgingly accepted that Malta did have some

positive value in_that its retention by Britain was symbolically importanf
: . , - 7 ,

to her‘allles in the region. He -had _probably been influenced bywﬁall'who

had argued that its possession was necessé}y to prove to rthe allies that*

\'W‘ -
Britain was senious about chécking France s expansion:f34]
Foremost among the allies who were worried that Bfitain would give
. o B — ) R L ¢ -
up Malta was the Porte. When the Preliminaries ha -announced Britain's

intention of doing éo, the Turks responded,. in November 1801, with'a
SN , | -
memorial urging her to-reconsider. . -This, Ball later remarked, was

. as

strong a measure’ as that cautious government ever adopted".[(35] In

n—

February 1803, Ball enlisted _the support of Britain's ambassador at
Canstantinople; Lord Elgin, who was in quarantine at Malta while on his
way back to England.’ He Wgs asked .to draft a report to the Foreign

. {gcretary, arguing that the Turks were terrified at the thought of Britain

givlng up Malta.- "The Porte does estimate the duration of its

independence", Elgin asserted,. "by; the period of our continuance in
posseszion of this Island.'"[36) He then claimed that *the Ottoman Empire
-was disintegrating and in danger of being partitioned by the great pOWers.

If Britain were fo give up Malta, she would lose the ability to modify or

counteract such events, except by meésures that would. .be fuinoUslyf

expensive, but by keeping Malta,6 the other powers would .probably not

RN

attempt to change the status quo, and Britain would be able "to remain a

passive observer of the affairs in the Levant".[37] This comment was the -

first mention of Malta's eymbolic importance, though Elgin equélly

\
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acknowledged that it had _given “incalculable" advantage to Br
- . N ) .

P

expedition to Egypt in 1800. One 'cannot help wondering, howeyer, .
. . o - - ) LS

)

essays, the stylistic similarities are too \great to be ignored.

Ball, too had been upset by Nelson's visit ‘to Malta, and itfgave

P

him the incentive to set out formally his own ideas on Malta’s WQrth.,’He

infofmed Nelson, in November, that he was writing. a paper on the subjedt,

but the latter seems to have taken no notice of the remark.{38)+ Ball -then
P . ;

: % o : , . ‘
Toulon" to Hobart.[39] He also sent a copy to Penn to have duplicated and

“distributed to as many people as the latter saw fit. In a-rather pompous

sﬁbmitted his essay, ''The Importance “of Malta to a Fleet <Cruising before-

i‘!ii'n;

actually wrote the report. ' When compared with Ball’s numerous political

Vcommént, he claimed ,fo have a duty above friendship in "expoéing,

fallacious opinions which if accredited might mislead the government".[40)

In his essay, Ball argued _that Malta's disadvantageous distance from
N . R . ﬁ N . - h

Toulon cbuld be obviated by establishing a system of transports, orgahized

and provisioned at ﬁalté, which would be sent to supply the blockading :

squadron at designated rendezvous.

In the same essay, Ball argued that Malta was rot only important ,

‘

in a negative‘ and symbolic way,/ but thét it also possezced a great:

Lo
o S

central position, safe harbour and strong fortifications;‘and then went on -

« ‘ = . 3 .
to make 2 case for its commercial potential. . Although the latter argument
. * %

was the standi;q disguiSé for acquiring colonies, Ball genuinély‘beliGVUd
R . N “

fhat-ithas true in Malta’'s case. He afgued that the island could become

an important commercial depot that would “enable Great Britain to extend

her trade to the interior of Europe by a comﬁunicatjdn with the Danube

[and] the Dniester'.{41] He cléimed“,thatvcorn a:d isvel stores could be

u';“h
g
k:

intrinsic value. He first listed its obvious advantages, such as itg



transported from the Blaokﬁéea more quckly and oheaply than from the..

Baltie. The knereased revenues generatedr by—thts -trade: combIned*‘with T
4 . ;
-those obtained from the - internal .eoonomic innovations he*was planning o

wolild ensure that Malta would .never be a drain on the British exthequer.

- hd . —— :
. s ] -

Ball was particularly sensitive to this, and it accounts for his lifelong ;

,opposition to wusing- Malta‘,as, a source of . patronage for unemployed °
- . "ﬁ;' "’ N : ) . ? . . . t‘
placemen.[42] Ball s*éptimism about Malta's edgnomit potential was:. only’

S . . X !

partially vindicated.. 1In the yeari% after Napoleon':establiShed the -

- e

. Continental System in 1306 many of the goods smuggled 1nto Europe were

-

trans-shipped through Malta, but this trade did not last beyond-the,end of

the war.

PRI
) =
-

When,Nelson treated 'Ball’'s escay.as’ an act of disioyalty’ '5511‘
tried to defend himself, somewhat dlslngenqousl;_ by claiming that the
paper had specifically left out’ any comment on corrent naval strategy O
as not to be misconstrmed .as criticism of’ the Commander—in—Chief.j&BJ
During the arduous blockadeiofr Toulon in the,winter’ of 1803-4,. Nelson -
ot-sen pomplained that it fook too long for suppliee to arrive. from Malta.

.

Ball countered by Clalrlng that the- ehlps Neison had sent there had only.v~

taken ten .davs to ar ve, and no more than a fortnlght to return< '

However, Nelson -was not aiways at the designatpdrrendeivous,Akand, the
returning ships had ‘to waste times searching for him.[dd] rxNelson

discounted Ball s explanation. and regarded “his supply problem as a f;,&;

" confirmation of Malta's inadeQuacy' as a bape. Indeed, , he began to -

advocate Sardinia A8 an alternatlve the capture oggwhich became somethlng

a2y . —

of an obsescion with him.[45] Ball however, wrote warning the government
]

- not to pay any ~ttention. It would take a huge;army to c?pture an island

the size of Sardinia, .nd ®fterwards there would be” the evsn more



.difficult task of keeping it. ~Moreover, Sardinia h

effectively. Whenever the.encmy left,

T 00
y "7 e . -

‘ ad  few fortitications,
¢ e e i

many of the’. eeéstél areés; wefe‘dﬁhealtﬁy;

untrustworthy as the Corsicans.[46] Despite these 'objegtions,' Nelson -

»continued tOngess the government. ; The idea, never takén SGPiOUgiy in

London,. is significant as a reflection of Neison's myopic view of naval
L] - . L. X

4

strategy. Alfhough the quarrel between the two men was'often_acrimonious,

it did .rot impair their friendship. Indeed,. in one of Nelson's last

let%ggﬁ,'Before the battle of T}afalgar, he apain stresged the groat

affection he felt for Ball.[47)

——

12

By 1804, Ball was . beginning to have second thbughts about the

Fl

wisdom of closely. blockading Toulorn. The strategy .had— not becn

r

particularly effective in the past, and he spéculated that & couple of 7

&

fast frigates stationed ‘there would monitor the French. just ‘as
¥

poré_ the main British flect - lying

~

-~

at or near Malta, having been advisgd of its‘destination by one of these =

. : { .
frigates, would follow in pursuit. The advantige of this.distant-blockade

_and-the inhabitinits wers ag

lay in the ability of the naval squadron at Malta to protect both the-

western and eastern basins -of the Mediterranean .it thefsamer~time.148}‘

Such a strategy would also serve to prevent the type of embarrassment that

Nelson had suffered in 1798, not knowifg where the ~ French flect was
LY ’ ) . P

headed. - . - ' p
After Nelson s death, his successor, Admiral Collingwood, did pﬁll

back the flect and open - the blockade.[49) Two stormy winters ofl Toulon

in 1806-7 convinced himighaf it was impossible to prevent the French fr&mAE

leaving whenever they wished. He lamented, ''seldom a -fortnight will pass

without an opportunity offering them to escape «v:n the most vigilanf '

watch particularly in winter".[50] He therufor: ducided, fin ngfuahy

-
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hoped, and ‘in the following year he ‘moved

R i o e 7];‘0—1777
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11807, to withdraw the fleet fé Sicily, -leaving only two f*igates offv

: Toulon., Due to contrary winter winds; this was not aé effeétive as he had

_the fleet to thei.éhélfered E

waters off Catalonia.. From this station,ere—suppiying and re—fitting~his

"gships at Malta was difficult, “and .although 'Collingwood Eemainéd ’
enthusiatic about it as a‘ -base, he . often complained ‘of itg

'shoftcomings,ISIJ ‘Ultimately, Nelson had .been - correct about Malta's

usefulness in blockading-ToulOn; However, he h&d limited _himself to.this
single objective at a time when Britain's strategic needs. fg'*the
Mediterranesan were gfeatly expanding. - The next section will show how Ball

» o * ’
tried to address some of these necds, using means that were ™ sometimes -

hazardo&é y%‘his owﬁ career., o ‘ _;il;i o =

e , Cm o |

Ball s private letters reveal him —to be something of é schemer. MIn this
reSpedt_ he is a;fascinating ex%mple of én.early "Empire Builder" whose
quest for promotioh led him to advocate the annexation of’ever increasiné‘
territory. His jﬁstification for such action was always the need ”td
prevent the en-my from pre-empting Bjitain“in these areas. Ball was

particularly wOrried:ab¢ut Sicily and Egypt. Unfortunately, some of the

steps he took .in = these areae on his own initiative were regarded by his

"government as unauthorized meddling. Malcolm Yapp argued .that “local

administrators like Ball had & great influence on Britain’s foreign policy

in the early ninete.nth century. These "Politicals" had _a monopoly of

local ‘informationm, and because comrunication with Britain took so long,

they had to make important decisions on their own initiatiye which the
& i

government had 1little choice but .to sanctior.[52] Communication with

Malta wos not as bid 2s that. with the places in India and Central Asia
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which' Yapp had in mlnd Even éo . it still took a letter from one to threc

i,

months to get from Malta to England amdra /Tfi;l 1dmin15trat0r did not

- always. have the luxury of walt‘ng for a reply before he acted [53)

1

After the resumption of war in the summer of 1803,ASici1y was in
imminent danger of . a French /iﬁvasion.' Ball, who was continuously
gathering intelligence on the situation there, was afr-.id the Neapolitan

Court would wait too {ungibefore it summoned aid from Britain. This was a

delicate matter becausé any precipitate action by Britain would supply

France with a handv ‘pretext to invade- Ball was worried that he might be

-

made . the scapegoat, because 1t was his ultimate respon 5ibility to send the
garrison of Malta to def:nd Messina.[Sdl If he acted too soon, he would

give the French their excuse, but if he waitga too long, Sicily would be

lost.

Ball's private views on Sicily are expresced in a letter written

2

in August 1804 to G.F. Leckie, the British Consul at Syrccuse. In it, he

[

frankly asserted’ that he would .iike to- —sew: Sicily become a permanent;

"

British possession. The king of .Napies was fool enough to be convinced,

wéilr”éfgued,,that such an arrangement wouldlbe for his own ben:fit. This

may have been true, but the Russians would not have becn so casily' fooled.

Sometimes Ball s expansionist dreams got the better of him and began to

impair his judgement. Although he conceded that,Russia was a hecestiary

ally, he totally disregarded .the devastating eff.ct that o British

" takeover of Sigily would have. on'relations with ner. This ‘letter also

explains why there are so few of Ball's private lettere otill in

existence. He khew that such frankness was dangerous to hic carecr, and
B Al
instructed Leckiz to destroy his letters as ~o.n as they hzd be:n read.

Fortunately for the historian, this one was overlo ked. " BxlT disiiked
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having to moderate his views in. order to submit them fﬁ{bdg% ‘public

channels, and he complained to Leckie,'“f have not the abilities and .

r

influence tqual to my inclinations".[55] Nevertheless, Ball was  correct

o

" abowt the danger to Sicily.  His persistent warnirgs alerted Britain to
it, and in February 1806, her forces wer: able to forestall the planned

French invasion.

In May 1804, the poet Samuel 'Taylbr Coleridge arrived in Malta,

* : ‘ _ -
and his sojurn there provides another. insight into Ball s character.

)

Coleridge, who went thers to improve his health and éhaké of{ an addiction
to opfum, spent sevente n months empioyedﬁ by Ball, first as his private

secretary and,thgn from January 1805 as the acfing Public Secretary. His
- d :
flatteringly uncritical =zssesoment of Ball, .written several years .after,

“the latter’ s death, was responeible for establishing the popular image of

Ball as & stern but loving patriarch idolized by the Maltese. Even so,
Coleridge s claim that Ball s portrait hung next to that of the Madonna in

every peasant hut is imposeible Jto believe.[56] - There is more of a ring
of authenticity. however, to his descriptidn of the way the two men worked
together preparing political essays. Ball would set a theme, and each

would go c¢ff and write'a paper on it. Ball would then collate the two

papers in Coleridge s presence, and. allow the latter to polish the final
: ; »

~ —

version.{57} Coleridge héahwégs emplbyed because he was a prefesesional
writer... Ball's previous papers had been iargely iganed . by the
: governmcnf_ ai:d he hoped Coleridge would be able to make his :deas more -
persﬁnsive. o ' ;

When Coleridge arrived at Malta, the security of Egypt was

uprermost on Ball’s mind. In July 1804, He sent N&lsorn an esctay outlining

the goals -7 the Frinch in the Moditorrno~.[581 In  this sketch, he
-
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developed the idea that France had abandoned her possessions in the West
Indies, and was seeking compensation in the Mediterranean. Egypt was of
utmost importance to her because its agricultural abundance could
eventually supplant Britain's West Indian exports to Europe. He based .
this contention, as did Coleridge, on H.P. Brougham’s book, An Inquiry

into the Colonial Policy of the European Powers. Unfortunately, Brougham
got his facts wrong in two important areas - the extent of Egypt's arable
land and the number of harvests per year.[59] Thus, Ball based his overly
optimistic assessement of Egypt's economic potential on incorrect data,
and concluded that a new Frénchiinvasion of Egypt was imminent.

The key to defending Egypt was Alexandria, and in his "Plan for
the Security of Alexandria", Ball advocated British control of it.[60]
Sounding like Sebastiani, he asserted _that "4,000 men with a good .
proclamation and a little money will put us in possession of this charming
spot."[{61] Egypt was in a state of chaos, and if Britain did not step in,
the French would.  Ball had no use for the Turks and .he wanted the
government to come to an arrangement with the Mamelukes.[60] He was
treading on dangerous ground,. however, since this plan, though not
original, was a direct contradiction of government policy. He also
suggested an alternative plan, if Britain did not wish to seize Alexandria
openly. The same result could be accomplished by sending a British agent
there with a lot of money. He would bribe the town s officials and
establish a force of foreign mercenaries who would effectively control
the town in Britain’s interest. Ball even suggested .that Penn would make
a good governor there if he wers interssted in the job.

Ball submitted his ideas to Penn in order to have them

comaunicated to Hobart. He realized that Penn would have to be the final



S - o . 108
judge of whén azd how this would be dodé_ ahd,he encduraged his friend to -
make»chaﬁges,é£ hisvdiséfe;ién. Ball knewrthat the fate of Alexandria was =

‘more'the concern of 'gne‘Foreién Secretary, but ;he»had ‘litfle use = for
Héwkesbury and no acquainténée'in hisr department. He trusted .that Penn
WQS the ideal bérson to 'cohvey the thrust of his ideas to fhe~governhent

Maégééq? sho@ing'that French designs -on Egypt stfetched back to fhe days
of the Louis XIV.[GS]' Bél?ﬁ%fied to send Penn as mﬁeﬁ Eurrent informatidh»
on Fgypt as poséible. ‘Of parﬁicular interest was an eyewitnass apcopnt of
the chaos there by an '"Anonymous Amergcan Gentleman" who suggedted a plan

very similar to that proposed by Ball, and who is revealed in the notes

kept by Coleridge as the American Nzavazl Agent to the Barbary States,

2

William Eaton.[64]

In® November 1863, Ball asked _Penn  to. submit his paper; on .
Alexandria to Hobart_QOo in turn presented it to the Cabinet.[65] He had‘
also urged the B;itish ambassador at Constantinople fo con&ince the Porte
to accept it. ?y the time he learned that both goverﬁmehts had rejected
it;_he had alreadv, on Bis own initiative, éent " off an ;gent, Vincenzo
Taberna, to - Egypt. This Piedmontese soldier of fortune e¥;eeded his
instructions ard began to make unauthorized promises to the Mamelukes.[66]
Taberna wgs ~ided in this by Major Missett, Britain’s representative in

- ﬁ' .
Zgypt who was also o~verstepping his authorii;;f67} -Ball feared - that he
’ .
would be reproached for their actions, and many of his letters to Penn in

1804 are con-cern-d with exculpating himself by shifting' the -blame onto
Mis-ett and other British officials in Egypt. He even attempted to
gqualifv his Alexandfia plan by claiming that he had zlways intended both

. / . . .
Rus=zia nd the Porte to be narties to it.[68] It is diff:icult to



106

.ascertain how angry the government was with him: probably not very.

Despite the official polipy'of maintainiﬁg the Ottoman Empire irtact, the ‘

government was unofficially attempting to steer a neutral course in Egyét,

‘waiting to see which ' faction triumphed therc.[69] In 1807, Britain

launched an expedition to Egypt with the aim of seizing 'Alexandria, very

much along the lines suggested-by Ball. The «<¢xpedition failed because it

tried to go bevend this limited —objective.[70) Significantly. Ball's

original plan had contained a warning about the danger of doing so.

By 1805, the accepted view of iMalta’s importance was that the.

island served as =z birrier to protect Epypt. However, the island s

effectivensss as 2 ,barnier was mainly symbolic. Britain's retention of

Malta signalled her determingtion ot .to let any great power cstablish:

itself in the Levant or Egypt. Unlike most observers,  Ball felt “that

I

Malta zlso had an intrinsic value, but he too doubted whether the Malta

\

squadron would be able sgéé an actuzl invasien of Egypt. To achieve this .

end, he therzfore suggested the anrexation of Alexandria. He also felt:

that a British presence in Sicily would act as additional igsurance. Ball
schemed with like-minded imperialists to implement these designs  without

giving much thought to the grave political risk that such a forward policy

could give credsnce to the apprehensions already felt by Britain s allies

A\l

of her insatiable apcetite for more colonies.

21 7
b3
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[Malta is) the object for which the war had commenced,_and on which:
cur consequence in Turkey, and our influence . in the Mediterranean,
and the security of our Indian Empire so obviously depend ... I must-
change my opinions very radically before I shall be the person to
sign a Treaty of Peace by which:‘Malta is placed in the Hands.of any

other Power.
’ - Lord Mulgravg f1)

Neither Britain nor Russia understood each other § concerns about Malta,
and this mutual misunderstanding strained and prolonged the neéotiationé
for_g‘new-coéli{ion in 1804-5. The tear had;alwéys been equivocal about
Malta, and wheﬁ VHE demanded .its evacuation in Epe interests of peéce;
_ Britain was suspicious because she feared that he might have designs on

IS

the Ottoman Empire no less worrisome than those of France. As a fesUlt_

the Fbreign Secretary, Lord Mulgrave, would not budge oniithe issue of

Malta, and the coalition negotiations almost collapsed.. It was eventually

formed because the tsar's fear of France transcended his annoyance with..

Britain. Although her posses¢lon of .Malta still irritated him, he chose
fo remain silent on the issue, ahd in iBOG, Britain’s occupétion of Sicily
replaced the retention of Malta as the main obstacle to é_setflement. In
Januaryv1807, Russia suggested a plan for the deployment of naval forces
in the MedPterranean that tacitly écknowledged Britain’s right to Malta,
but the, latte£ ﬁo loﬁger truséed Russia, and refused ,to; éonsider it.

Russla came to terms with France at Tilsit in July * because she felt

abandoned and'abused'by'her ally, though Britain s possession cf Malta did

not influence this deciiion directly. After Malta ceased to be a major
diplomatic issue, it assumed a new economic diméension with its trade
flourishing in defiance of the Continertal System. Ball s last years were

spent promoting this trade at the cost of a politicé{ rivalry that wore

&
& Ty
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him out. When he died .in 1809, he believed that Malta had proved its

commercial value. However, the economic upsurge was soon shown to have

-

been largely illusory. This was because it had been too dependent upon

the artificial bolitical conditibns that héd created it. -

, o | v - Q\)
h§ fhe.Peace of Amiéné was collapsing% Count  Simon Vorqntéov, the Russian
ambassador in Londpn, ~offered fo mediate with Bonaparte on Britaiﬁ'é

) . A N\ ~ \
behalf, but Lord Hawkesbury peyemptorily brushed off the offer. Viscount

,Cgstlereagh, the Preéidept of the Board of Control, cautioned the Cabinet,

on 19 August, not fo reject'these proposals. He stresced .the importance
of preserving . Russia’s goqdwrlf'bsincé the aite#native would lead to
diplomatic isdlation. In ordérfo prevent this,»Britain needed td make a
Ftrong caéé for her resumption of hostilities. Claiming thatiéhe issue of

war or peace had _hung on- the retention of Malta would not suffice. His

solution was to offer a compromise that,/ if accepted,.woul& have improvéd

Britain’s position on the Continent, but, if rejected,. would have allowed

her to kegp Malta while s?ving face with Russia. Castlereagh’s suggqstion
entailed the demand for an équivalent base in the Meaiferranéan a; the
price for giving up Malta; but sincevevery other island was inferior fo it
as a base, Britain would .be justified -in also ;gxpecting a better
territo;ial arrangement on the Céntiﬁegt. He had no illusions that—the
Erench would accept such a compromise. He told the Foreign Secpetary that
it was "so unlikely t& be conceded by tﬁe French as to be brought forward
as to cover our real design of retaining Malfa".[2] The true pﬁrpoge of
such an offer waé to maintain the ‘goodwill df Rusaia,'and those other
countries with which Britain wished . to forﬁ an ailiancé.V Although

disregarded at thg time, his prOposal would re-surface twoqyééré 15ter, to
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act as<the'catalyst:that:would help to overcome Russia’s misgivinge.
By May 1804, the Addington adninistration had _lost the confidence

" of the ma fority in parliament and was replaced ;by a new government headed .
| by éitt. 'Addington’s opponents: put much‘of‘the ‘blame for his defeat on
thesinability of his government to come. to terms with Russia and ‘they
cited the improved relations after Pitt had resumed office to substantiate
this contention. In truth, Britain 5 raporochement w1th the Court of St.
Petersburgqhad more to.do with the deteriorating relations between France
,and:Russia than it did with- the successu of any new initiative launched by A
éitt. The tsar was receiving a number of alarming reports ©on the
activities of Frenchmenwin the _Ottoman‘Empire)"France also continued to

act aggressively on the Continent, exemplified by the seizure of the Due—

»'&“.rr

d Enghien on neutral territory, and -his subsgauent execution.[3)

Alexander therefore decided . to shelve his differences with Britain who

@

unwisely interpreted his gesture to mean that such™ differences had never%éﬁ‘
been important. Indeed, the proposals made_ by Britain in June 1804 set'” o
out cqnditions that could not help.'but re-kindle the tsarfs suspicions.
The FOreign‘SeCretany,~ Lord.Harrowby, asserted that if a new coalition
" were formed, . no pecuniary subsidies would be forthcoming before the allies
hadsfirst initiated some positive military action and he compounded ~his
" error by not making any mention of a British force' to. be used in
conjunction with the Russians in southern“Europe, a point upon \which the
tsar was particularly sensitive.[4] To Alexander, these conditions
’sounded as if the British were trying to shift the burden of the fighting”
on to their allies as they had done during the war of the Second -

. Coalition. Moreover, Britain's ambasesador at St.Petersburg blithely

re-affirmed "the impolicy and imposeibility of giving up Malta".[5])
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'Clearly, the new administration was following in the footsteps of the old

' and doing very little to alleviate the suspicions that Russia had ‘hursed
since the breakdown of the Treaty of Amiens. |
One of the greatest sources of‘misunderstanding between Russia and

Britain dur1ng the Third Coalition negotiations was the mission to- London
_in the latter part of” '1804, of a Russian emissary Nicholas NOVOsiltsev.

The fask - his government had .set was daunting, as he -was expected to
establish not only the common war aims of the allies, but also *their

agreement oy the eventual re-settlement of Europe . -Because his -mandate

was unrealistic, he had been instructed to be vague, and to avoid openly
«g A - : R
discussing the differences t%at existed _between the two states.[6] He

7 professed that they had a common. purpose in protecting the Ottoman Empire

gggﬁowever after listening to him, the British ministers were unsure of his

-% sincerity, since he repeatedly gave the impression that it might-be’better
to dismember this empireurather'than to bolster 1t. Despite his denials,

v the 1nnuendos underlying his words. continued to cast a shadaw on Russia‘slf
credibility. 7
In ;the midst of the talks, Harrowby suffered a bad f&ll during an °
epileptic seiaure, and had to be. replaced by Lord Mulgrave. .Pitt chose
“Mulgrave because‘he felt the latter could be easily manipulated; and most
of the new Foreign Secretary's colleagues took;it'rfor granted that he was
not really up to the job. Edward Ingrami howevei, suggests that Mulgrave

,was a better Foreign Secretary than has been acknowledged especially when

it came to stiffening the Prime Minister” 8 resolve during the negotiations - ——
with Russia.[7] Mulgrave followed _in Dundas’s footsteps by - advocating a
maritime rather than a Continental approach to the war. Gen-rzlly he putjnu'

little faith in Continental allies, and was particularly su:plciocus of
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Russia. 1In keeping. with sﬁch} an approach;:he'believgdA;thétg{Qing/gp
‘Malta was too high.a price to . y, either for an;_unstablé peace with o
France, or for a ﬁew élliancef'with Russia. In a cé?inéﬁ meetihg on 14 |
‘ Dgéember, the Prime Minister'ééked his éolleaggés for their comments.oﬁ -
the‘orgaﬁizaéion énd aims»of a new coalition in grder toAprébaré a pblidy! '
staéement thét'would be”présented_to Novosiltsev. Mulgrave ;ubmitteé ‘a
detéiled report on the following 'day'which confained -his v?by] definité

views about Malta. In assessing its value as an_"object of negotiétion", -

he asserted: -

Perhaps Malta might by some be brought under the second _Head, as
facilitating the offensive operations of a British fleet in the
Mediterrapean. I am disposed .rather to think it -essentially, only
defensive with us, as covering Egypt and through Egypt the East
Indies; held by France it is in every point of view an of fensive

Post. (8] ‘ o

It was a logical corollary to this view of the baéically defensive nature

A

of Britain’s possession of Malta that such possession codld‘not'thérefore

. be regarded ag a legitimate cause for alarm by either France or Russia. -

On January 19, Mulgrave sent the Russian ambassador a proposal for -
the formation of a new coalition. The views expressed .in this document ¢
closely paralleled those found in his earlier ietter to Pitt with one.

notable exception - nowhere is there any mention of Malta.[9] Novosiltsev -

had not once brought up this thé}ny subject during his discussions with

the British, and Mulgrave, no doubt restrained by Pitt, had . decided thét

it was best to leave well en;ugh alone, and noéd;ention it himself. Aftér

reading the Britiéh proposal, both VoronE;ov and Novosiltsev accepted it

as being entirely consistent with the intentions ofﬁthe tsar, and the

latfer'retﬁfned'to_St;Petérsburg shortly thereafter, fecling, as _aid the
|

Brit!sh min.sters, th&t his mis:ion had been a success. Unfortunately,

neither the tsar nor the ’Russian government agre=d with him; the Russian

"5
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Foreign Minister, Prince Adam Czaptbryski} claimed ‘that the mission -had———

failed because of the haughty refusal of Britain to evacuate'Maifa,lloj_

fItVSeems that in his eagerness to come to terms with the"aritish‘

-

Novosiltsev had not discussed _the one point upon which theraﬁﬂwaé
subst%ﬁ}ié? disagreement.~ He was mot uentireiy to bléme,ghow vef,'as his
instructions had Specific511y cautioned him to énly higt at this sub ject”
> ‘. . ' ' .

until the British ‘themselveé first  brought if up. Given lsuch a vague
fhjunction-and his inexperience, -he could éasli; have assumed that Malta
was of ﬁinor ipborfance:to ‘hiS;governmént, aﬁd since the British had not
themselves mentioned it, he probably also a?sumed that they too would not

make troublefover\ it. The . tsar had been réceiying reports from London

that the new government was ho more firmly based than the old; Pitt wouldi

vthérefore have great difffculty iﬁ defying the parliamentary opposition by

refusing to make peace on reasonable terms.[11] Alexander pref.rred a

negotiated settlement to a protracted war in which Russia would have to do

" most of the fighting, and the tsar’s negative reaction to Novosiltsev s

7 .

report was ‘less ‘an attempt  to bring preséure than it was a way ‘of
persuading the British to,accept this preférence, even 1if fhe bprice of
such a negotiated settlement were the evacuation of Malta.[12)]

When the Third Coalition documents were‘published in 1904, their
edifz;,_John Holland 1Ro;é, omitted most of the despatches concerning

Greece and the Eastern Mediterranean while retaining those that dealt with

1

Malta.[13] As a result, the role of Malta in the ncgotiations stande out
in the published'version far more than it does when the original documents
are considered as a whole. From this observation, Ghorbal, who closely

’ .

studied the omitted letters, concludes that Malta's role in the formation

of the coalition was minor compared with that of the Ottoman Empire.[14]

D
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does not necessarily mean that 'ﬁalta's role was minimal. :Ihdeed,t

. Britéin's cdn;iﬁuéd occupation of Malta served ,notice to all fhétv a
partition of Ottoman territofy would not be tolefatéd.ﬁ On the other hand,
- Russia regarded Ma;ta as é measure of Britain’s sincerity; and- worried
that she might af?empt td .grab even more territory in the Mediterr;néan.
AppreHension of the collapse of Turkey may- have‘beenvthe éain caﬁse of fhe
‘mistrust that existed between the two‘states, but Britain‘s possession of
‘Malta was the potent symbol of this mistrust. -

The British government remained ignorant of the mi§givings)fe1£ by

Russia. On 21 January, belileving that Novosiltsev s mission had been

subcessful, Mulgrave submitteg’- to the British"Ambassador' at ~ St.

Petersburg, Lord Granville.Leveébn Gower, a draft treaty that he-expected :

. ) . ,r\
Russia to ratify with only‘mimor alterations. His confidence.in this
respect can be deduced _ffom the fact that Gower was given fdll

discretionary power tsr conklude,the treaty.f15) Since Malta was not

mentioned, either in the covlering lettef, of in the draft proposal itself,.

it can Be assumed that Ngvosiltsev's rgtibenﬁe had _left Mulgrave with the
impression that ﬂussia would ,ﬁowx ta;itly concede. posseéeion of it to
Britain. Indeed,;he did not become :éwaré oerussia's displeasure until
the beginning of March, when Gower informed him that the draft treaty had

been received in a "cold manner", and he learned why the Russians were

upset only when tihe=f&een pr Naples provided him with a copy of a despatch
written by her ambassador at St. Petersburg in which Russia’s suzpicions

were ladd out in full ) detail.{16] The Neapolitan ambassador had written -

that the tsar was worried .that Britain wanted to“inyolve -the Contihental

powers in a war in order to have a free hand 1in the Mediterranean.

117
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It cannot be denied that Turkey was the more important concern, but this
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Alexander suspected ‘that Malta would be used as a spring board from thcﬁ

to seize Sicily under the pretext of protecting Malta itself. With these

two islands in her possession, Britain would then be able to control all

the shipping in the ~Mediterranean. ‘Mulgrave was _aétbnished by this
“revelation, especiélly since he was then in-the process of oganizing a
- small fofce undér General Crailg to be sent to Malta to act in conjunction

with the Russians at Corfu. He tried to fepair the damage by changiné

~

Craig’s orders such that a seizure of Sicily was made contingent uppn

Russia’s prior consent, but his belated alterations did little to assuage
. Ce ~N ~ ’ .

' the tsar’s basic suzpicions.[17]

Russia finally broached the subjecf of Malta in .March. Gower was

informed that the tsar expected  Britain to give up the island if this

would help to bring about a negotiated -peace. Even more 1nbréd1bly,
Russia also wanted Britain to revise her Maritime‘Code, and subordinate
her Meéiterranean force to a Russian commander. Gower naively believed
that, ;here the very formation of the coalition was at stake, these iscues
were but "points of minor importance" and, on 11 April, he exercised the
discfetionary ﬁower given him by the Cabinet to conclude.a treaty with
Ruésia.[lal Aithough he dig mgnage. to get Russia to drop stheitwo latter
demands; Article X of this treaty pledged:Britain t; evacﬁéte Malta,‘if
Bonaparte made this condition a sine qua non of peace. If this proved to
be fhe case, Russia would garrison the island and guzr ntee its securityf
Russia wanted this arraﬁgement to léad to a settlement joihtly agreed by”
the Sicilian king and the Order of St. John, but Gower insisted that
nothing th done that was not amenable to the island’s inhabitants. (1]
Gower tried to head- off criticism of his imprudent action by

>

claiming tha: Article X was provisional on the Cabinct’s  rubrequent

\

N
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approval.[20] The tsar asserted,.however, that his asceptance of Gower s

amendments was such a majof compromise that he would #Hot ratify the treéty

if the British government-rgjected -thig provision. Gower could see no
‘reason why thé&nwould do’ this, and he wrote to the Prime Minister:
Upén the question of Malta, he [Novosiltsev] ascured .me that you

said to him, "trouvez nous le moyen dc.le rendre neutre et nous
serons contents', and it was this assurance that induced me to agree

to any mention of Malta [21)

He went on to explain that Russia had _refused fo agree to a greaty that

omitted the Malta provision because she claimed to have previously, pledged .

herself to such a condition with»-the Court of Vienna. Apart from this
exception, Gower argued, .the tréaty conformed to the spirit of Mulgrave s
draft version, and,* in his opinion, Malta was too "frivolous" an issue
over which to risk the  collapse of the negotiations.[22]  Shortly

thereafter, Gower reported _that Russia was beginning to have second

thoughts about the treaty. It had just received .a lukewarm reaction from

Austria, xﬂ% Czartoryski was now claiming that, if he had .known this

beforehand, the Malta article would have been uncondltlonally insisted. .

upon. [23) *

Mulgrave was extremely angry when he learned that the treaty Gower

had concluded sanctioned the evacuation of Malta.[éd] For him, Malta was

Just too iﬁportant' to Britain’s position in the»Meditefranean to be
bartered away, no matter how favourablé an agreement, in other respects,
had been reached. His strident tone had a profound affect on the Russian
ambaseador who warned'his government that the coalition was being put in
jeJLardy by Russia’s insistence on the Malta provision. ' To Czartoryski,
he wrote:

IfyJord G.ﬁ.Gower had agreed to the evacuxtion of Maltz, énd the new

Maritime Code ... his actions would certainly have not been ratified
here ... TFhe Contine:rt will be c¢nslaved, and this country will
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either}make‘peace by Christmas, and keep Malta, or will ‘dchfinﬁé'éhrmw
defensive war which ,g;;l%cost it 1ittle in money, and which will

" preserve the rock which is the cause of all _ existing.
difficulties.[25% o : R

Vorontsov knew the weak link on the British side.was nat Mulgrave, but the
Prime Minister, and conjectured _thaﬁ Pitt}rinfluenced‘by HarroQby, would
probably have accepted a compromise over Malta hqd not Mulgravevthreateﬁﬂd
to resign over the i5sue.[26]w ' |

Pitt wrote to Admiral Keith on 21 May asking his advice on the
relative merits of other°possi§le island bases in fhe\pediterancan.‘ The
admiral replied  that Malta had ? equal. He adduced this tdr.its
fofzzfications, which Were‘impossi“ e to invest with énything less¢than a
force that woulq be ‘too large to pfovisionA itself on the island’s ééant
natural resources-{27] ﬁeelihg that the coalition was. slipping from his
grasp, Pitt took fright, and despite such . advice, began to consider
- alternatives to Malta. Mulgrave knew _tha% he had:to do sométhing to
preveht the Prime Minister from committing himselfvto one .of thése. At
the beginning of June, he suggested a éolution thét sounded ver& mych like
the proposal Caéflereagh had made.two years before in which Brita%n would
agree to evacuate Malta and allow the Ruseians to garrison-it’gﬁper a set
of precisely defined conditions. Firstly, Britain would fécéive 'Minorca_
as compensation, but since the latter was clearly inferigr tp Malta,

Mulgfave insisted that Britain’s evacuationAshould'not be Ca;ried out for
three ysars so as foi have time+to fortify Minorca. Some prdv{szon would
also have to be made for a civil administration atqﬁyalté th:t was.
cémpqﬁible with the wishes of -the inhabitants. IFurthermore, Britain quld
be justified in demanding an improvement _in the status of those cmaller
European statesrcurreﬁtly dominated b& France; before she would evacu:te

i

Malta these would have to be '"placed in a situation to repel the hostile

o



121

attacks of France".ﬁfﬁff It was highly unlikely that Bonaparte would have —

accepted this last‘conditidh,”buf Mulgrave ®s compromise propbsalrwas being
made.for the bénefit -of Russia, not france. If the lattef rejectéd’ it,
Britain would be justified in keeping Malta, which waé Mulgrave s real
intentioq. ~

On 7 June, Pitt wrote to No;osiltsgv who was at Berlin éQaitiné
instructiogs to pfoceed _to Paris for exploratory peace télks. Pitt
regfetted that the twq statés had p?eviousiy misunderstood each other so
profoundly, and claimed it wés thefefdre necessary fo”‘spell oﬁ; Britain’s
terms-as precisely as possibie. " He wroté ‘that Malta® would .only be:

evacuzted after there had been made:

An arrangement really satisfactory on the = Continent, and
particularly adequate Barriers both for Italy and for Holland, and
if we could _obtain the only substitute for Malta which we ‘think
could at all answer the purpose [Minorcal, ... but on any other
ground the sacrifice’ is one to which. We cannot feel. ourselves
justified to consent.[29] :

In conclusion, Pitt hoped that Russia would understand .why Britain had .

refused to ratify the Malta provision, and would be satisfied with this

compromise.

2

The comprOmiée proposal was greeted 4with liftle enthusiasm by
Russia. Czartoryski~told Gower that his government had not expected fhe
rejection of the Malta brovision; howé;er,‘Russia ha; _just learned of the
ahnexa?ion of Genoa and the Ligﬁrian Republic \py France, and was, in
cbnsequenqe, not now sending Novosiltsev to Paris. Gower argued that the
implemcntation of Article X " had deponded on the prior éommencement ‘of
peace talks and this development 'rendered it void.[30] Russia finally
gave in, less because the had accepted Gower s logic, than because of hef

- - . ’ N ,
desire to check France s aggresrive actions on the Contine:t.(31] On 28

July, she ratified the April treaty with the Maltz provision omitzed, but

/
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insisted upon attachiné a protocol that formally set .- out her»gfievance"on"‘;;*;

this point.[32] Austria did not join the coalition until the next month.

She had remained indifferent to the question of Malta throughout . and had’
held out longer-than Russia, walting forrthe latter to make the fi}st’move

while hoping that Britain would .increase the»sizeéBf ‘the subsgidy she Qés‘
promising fo pay.[33] > | |

‘ | II

After the formation of the Third .Coalition, , Alexander did .not again

éomplainrabout Britain’s posses&idn’of Malta; there were more pressing

prob{gms that needed to be dealt with. In . November 1805, Harrowby waé

sent to Berlin to persuade. Prussia to. join ‘the. coalition. ' As an

inducément;'he pledged .Britain to a postjwa?féxacuatipn of all  wartime

: “w, '
acquisitions except Malta and the Cape.- Both the Prussian and the Russian

negotiators now accepted .that these places were essential to Britain's

éecuritY. and would not have to be put on the bargaining table.[34]

However, the talks collapsed after Russia offered Hanover to Prussia

i *

without first consulting Britain.
- Britain and Ruseia were also having a difficult time co-operating

in the Mediterranean. After the two had linked up for-a landing at Nuaples

“on 20 November, they were unable to agree on a joint %strategy.[35]

Bonaparte s victory at Austerlitz in December obviated the necd to do 50.

7 The position of the Anglo-Russian force 1in southern Italy then became

untenable, and it was fbrced to'withdraw.% The Russians returned to Corfu,

" from where they initiated a camp?ign to secure the Daimatiaq;coast, while

‘Craig used the British con%ingent to seize Sicily at the beginning of

February 1806, thérgby-confirming the tsar s deepést surpicion. Orce in

control of Sicily, the stratégic value of Malta decreascd; however,



support for the despised Bourbon rulers.[37]

Y

Britain never seriously_cdﬁsidered keebinglgﬁé'former—as a permanent base.

Firstly, she did not have a free hand there as the Neapdlifan»foyalefaﬁiiyir

had taken up residence at Palermo aftersfleeing their capital,l36]~fAnyj'ﬂ
s . ) < ) . ) !
attempt by Britain to keep Sicily would‘_have triggered .a colossal
. . . 3 S
international protest that would have made.the row over Malta ~seem mild.-

~-Furthermore, the island 'was too large and would require- a prohibitively .

expensive garrféon. ‘Unlike the Maltese, the Sicilians could .not be

. counted: on to.defend their own island because of Britain's continued

" Pitt died on January 23, and two weeks 1afer a new adminisfration,
dubbed the “MiniStry of all the Talehts"; came to power with Grenville as
Prime Minister and Fox as Foreign Sécrétary. Thé latter had previously
led théraﬁti-war opposition in parliament, and one -of hi§ first priorities
as Foreign Secretary was‘to initiate a new round éf peace talks. lIn the

4

past, Fox had criticized the Addington government for not sacrificing -

" Malta in the ‘interest of peace. He found himself faced with a similar

cholce in the summer of 1806, only now the issue was giving up Sicily, not

‘Malta. Indeed, Napoleon wanted the British out of the ﬂormer badly enough'

i

to propose a reciprocal agreement whereby Britain's possescion of Malta
. . . Fal

would be recognized in exchange for Siclly.. Pierre Coquélle believes this
proposal had been originally made.by Britain, but his confention has been
disproved by E.M. Lloyd.[38] In reality, Napoleon wanted his brother,

Joseph, who recently had been made.kihg of the truncated Neapolitan state,

*

to regain all of ‘the traditional territories that had constituted . the

3

Kingdom of the Two Sicllies. To sweeten his offer, he asserted that,

"L Empercur des Frangals renounce pour 1lui [Joseph! & tout droit de

~.

lissouvgqﬂinctf _t autre sur Malte".[39] This would have had the effect .of

N
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legally ending the tie® that had existed between aita and Sicliy.Abut in

return\\he expected Brltain to" agree in a secret artlcle ' to‘compehsato,

-—

the Knights with pensions.,.‘j_ﬁ‘“ir.r | | | i

RUSSla s main-aim in“these talks was to keep France out of the
“,~Ottoman Empire and ’she'waéf{willing to let her have botni;Sardinia and

Sicily to achieve it.  In compensation, Czartoryski insiuted .-that Russia

keepﬁCattaro, and Britain Malta.(40) However, Fox knew he could never

agree to give up fSicily, since tbgf would have becn tantumbunt to

neutralizing Malta's effectiveness in pbevent;ng . another ~ eastern

[

expedition by France. As a; result, the peace talks were doomed from the

very beginning._‘fFoxtrreflized he would have to make some sort of a

comprbmise‘in'order not toralieqate Russia. He ther. fore offered to give
up Sicily in'exchénge for Minofé&;jhd<Sardinia in dddition to Malta. With

these three bases outflenking the Frenbh)in Sicily, he envieaged putting

&2 . , - . o : x

t , . : :
.into operation a plan similar.to one that Ball had once submitted, whercby

Malta would .be usedfeas ‘the‘bese for a large mobile force that could
quickly be transported .to any ‘necessary trouble spot,fal] Indeed, 'the
increasing number of troops that were Statiéned on the island ‘after 1806
woule indicete that this plan was put into action.[42j Fox.had meant his
compromise to be something of a blUff, and was not surprised when ﬁapoleon
rejected it. The latter 5] sincerity was also questionable hewever, ae ne
_tried to usée the diSCU"SionS to play theiEJ;sians of f aﬂ¢inst tne British.
In this sense, the peace talks only eerved to underecore the=’lcvc1 of
mistrest;that had eiways existed betwecn the two.  The Russian negotiator,
Peter d'Oubril, was 5o dismayed .by Britain's intransigence over Sicily

that he igned a separ.te treaty with P%gnce. Alexander immediately

disavgwed the treaty, but ther:s could be no doubt that RUsria nd Britain
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no longer trusted one,anothérl[dsj Britain feared that - the tsar -might— -

still agreegto a bilatéral treafy if the éuid bro qué were sﬁff;qieﬁtly 77  
tantalizihg; while Alexander felt that Britain was acting in a d;plicitoué
manner .over Sicily, and could _not-.help but:thin§)thaf*_she had previously.
used a simélér technique to establish her poseesaion of Mglta{ ‘
Fox died shortly after the peace’ taiks Wefe terminatedf;n fhéi
autumn of 1806, and ihis successor, Lord'.Howick, was even less
. accommodating to Russia. Agzarto£yski was replaced at about the same time
by Genepal Andrei Budberg, an individual whb was also more intrapsigent.
Elmo‘Roaéh syfcestg that the bollapse of the Third Coalition had as mucﬁ
!to do. with: the inaxility of Bfitéin‘ and éussia fo cq—operate in'&féz//
Meditérranean as it did with Bonapqrte'g striking miiitary successes.[44]
In january'1867, Budbé;g admitted that_fhe allies did not co-opergﬁe vefy
effectively in'the'Mediterranean,'and . he proposed dividing up the allied
command ‘there. Russia wouldr;augment its. forces at Corfu, ahd\ be
réSponsible for the areéJZasf of the Ifalian péniﬁsula while the British
squadron at Malta would patrol - the western basin. He also wanted the
right to draw on British navai stores gkep;t at Malta. These prbpéséls
_contained his .countryfs "first official " mention of Malta since - the
formation\of the'Third Coalition, ‘and they can be interpreted ;éé;é'tacit .
recogﬁition by‘Russia. of Britain’s righg to the‘island.: Even so, the
British‘rejected Budberg s EUggestion in a manner that was less than
polite. Howick plainly stated that Russia s naVal forces were not up to
fulfilling the task ‘they prOposed.; In any case, he did not &rustvthém in
~ the eastern Mediterranean, and British naval squadrons would -continue to

cruise in the Levant as much to 'monitor the Russians as the French.

Budberg s request for a share of naval sBtores was rejccted on the grounds
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‘that Russia had not previouslyvmade-an effort to deveidpwher‘dwhfdégsts on
the Ionian ' Islands.{45] »Thereaftér,‘ thef»tsar“ found .his ,>treatyb
 fesponsibi1it1es to Britain . increasingly more 'oneroﬁs beﬁahse of his
feeiing that'Brifain was more goncerneg with furthering her.sélf-intereet
than with helping her ally. Aléxander's eventual loss of faith in Britain
.cohtributed as mﬁch to tﬁe conclusion of the Treaty of Tilsit with France
in’July'1807"‘as did Bonaparte's victory’at? Friedland. The questioﬁ éf
Maltd had not.directlylinfluended _the tsar’s decision, though for him it
remained a symbol of Britain'§ insincefity. :
| rr

Napoleon had first declared‘his Continental System in November 1806,
hobing*to stop British goods: from entering Europe. Before the Treaty of
Tilsit_.h0wever, such goolis.had _continued to enter Jia Russia; ‘after it,
the Continental System ™ had a chance . of becoming effecti&e.de] From

Britain s point of view, Malta now became more important than ever as one

e ——

of a series of entrepots close to the Continent from which goods: could be "

smuggled.. Thus, the years after 1807 were extremely prosperous for the
island’s economy. Hoxevér, no one .in the British government ever
seriously considered .that commerce alone was a good .enough reason for

keeping Malta. The post-Tilsit boom, while useful to Britain's war

effort, did little real damage to France, and despite the existence of a

strong lobby that advocated ‘Malta’s trade. potential, . the government |

continued to regard the boom as a temporary aberration that would correct

§

itself after the war.

The attempt to improve the island’s econcmy was the main concern

of Alexander Ball during his last years at Malti. It was not a's

particularly satisfying time as most of his efforts in this respect got
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'#:iﬁggicably,bound up with his personal feud with William Eton. Eton had

been named Superintendent of Quarantine at Malta by'Béiljgﬂﬁﬁfedééééséf:i

Charles Cameron. Cameron was a‘malleable man and Eton soon becamé the

real power on the island. He had formerly beén a trader with connections

the Turkish Empire. Eton had .also becl® employed as -a spy tp gather

intelligence about the activitles of the Order, first by Russia, then by
Britain.[47] After Ball left Malta in‘1801, Eton had taken his place in

the affections of the Maltese by supporting their. right to a

<

Yrepresentativéjassembly.

‘Both men . advocated the development of VMalta‘sn commercial
potential. Ball s advocacy, -however, did not‘:make hin a friend of free

;xade. Indeed, his most valued _princiblerf public finance wgs inimical

. _ , , -
to it. This was because of his overriding concern that Malta should pay

for itself, a goal that could .not . be achieved .without the revenue

lgenarated from trade duties. Similarly; he had always opposed any attempt

to make Malta o repository of patronage. Except for the Civil '’

fommissioner and tﬁe Public Secretary, the c¢ivil administfation was

Maltese. He claimed that this system was no? only cheaper, but also had .

the advantage of keeping the inhabitants loyal.{48] Ball had been agzinst

making ‘Malta o free port in 1801_ and had _argued that the government;s

decision had been overly influenced by Eton who carried on a substantial.

private trade ther:.[49] When he returned in'1803, he abolished the free

trade status, thercby becoming persona non grata with the local ﬁerchanfs.

In Fgbruary 1803, Malta’é “merchants cdmplained to London -in a

\ -
"Memorial" translited from the Italian by Eton. They argued that,

deprived-of its fre. trade st&;us,,\the islarid misced . the opportunity of

«
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becoming thefrhdb "of the trade of the Levant and 211 of ““the

betweeﬁwfﬁé“*eastern ‘and western basins. Cargoes 'cdming_'from.;eéthar

}

dffection would be off-loaded and stored there. The advént&gé of this lay

in the time saved by ships being able to pick up vre-fumigated cargoeau>

from the Levant without having to undergo quargntine. A mcfchnnt by the.

name of John Jackson elaborated on these ideaE; in 1804, in a  book

S

~entitled Reflections_on the Commerce of the Mediterranean.  Jackson noted

»

that.most of the tradéfin the-area wag done by'small ships that cdrfied on
a coasting trade. It was totally inefficient to gefnploy the larger
Atlantic éhipS'in such a manner because of the delays in@olved'in gétting
a full cargo. Britain's Mediterranean trade bal.nce was currently

unfavourable, but, by using Malta as a storehouse wher: the larger ships

could QUickly load up, this trend could be reversed. Britain would then be

~ able to take advantage'of the coasting trade by having the‘smallef ships

déposit their cargoes in one of Malta’'s --many warehouses for later |

trans-shipment. [51]
Eton believed that Britain could improve her relations with Russria
by establishing a mutually lucrative trade. in the Black Sea. Indeud, 'he

claimed to be on close terms with the Russian chancellor who had told him

that such an inducement would overcome the tsar’s objections to Britain e

keeping Malta.[52] Ball was équally enthusiastic about-buying grain from

southern Russia. Maltz s main étrategic disadvuntige had clweys been its
inébility to feed itself, and Ball was convinced tHAt the develapment of

trade;with the Black‘ Sea would solve this problem. _This trade also had

“

theﬁpotenfial of adding. to public revenues since Ball had not ;elinquished

2

the Order s monopoly over the importation und distributinn of wr:in. FEton

Y

Mediterranean".[50] These merchants envisaged Malta as & great entrepdt ——
) s . ‘ . ‘-_? -
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arrived in Odessa 1in the spring of 1804 where he found 1hihsélfwguying
grain in competition with an agent sent by ..Ball. Being -an eXperiehced 

merchant, Eton knew what to buy while Ball's agent, who did not, purchased

a large quantity of cheap soft wheat that’easily . rotted. Later,- Eton

o

accused Ball of incompetence, but Ball maintzained .that he had .made a

sizeable profit for the government on his imported corn.[53])

N

N ] R . .
Eton was so annoyed by Ball’'s attempt to undercut his efforts in

‘ southern Russia that he returned -directly to England at the beginning of

1805. Once fhere, he wag more of a 'threa%’%o Ball than he had been in

Malta. He carried ‘on a correspondence in cypher "with his Maltese

conspirators, and accumulated informgation which was used.by Cobbett :and -

his friends to blacken Ball s reputation. Ball was accused of being both

corrupt and a tyrant. Eton claimed that Britain had promised the Maltese

a popular assembly, and that Ball denied -this and ruled without regard to
the fcelings of the‘inhabitants.f54] Such a charge was preposterous, as

no Britlish government would have agreed -to a representative assembly at

parts beginhing in 1803. Hardman claims that the government held up the

L S —— .
publication of this book until 1807, but is incorrect on this detaill.[55]

Ball defended himself agqinst the charges of corruption in a  ninety-six
page letter in which he protested his innocence a little too much.[56]

Ball was not a notably corrupt individual, but there was enough sloppiness

in his finaucial statementr to allow for gome degrez of peculation, and

his resentment tpwards’Qhat he always regarded as ungrateful governments
would have servod him as a psychological Jjustification.([57])

Malta’'s frec -trade status was restored in 1806, but the merchants

Ny

-
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still complained thét the CivilpCpmmissioner'; imposts fof Ege u;erofréﬁérr
harbour and thg.lazarettb were too high. They>claimed fhat the iéland was
not competitive -with Gibraltar, the otper-British }ree éé;f. inb,thé
Mediterrénean.!Sé]. Ball kﬁew théf laxness at Gibraltar had often led to
outbreaks of disease, but he also‘knew tha{ he had few friénds in
ggvernment, and would. have  to compromise. He Ead been a éteadfﬁst-
sgpporter'of Pitt, but the 1latter was dead,. and Hobart, previously his
main conduit to the government, wés Sut‘ofﬁ‘office:fSQJ Thus Ball decided
to appease the merchants by abolishing the ballast duties and lowering th;
lazarettoﬂéharges. He did not budge, however, from thé strict enforcement
. of the quarantine regulaéions.[GO] ' ' | f

Irgnically. the "Ministry of all the Talents' would . probably have
replaced éall, but for the ministers not being able to decide.who should
- te givén‘the patrénage of -Malta.[61] When _Eﬁat‘shorfilived go?ernmenf
fell in March v1807, Ball found himself on firmer footing with Castlereagh,
who now became Minister for War and the Colonies. His condupf_was‘fully
investigated by the minister,.and in JAnuary 1808{ he was exonerated of
any wrong-doing.[62] Curioug;y, Eton ‘wés neither censured nor removed
from office for the ailegations which he had made, and would continQe to
make Sath impunity until.fiﬁally dismissed in 1811. Castlereagh tried t?
.purchase,Ball's acCeﬁ%ance of this state of affairs with a hefty pay rise.
He let Ball know that he was secure in bhis position ‘n Malta, and that
Eten”s lies were not believed. Héwever, Ball would have to be satisfied
Qith this because Eton knew too much, and had friendé who could embarr.ss
the government.[63] Castlereagh believed it was yigef to control-Eton by -

continuing to pay his salary as Malta s absentec Supcrinténdgnt  of

Quar -ntine than it was to remove him. However, the accusaticns,ugainﬁt‘

4

S
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Ball lingered on, and the stressz they produced in him probabiy éontributed )
to his premature death in 1809. '

In the summer of 1808, Castlereagh considered turning Messina into

the main emporium of Britain’s contraband trade. in the Mediterrahéan.
Ball once again found himself advocating the supefief*merits of Malta. He~&
argued that Messina l:ucked adequafegﬁdehousing and quarzntine facilitigs,’
and was not neafly as aecuré from attack as Malta.[64] However, he had to
admi£ that Messina'srproximity to the mainland made. it more convenient and -
safer for small boats to carry on smuggling operations, and he éuggested .
that this trade could Abe_mbst.efficientlyucontinued by using Malta as. a
depot from which to supply the smugglers.féS] Castlereagh accepted Ball's
. reasoning, and Malta retained 1ts status as the main British emporium. By

1869, Britain s coptrol of Mediterranean shipping had become complete. In

order. to be exempt from capture, all neutral vessels were obliged to sail

to Malta to obtain a licence; an Order—in—Council issued in March had made.
these relatively'easykfo obtain.[66]) With them, merchants were allowed to-
re-export goods.from Malta to‘any Meditefranean port that was riot actﬁglly
being blockéded, and no restriction was placed upon the use pf no::—-British
shipping. In the last months before his death, Ball felt that his
sponsorshié of ’the isiand's commercial potential had been vindicated.
Trade was . increasing, merchants flockéd .to the island, and many new

comnercial houses wers being established thers.[67]  When he died on

October <0, <Collingwood, his old . friend, wrote a - eulogy that was

particularly apt:

He cannot be replaced in Malta, nor |is thers a man in Engla~d |
qualified to govern the Maltese but himself. They <re all too little
or too gre~t. (58] .

' The voars after Bal. s death saw  the culminaticn of Maltz's
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economic prosperity. Even Napoleon sometimes violated his  own

restrictiohs, and authorized the sale of wheat and other agriculturel =

products from Italy to Malta.[69] Beginnidg'in December 1807, %he various
 American Embargo Acte contributed further to this upsurge because Britaln

now had to depend on substitutes from the Lovant for some of thG“StOppad

American goods. According to a contemporary observer, Valletta WAB

thronged with "a wvast feverishly active multitude intent on commercfal

- concerns and new enterprises', in which:

’
The Maltese congratulated themselves on the banishment of want from
the land of their birth; the foreigner benefitted by the hospitality
of the island where he could trade.in safety whilst the government
not only derived & considerable revenue from this general activity, .
but prided itself upon the prosperity of the inhabitants.[70]

Malta“s commercial sucdess did .not last. In May 1813, it was

sﬁddenly'curtailed by én outbreak of plague. . The impatience of Royal Navy
comma&éers and the contempt of smugglers had resulted in the relaxatioﬁ of
the isiand's quarantine regulations, making the outbreak almost
inevitable. At first, the medical authorities were lbéth " to name the
disease for fear it would disrupt the island’'s commerce. As a result, the
plague did more damage than it.Qould have, had preventative measures beun
taken sooner. It left the civilian treasury nearlyv bankrupt, and the new
Britich goverﬁor'was forced to 1impose epecial duties and higher taxecs to
increase the pubiic revenue. His measures. destroyed yh;t 1ittle remalned
of the island’s former prosperity.[71) Even so, 1t is unlikely that the
trade. boom would- have outlaéted the war, since Britiih merchants yould
héve then found 1t more> convenient and >cheaper tu  trade directl? ‘with
thei; suppliers and markets. Malta was and wobld remain primarily i
strétegic asset to Great Britain, and the short-lived nature of {ts

commercial prosperity had only served to underccore this point.

- . . | . | 132
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Magnae et invictae Britanniae
Melitensium amor et Europae vox
~ Has 1insulas confirmat, A.D. 1814 '
(To great and unconquered Britain, the love of the Maltese
people and the voice of Europe conflrmed these islands)
, - Inscription, now covered,_on the Main
Guard portico, Palace Square Valletta

——— T = I

When Ball digd in 1809 Malta had become a de_facto part of the British
Empire, but because of the .exigencies of war,(iég/British . government had

taken ﬁof official step to proclaim . this. There were tw§‘ main

considerati?ns in her not doing sc. . Firstly, while it was freely admitted -

that Ball's very personal,'sdme would say idiosyncratic, regime had been a

tempbrary expedient, the government had not yet given much thought to the

form a more permanent administrative structure should take. ‘Sécondly, the

war continued, .and despite the defeat of the Third Coaljtion, Britain knew

that Napoleon could :be defeated only on the Continént by a broad .based °

alliance. Any .premature incorporation of lcaptured colonies into the
;mpire would be viewed by the potential allies as British perfidy; and be
inimical to the cause of unity.- Fortuhately for Britain, the,possessibn

of Malta no longer raised the strong emotions it once had,.and in the six

years that led up to the conclusion of the war, she quietly consolidated

her position there, while at the same time preparing the way for the de

jure acceptance of this fact by the Continental powers.

' Britain's colonial ‘policy in the second half of the ‘eighteenth °

century had expericnced .the dual crises of "abdication to democracy' in
America, and corruption and misrule in India. In the period "that
followed, .she sought to establish principles of colonial ‘governhent that

avoided both #of these ¢xtremes. Practically speaking, this led .to a

rejsction of crown colenies with flexible political structures of
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-~imperial  scheme.* Although,the,:majority of its in%abitants' were regarded
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"ascending gradation" and :their replacement by more direct forms of

rule.[1)] Such’' thinking had .an important 'influence on  the way xBritaIH"'

.

would rule Malta. . Even so, the -island did .not fit heatly,,intoi the

1

- by the British as illiterate peasants, they were still bagically Europenn,

1

%e

and would have to be treated{mofe circumspectly than the coloured peoples

Ak

3

- of the Empire. .. The Maltese had demonstrated the furocity Ofrwhich they ~

were capable in 1798, after the French nad violated their religion. and

havihg themselves invited Britain to govern thevisland; they might prove
to se equally ’aé hot—bioddedi}if, the new fulers_ wer; too arbitrary.
Mqréover, a small but vocal group éf Maltese noblemen led by the Maédhesc
Testaferrata were attively lobbying in London for some sort = of
;epresentative government, and their ééuse was used by thé parliameﬁtary'

épposition to embarrass the government. Desbite these ponsiderationsj

Malta's primary value remained as a naval base. The British S$®vernment,_

therefore, asserted .that military concerns would .always have to take
precedence over civilian ones, from which: it followed that allowing the

1

inhabitants any séy in the running of the administration would be {1t
e;tablishing "a free press on the foredeck of an admiral’s flagship'.[2)
Furthermore, Malta laéked .any appreciable ccono&ic resourceslthat could
have altered .this situation in peacetime. Indecd, after the war, the
upkeep of thé island’s civilian and military éstablishmcnta threatencd to
become é drain on Britain’s owﬁ exchequers

In May 1812, Britain decided .to cetlablish a commizsion to  make
recommendations on Malta's_ fqture administrative  structure.[3)  Her

}
decision was closely timed to devclopments on the Continent. Hapoleon g

advised. The Duke of Wellington, at a somewhat laterAdate, likenud it to -



armies wefe in full rgfreaf, and at Orebo, Sweden, Britain sighédﬁa‘treaty
‘with Russia .in 'Jaly‘,thét became - the- basls — for é new coalition. ’
Signifiéantly, the tsar now declared .that he was no longer _interested in
seeling Malta restored to theJOraer of St.John;IA]r Alexander's deélaration
Hremoved -the ’gnlyy fea}ly; imporfént forelgn gbjeqtion »to Britain'é:
pésseszion of Méita, and paved the way for the’island's formal annexatioh:-u
The commissioners arrived in Malta aththe end _of June. fhe Prime

§

Minister\had informed them that the Maltese were to have "as large a share
of civil liberty as is consistent with the military circumsténces";
‘however, such a concession was father empty b?caUSe the same deépgtch'
rébeatedly stressed that the military authority must always supercede:the
civil government and be free from all restraint.[5] By August, the
commissioners had finished their task. Their report was reflective of the
imperial ethos of the time, a%d:,rejected'_the idea of a '"Consiglié
’ Poﬁolare", or any other reéresentativef institution. ~Inv thisp' vthe
commissioners were not oniy'influenced by the military prerequisites of a
naval base, but also by the administrative nightmares such an assemblyﬁ?ad ’
al?g;dy,produced in Cgfsica:in 1794, and more recently in Sicily where
Lord William Bentinck had tried, unsuccessfully, to introduce' an "English
1Constitﬁtion".f6] The commissioners were quick' to stress that such ah”
aséembly would ndt'only weaken British au?hority, but would also not be ih
the interestg of the majority of the irhabitants, since it would :be
controlled by venal‘ aristocrats who would .use it to oppresé the peopls.
In their self—aséured paternalism, the commissioners ascerted that the
inhabitants of Malta wanted nothing more "than a- more intimate and

indissoluble unio. with Great Britain".[7) The only goncession to

democracy was the recomrendation tha: an prointed council be =stablished



on which handpicked ‘Maltese would .have some voice in the island s
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administration: E , : 7 - _—

"y

The Britishrgovepnmgnt objected to this suggestiéﬁ;faﬁd~»dgci@gg,y‘

I N v

\tﬁét the island’s government would be headed by a powerfﬁligoVbrnor who
would be thé head of both military and‘civil establishments. ggiﬁéﬁsté g;j%4
the paramount awthority on the i;lénd,ﬁan&‘would bey"limited conly Bj Eﬁe
orders of the King".fB] The;éetting up of én advisory council was left to

his discretion, and éven thén the touncil was not to be given the right to ‘;
vote. Thereafter, Malta cqqld be thought ,éf as a type of crowﬁ colony -
since-it remained sdbject'ta the pFerogative'of being legislated by Orders &g
in Council. Before 1850, however, it was usually refé:rcd to as a—;
'foreign dependancy" or 'possesszion', and .only after this date was the

term crown . colony  sometimes uged.[9]) Thus, the administrative system

finally decided on for Malta merely institutionalized the paternalism t&?t

Ball had originally envisaged.

After Russiafs declaration that it no longer objeptéd .to Britain
keeping Mglta, Castlereagh, who' had become Foreign Secretary, announced,
in December 1813, the policy‘Britain wogld<folldw'on the restoration of
hgf capturéd colonies. The'basic ‘aim of this policy was uimiyar'to that
sougﬁt‘auring the 1latter stages of the nggotiations at Amiéns. Britain
would consider her conquests as "objects of negotiation” only if a
permanent settlement could ’be achieved.. However, Malta ;nd o few‘bthar
stategic stronghclds.were now épecifically excludéd from those . colounies
that wer; negotiable. [10) When the.triumphant allies met in the French
‘capital in Ma} 1814, Castlerzagh Ead littlé difficulty in pérhuadiné them
to sanction Britaih's posserzion of Malta. Article VII of the Treaty of

Paris confirmed:
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The Island of Malta =nd its Depcndencies shall belong in. full rlght
dnd Sov(relgntj to His Brltannlc majesty f11)

"

The brev1ty of thlS artlcle ,compared to its counterpart in the Treaty of .
Amiens facitiyiwitnesaéd that Malta was no longer a maﬁzfr‘ of concern to

1

any of thergréat~powers_except Britain. ) .

\ -

At the‘Cohgress of Vienna, which followed in Septgmber; Malta's

role was even moré.insignificahtg’ Indeed,. the island was not mentioned .

~until the "tidying up' phase in the winter of 1815 after Castlereagh had

returned to London.{12} No one now disputed. Britain's right to Malta,.but
the Knights of St.John did try to wring some sort of compensation from her

for itsrloss. . In particular, they demanded that the Ionian Islands be

- handed Qver to themT—aﬂd—é%hetq case was put forward ,bykTalleyrand at the

f?T\\and'-Ferdinaﬁd -IV.[13] The tsar Qas

personél request of Louis X

opposed to the suggestion, hc ever?\\apd his oppbsition was deCisive in.

'stiffening Britain s resolve not to give the Knights anythlng-v AleRander

thoroughly disliked Uﬁgarestbfed French king. He belloved that Louis” 8

- , ,
sponsorshﬁp of the Order was an attempt ;6 reVive‘the special relationship
between it and France;rbut as 1long as the Knights could not 'add-té the
strategic power of France, then Louis was welcome to them. Alexander’s
patronage of the Order had mever besn enthusiastic, and the presence“qf‘so"
‘many dispossesced  foreigners at his Capital had -been »someWhat

embarrassing. His own nobility had _since appointed .themselves to the

higher offices in the Russian Priory, and most of -the foreign Knights had .

then gravitated back to Europe.[14] Thus, thé Ionian Islands were denied-

to the Knights, and ujltimately Britain assumed a protectorate over them.

What is significant herc is that she so downgraded "her intercst in the

Mediterrancan after the war that beth ihesc islands and Malti came to be

administercd by the same governor residing alternately in Valletta and

[
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. One of the most enthusiastic ascertiops of “Malta’'s véiggnggh

~Britain QaS;madefby the Colqhial Secretary, Lord Béthufst,rin July 1813.

After stating that, "The circumstances of the presént war have occasioned

a material ghange in . the actual value of Malta, as well as  in regard to” -

L , .
‘the importance of our holding a permanent station in Malta", he went on to

s

recite what had become the accepted litany of the island s importance as a
fortified watchtower, a naval"arsenal and a commercial cmpqrium.fISI

Inherent in his comments, however, was a certain irony that was not

.
>~

appareht at the time. With the war windingddohﬂ_ Malta's value to Britain

was diminishing not increasing. Indeud,.the cphemcral commercial boom had

already.been curtailed,. and Britain had —yet to assess "her peacctime use

for a naval base in the Mediterranean.

After the Congress of Vienna, Castlereagh was convinced that the

—

balance of power in the Mediterranezn could .be maintained merily by

keeping a small British presence at Malta.[16]) Thus, Britain ouce ag:in

denied that the isﬁghg had .an intrinsic value, and claimed  to be keoping
it for negative and symbolic ‘reasons; :negati#e'in that' her possession

kept others out, and ?symbolic'as' a way of showing that Bfitain would

tolerate neither political interference in the Levant, nor any obstruction

of the land routes to India. Russia would come to replace France as the

el

N ’ L . 0 ‘ - . .
main threat, but‘thi3qpﬂti01pates events by more than = decade, and in the

meantime Britain did little to maintain Malta s - credible miljtary

“~ .. :
deterrent. The island s defences were allowed to detoriorate, and ite:

garrison, naval stores and Jdockyard .to run down. What had  once beun

Jhighly valuable in war time now became a \%inanciql embuarrassement in time

of peacg. In the sccond half o’ the minete n;h century, Malt would apiin

-
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agrhume ag imperial prominence, but in the immediate aftermath ‘of Vthgr
Napoléonic Wars, it was a colony whdseAAptimistic "promise had “riot been
fulfilled.. This conclusion underscores the basic significancé‘of‘ Malta’s
J strétegic vimportange' which’ had'Laiways depended _upon the particular
politicul and military circumstances qu:;%he time. This ‘underlying
_principle was oftenbignored,Sy thoéefﬁhbféktolled -Malta’s advantages;,aéd‘j
to a lesseﬁ ~degres even by those wﬁbfébiﬁted‘jout its shortcomings.

Alexander Ball was correct in asserting that Malta was the place best

suited for a British base in the 'Mediterranean, but the urgency of the

- imnediate. situation in which' he operated .left him obliVvious to .the long

term reality that Britain's need .for such a bzse would _fluctuate greatly
.depending o the web of geo—political circumstances in which she found

hersclf at any moment.




CONCLUSION - NOTES

1

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

Vlncent Harlo
The_Cambridgh
Charles Dimont,
V (August, 1975)

The New Imperial System, 1785-1815,"

Liverpool to QOakes, 5 May 1812 Hafdman_ 517.

Andrei Lobanov-Rostovsky, RUSLlé\agd‘Europe _1789=1825

(Durham N.C.., 19

Malta,

Select Documents,

John Roseelli,
Imperialist,

Lord William Bentlnck
1774-1839 (London, 1974),

»

47), 207-8; and Hardman, JCS

British Cclonial Developme

(Oxford

(ed.) V.Harlow and F. Madden

HE§PQEXIwaﬁb?-ﬁ?iﬁi§bwﬁTPiF§ (Cambridge,

"Malta and the British Connexion,"
. 549.

nts

55-67; and Harlow,

1940), - 11

144,

129.

fiistory Today.

1774-1834:
1953),

the making of a Liberal

176.

Report of the Commissioners of InquiryT 30 August, Harlow 178.

Bathurst to Maitland, 28 July 1813, Hardman,

Lee

C.X VWebster;

S

31.

The Congress of Vienna, 1814~ 18

527.

15

(London,1919), 33-

Article VII, The

Harold Nicolson,

Michel de T

Pierredon,

-4.

Treaty of Paris, 30 May 1814_
Consolidated Treaty Series, LXIII,.181.

———— e T e e L2

?b§_999g59§§,9f_Vé§99a (New York,

de_Saint Jean (Parls 71956)

Harrison Smith

"The Order of St.John of Jerusalem,

"Lord leerpool to the Commissioners of Inquiry into the Affairs of
1 May 1812 "

112730,

1946), 193-4.

Pope Piu

Czar Alexander and the Restoration of the Grand Master of

Malta"

, Scientia,

XXIV, 4 (1960), 164-176.

Bathurst to Maitland, 28 July 1813, Hardman,

Lee

66-7.

526~

Histoire Pol tlgue de L Ordre Souverain

VIT,
Ordcr of



145

BIBLIOGRAPHY

'MANUSCRIPT SOURCES

(A) Public Record Office, London

. i
Colonial Office Rpcords, '
CO 158/- Malta - Original Correspondence - Secretary of State

CO 159/- Malta - Entry Books of Correspondence
Foreign Office Records )
K FO 49/- Malta
FO 353 Jackson Papers
. Private Papers ' .

PRO 30/58/- Dacres Adams Papers

-

(B) British Library, London

Ball, Sir Alexander. Proposals for the Ejection of the French
from Malta, 1799. Add..MSS 34909, f.30.

Report on Malta, 1800. Stowe 918. ' .

Private letters to Granville Penn, 1802-1805. Add. MSS 37268.

I . The Importance of Malta to a Fleet Cruising before
Toulon, 1803. Add. MSS 34932, ff. 181-3.

Private Letter to G. F. Leckie, Naples, 25 August, 1804.
Add. MSS 35344, ff. 263-4. . _

Plan for the Security of Alexandria, 1804.
Add. MSS 31229, f. 79. :

Letter to Admiral Qsllingwood, 1807. Add. MSS 40098, f. 120

Coleridge, Samuel Taylor. Autograph literary remains. Egerton 2800.

Observations on Egypt, prepared for Sir
Alexander Ball, 1804. Add. MSS 34932, ff. 240-8.

Eaton, William. Letter to Sir Alexander Ball, 13 December 1804.
Egerton 2800, ff. 116-7. .

Melville Papers. Add. MSS 40101-2.
* Nelson Papers. Add. MSS 34902-92.

~Pasley Papers. Diary. Add. MSS 41972.

4

Private Correspondence. Add. MSS 41961.

St.Vincent Papers. Add. MSS 31158-31193.



- "~ (C) Other Repositories

HertfordsHire Record Office, Hertford..
Martin Leake Papers. Acc. 599/85483-535.

Museum of Fine Arts, Valletta.

Occurrences at Malta, 1799-1801. Diary of Capt. Alexander Ball.

Natlonal Maritime Museum, Greenwich.
Private letters from Sir Alexander Ball to Vlce Adm1ral Lord
Nelson, Malta, 1801-5. 'CRX/1l. Gen/B/1-61.

PRINTED SOURCES
(A) Documents, Correspondence -and Memoirs

BENZVENTO, Charles de Tallieyrand-Perigord, Prince of. Le MlnlBtOPO de

Talleyrand sous la Directoire. G. Pallain (ed.). Paris, 1891,

British Colonial Developments, 1774-12334, Seleft Documents

V. Harlow and F. Madden (ed. ). Oxford, 1953.

British Dlplomacy 1213-1515: Select Documents :dealing with the =~

Reconstruction of Europe. C.K Webster (ed.). LondQn 19°1.

e e e e e = e

CASTLEREAGH, Robert Stewart, second Marquis of Londonderry, Viscount.
The Memoranda and Correspondence of Robert Stewart, Viscount

- Castlereagh Charles W. Vane ged Y. 12 vols. London 184:-54.

COLLINGWOQD, Cuthbert, first Baron. The Private Correspondence of Admiral

Lord Collingwood 1776-1810.  E. Hughes (ed.)

Navy Records. 8001ety London, 1957. °

. A Selection from the Public and Prlvate Correspondenoe

G.L. Newnham Colllngwood (ed.). 4th ed. Londo' 1829,

Congsolidated Treaty Series. Clive Parry (ed.). 180-vols. New York, 1909,

CORNWALLIS, Charles first Marquis. The Correspondence of Charles, First

Marquess Cornwallis. C. Ross (ed.). 3 vols. Londor, 1555

and his Correspondence with Alexander TI.

CZARTORYSKI, -Prince Adam. Memoirs of Prince Adam Czartoryski

Adam Gielund (ed.). 2 vols. Londo 185

Documents Relating to the French Government of Malta,6 179%-1"01.

Barnibal P. S-icluna (ed ). hj' 21ta, 1927,

ol

L
JCUBLET, Jp)n—Pler ~z~Louie-Qvide. M smolres h ctor: ques wur l invaclon et
1 orcuoat on de Mzlte par une armfe fran aise en ll)
count cf Panis-e-Pzc.i (ed.). Pz ris, 157,



England and Napoieon,in 1803, beiné<;;e despatches of Lord Whitworth .

GEORGE ITI,

Lord John Russell (ed.).” 4 vols. London, 1862.

King of England.” The_Later Correspondence of George ITI.

A. Aspinall (ed.). 5 vols. Cambridge, 1961-70.

Baron A. DuCasse (ed.). 3 vols. Paris, 1855.

Manuscripts Commiscion. Rebort of theé.Manuscripts of

J.B. Fortescue, Preserved at Dropmore. 10 vols.

Londor, 1882-1927.

Report on the Manuscripts of Earl Bathurst, Preserved at
Cirencester Park. London, 1923. :

W.6. Perrin and C. Lloyd (ed.). 3 vols.- Navy Records.Society.
London, 1927-55.
- L ) c\‘

LEVESON-GOWER, Lord Granville, first Earl Granville. Lord .

MALMESBURY,

MILES, William A. The Correspondence of William Augustus Miles on

the French Revolution, 1789-1817. Rev. Charles P. Miles (ed.).

2 vals. London, légﬁ.j

147



148

MINTO, Sir Gilbert Elliot, first Earl of. Life and Letters of

Countess of Minto (ed ). 3 vols. London 1874.

MOORE, Sir John. The Diary of Sir John Moore. Major General Sir J.F.

Maurice (ed.). 2 vols. London, 1904.

NAPOLEON I, Emoeror of the French‘ Correspondance de. Napolébn Ier:

32 vols. Paris, 1858 70.

. Lettres inédites de;Napoléon I. Leon Lecestre (ed.).

Letters and Documents of Napoleon. Selected and .

translated by John E. Howard.. 2 vols. London, 1961.

NELSON, Heratio, Viscount. The Despatches and Letters of Vice—Admiral

Lord Nelson. Sir N.H. Nicholas (ed.). 7 vols. London, 1844-6.

Nelson s Letters to His Wife and Other Documents, 1785-1831.

George Nash (ed.). London, 1958.

London, 1896.

PITT, William. The Speeches of William Pitt in the House of Commons.

puissances etrangeres. Martens, Fedor Fedorovitch (ed.).

15 vols. St. Petersburg, 1874—1909.

L.V. Harcourt (ed.). 2 vols. London, 1860.

ST. VINCENT, John Jervis Earl of. Letters of Admiral of the Fleet, the

London, 1921- 26.

- Memoirs of Admiral the Rt. Hon. the Earl of St. Vincent.

3°S. Tucker (ed.). 2 vols. London, 1844.

Against France, 1804-1805. John Holland Rose (ed.). Royal

Hlstorlcal Soc1ety Camden 3rd Series, vol. 7. London, 1904.

SPENCER, George. second Earl. Private Papers of George, Second Earl

Spencer, First Lord of the Adm1ralty,_l794 ~1701. ~J. Corbett and

H W. Richmond (ed.) 4 vols. Navy Records Society.
Londorn, 1912-04



T T e e e e e S ST

(B) Traveller s Tales, Political Pamphlets and Contemporary Works

Annual Register. J. Dodsley (ed.).. 61 vols. London, 1758-1819.

AUTUN, Jean Quintin de.  The Earliest Description of Malta. Translated by

H.C.R. Vella. Malta, 1980.

BARROW, J. An_Account of Travels .into Southern Africa. 2 vols.

BOISGELIN, L. Ancient and Modern Malta. 2 vols. London, 1805.

e e e e e e e L T T T

Qgpggzgfs\ﬁnnual*Register. William Cobbett (ed.). 31 vols.

London, 1802-16.
J

COLERIDGE, Samuel Taylor. Essays of His Times in the Morning Post

and Courier. Vol. III: The Collected Works of Samuel Taylor.

Coleridge. D.V. Erdman (ed.) Princeton (N.J.), 1969.

The Friend: a Litefary, Moral and Political Weekleraper

Vols. IV and V: The Collected Works of Samuel Taylor Coler

B.E. Rooke (ed.) Princeton (N.J.), 1959.

A Description of Malta w;%h a_Sketch of its History and that of

its Fortifications. Translated from the Italian. with notes b

an English officer resident on the island. Malta, 1801.

ETON, Willian. A Survey of the Turkish Empire. London, 1798.

i



FROMENT, Dominique. Du_commerce des Européens _avec les Indes,

par le Mer Rouge, et par 1 Egypte. Paris, 1799.

150

GAMBLE, R. Letters from the Mediterranean in 1798 & 1799. Bungay, 1800.

JACKSON, John. Reflections on the Commerce of the Mediterranean.

NORRY, Charles. An Account of the French Expedition to Egypt.

London, 1800.

Parliamentary History of England.. William Cobbett (ed.).

36 vols. London, 1820.

Institutions of the British Empire. 3rd Ed.. London, 1811.

PENN, Granville. "A Summary Account of Lebnitz s Memoir,"

TOOKE, William. Observation on the Expedition of General

WILKINSON, C. Epitome of the History of Malta. London, 1804.

WOooD, Sir Mark. The Importance of Malta Considered in the

Years 1796 and 1798. London, 1803.

(C) Monographs and General Works

ADAMS, Ephraim D. The Influence of Grenville on Pitt s Foreign

Policy, 1757-1/05. Washington (D C.J, 1904-



o s
\ b

ANDERSON, M.S. Britain’ £ n1600ver¥ of Russia, 1533- 1815. London, 1958.

——— e e s e e e — Y ALl L EZZ

"Eighteenth Century Theories of Balance of Power
Studies in Diplomatic Histor 183-98. ‘Edited by D.B.Horn and

e e e e e e e e

M.S.Anderson- London, 1970.

ANDERSO§J‘Rodger C. Naval Wars in the Levant, 1559-1853.

Liverpool, 1952.

ANSON, W.V. . The Life of John Jerv1s Admiral Lord St.Vincent.

e e e e Ll T T D T ol LI S

London, 1913

BARTLETT, Christopher John. Great Britain and Sea Power, 1815-1853.
Oxford 1963.

[

BLOUET, Brian. The Story of Malta, London, 1967. oy

‘. November 1799 - March 1801. Unlver51ty of Toronto Studies.

History: 2nd Series, vol. I. Toronto, 1897.

BRENTON, E.P. Life and Correspondence of John, Earl St. Vincent.

2 vols. London, 1838.

BUTTERFIELD, Herbert. Charles James Fox and Napoleon, The Peace

CAVALIERO, Roderlck E. The Last of the Crusaders. London, 1960.

"The Decline of the Maltese Carso in the XVIIIth
century: a study in maritime history,"
Melita Historica, II, 4 (1959), 224-238.

CHARLES-ROUX, Francois. L “Angleterre et 1 “expédition francaise

en Egypte. 2 vols. Cairo, 1925.

CHRISTIE, Ian. Wars and Revolutions, Britain 1760-1315. = -

COLEIRO Edoardo. ''The Strategical Importance of Malﬁa,"
Scientia, III (1952), 131-139; IV (1952), 150-177.

COOPER, G.E. '"Methods of Blockade,and Observation Employed During
the Napoleonic .Wars, Journal of the Royal United Service

e e e

Institution. LXI (August and November, 1916), 523-50.

COQUELLY, P. Napoleon and England, 1303-1813. London, 1904.

b



CUNNI::CHAM, Allan. "The Oczakov Debate,'" Middle Eastern Studies,

= F- e e i Tt o " o ———

I (1964- 65) 209-37. 4 - o

_________ . "The Journal of Christophe Aubin: A Report on the Levant Trade
in 1812," Archivum Ottomanicum, VIITI (1983), 5-131. ~

- DELAVOYE, A.M. Life of Slr Thomas Graham (Lord Lynedoch) : :

London 1580.
DERRY, John W. Charles James Fox. London, 197%.

DENARO, Victor F. "The French in Malta," Scientia, I (1963), 12-18;
II (1963), 70-86; III (1963), 122-136; IV (1963), 161-182.

DEWAR, K.G.B. '"What is the Influenie of Overseas Commerce on the
Operations of War? How did it affect our Naval Policy in the
Past, and how does it in the Present Day?" Journal of the
Royal United Service Institution, LVII (Aprll 191?) 44195500,

I L e e T L e e T e e e -

DIMONT, Charles. "Malta snd the British Connexion," History Today.
\Y (Aug.55)_ 545-53. : 2oaay

¢

DIXON, C. Willis. The Colonial Administration of Sir

Thomas Maitland. London, 1939.

SExxI DXL T2 ______.ﬁ,‘_._.____._._.,_.._.,__-_.__._.___-.._._._ - —

London, 1861.

. ¢
EKZDAHL, Waldemar. “The Principal Causes of the Renzwal of the War
Between England and France in 1803," Transactions of

the Royal Historical Society, New Ser1~s: VIII (1894), }81—201.

—— Y L e e e —

ELGCOD, P.G. 'Qogé te s Adventure in_ Egypt. London, 1931.

FURBER " Holden. Henry Dundas, _First Viscount Melville, 1742-1411.

London, 1931.

GALEA, Joseph. Some Offxclal Enactments under_the_ Early British
Rule in_ Malta. Vailetta 19&9 . .

"English Privateers at Malta, and ¢ British Consul s
Misfortunes in the XVIII century: originral unpublished
documents," Scientia, ITI (1964), 1:0-127.

______ . "The Quar“htiré Service and the Lazw.retio «f Moalto "
T Melita alstorlca IV:3 (19¢6), 184-209.

GALEA, Michael. Ferdinand von Hompesch: A grmgn‘Grandmostervig Malts.
V~lletta, 1976. - :

3ASH, Norman. Lord L~verpo 1, the Life and Political Caresr of
RoOPrt Bank Jenkt nson. London 1984



“’V A V . 2; ’ ‘ " ’]:537 -

v

GHORBAL, Shafik. The Beglnnxngs of the Eagtern Questlon a d the

Rise of _Mehmet Ali. ~London, 1925.

CILL, Conrad. "The Relations betwe.n Englard and France in 1802 "
English Historical Review, XXIV (1909), 61—78. ‘

GODECHOT, J. '"La Fr-nce =t Malte au XVIITe siecle " B§Y9§_5£§§9££999
CCVI (July 1951), 67-79.

GRICAS, E.L. "S5.T Coleridge at.Maltz," Modern Philology, : .
XXVIT (1929), 201-17.

diglomacy 1Q01”1q25 “Berkeley (Calif.),/196.

Cambridge History of the BPltlSh Empire, , 129-187.

Cambridge, 1940. : .

HEROLD, Christopher J. BonapaTte in Egypt. London, 1963.

HIBBERT, Christopher. 'Bonaparte and the Knights of Malta ' : .
History Today, XX (March, 1970), 153-62.

%

of St John. Edlnburgh '1979.

HUME, E.E. "A Proposed Alliance with the United States, 1794",
William and Mary Quarterly, XVI (April 1936), 222-3.

iNGRAM. Edward Commitment to Empire Pro;ﬁesiss of the Great Game

— e e e e e P e e e e LN D T T S I

Middle East 1775- 1@42 London 1984.

JAMES William. The Naval Hlstory of Great Britain from the.

Declaration of War by Erance the Accession of George Iv.

6 vol. London 1902

' JONQUIERE C.E.L .M de Taffanel de la. L Expeditlon d Eg!ggg _1798-1801.
5 vols. Paris, 1899-1907.

KENNEDY, James. "Lord Whitworth and the Conspiracy agcinst Paul "
Slavic Review, XXXVI (1977), 208. ,

KENNEDY. Paul M. The Rise and Fall of British Naval Mastery. ~
London,, 1976. B - ' ,,f'—"’,



154

"Mahan versus Mackinder: Two Interpretations of British
Sea Power," Militargeschichtliche Mitteilungen, (1976), 39-36.

LAFERLA, Albert V. British Malta. 2 vols. Malta, 1945.

"Malta in the Diplomatic History of the Napoleonic Wars,"
Melita, I (1921): 1-8; 103-108; 117-121; 201-204; 235-247;

291-293; 202-306; 338-341.

LEE, Hilda. Malta, 1313-1914. Malta, 1972.

LLOYD, E.M. '"The Anglo-French Peace Negotiations of 1806,"

LOBANOV-ROSTOVSKY, Andrei A. Russia and Europe, 1789-1825.

Durham (N.C.), 1947.

LORD, Walter F. England and France in the Mediterrénean, 1660-1330.

London, 1897.

LOVAT-FRASER, J.A. Henry Dundas, Viscount Melville. London, 1916.

McGREW, Roderick E. "Paul I and the Knights of Malta," Paul I:

Norman Saul (ed.). Pittsburgh (Pa.), 1979.

"Problems of an Amphibious Power: Britain Against France,
1793-1815," Naval War College Review, 1978.

War Without Victory, the Downfall of Pitt, 1799-1802.

_____________________________________________ 2 T XX C

Oxford 1984.

MAHAN, Alfred T. The Influence of Sea Power Upon the French

Revolution and Empire, 1793-1812. 2 vols. London, 1892.

MALLTA-MILANES, Victor. "Six Letters by Angel Rutter English Consul in
Malta," Melita Historica, VIT:I (1976), 17-24.

"English Merchants Initial Contacts with Malta;

a reconstruction,’ Melita Historica, IV (1975), 342-361.



e T e e . am A

e s e — e e ot . —_—— e — — YL

Melville, 1742-1811. London, 1933._

. gt = —

MATHESON, Cyril. The Life of Henry Dundas, First Viscount -

. —— e —

A ) ¢ .
MIEGE, M. Histoire desMalte. 4 vols. Brusselgs, 1841.

NICOLSON, Harold. The Congress of Vienna - a study.in allied . -
' unity, 1812-1822. New York, 1946. _

....... N SRS SO

OMAN, Carola. ‘Nelson. London, 1947.

First Viscount Sidmouth. 3 vols. London, 1847.

PELLEWge George. The Life and Correspondence of Henry Addington,

PETTIGREW, Thomas J. Memoirs of the Life of Vice-Admiral Lord Nelson-

2 vols. London, 1849.

PHTLLIPSON, Martin. "La Paix D'Amiens et la Politique Generale de.
Napoléon ler," Revue Historique, part 1, LXXV (1901), 286-318;

PSR i i

part 2, LXXVI (1801), 28-78.

PHILIPS, Cyril H. . The East India Company, 17284-1234. Revised Edition. L

Manchester, 1961.

PIERREDON, Michel de. Histoire Politique de.l Ordre Souverain de.

Tilsit," International History Review, II (May. 1983), 181-200.

e A s o e et o e o e S ot ———

A Strategic Commentary. Oxford, 1964.

ROSE. John Holiand Napoleonic Studies. 2nd ed. London, 1906. -

( |



ROSSELLI, John. Lord William Bentlnck the maklng of a Liberal

156

February. 1303," English Historical Review, \XXVI (April
1921), 234-B. | .

Y

- "Napoleon and Sea Power," Cambridge Historlcal
Journal, I (1923-4), 138-57.

. "The Political RJnrtlon of Bonaparte s Eastern
pred tion." English Historical Review, XLIV (1929), 4g-58.

4

- The Life of Napoleon I. London, 1929.

. "The Confllct with Revolutionary France, 1793-1802.,"
Cambridge History of the British Emplre IT, 36-82.

Cambridge, 1940.

- ""The Struggle with Napoleon, 1803- 1815,
' The Cambridge History of the British Emplre IT, 83-1.8.

- | -\

Cambridge, 1940.

Imperialist, 1774~ 1939 London 1974.

RYAN, Frederick W. " The House of the Temple: A Study of Malta

and its Knig ts in the French Revolution. London, 1930.

SCHERMERHORN, E.W. Malta of the Knights. London, 1929.

SHERRARD, O.A. A Life of Lord St. Vi ncent. London, 1933.

SHUPP,

SMITH,

PD?_W%ES_YEFD_EféﬁgﬁmMlZ?§Hlﬁl? Cambridge (Mass.), 1969.
. '"Lord Grenv1lle s plan for a Concert of
Europe, 1797-1799 Journal of Modern History, XXXV (1962 ),
. 284-293.

%

Paul Frederick. The European Powers and the Near Eastern. .

Ouestlon 1206-1R07. New York, 1931.

‘Harrison. Britain in Malta Constitutional_ DevelOpmﬁnﬁ

of Malta in_ thg_yig§§eenth Century. Mzlta, 195
"The Order of St. John of Jerusalem; Relations betwen .
Pope Pius VI.and the Rucsian Grand Priory,"

Scientia, XXIV, 2 (1960), 52-73.

"The Order of St. John of Jerusalem; Pope Pius VI,

Czzr Alexander and th+ Restoration of the Grand Master of the
Order of Malta," Scientia, IIT (1960), 102-113; IV (1920),
1aa-17-3 AXIV, 3 (1950), 1001173 XXIV, 4 (1960),; 164-176.

;»\,‘;u-a
-

- "Lord Elcln § Report on Levantlne Affairs and Malta 28 ] -



CIsT

“"Relations Betweon the Court of St. Petsrsburg and the
Court of the Grand Masters at Malta," Melita Historica, 71,

(1961), 9-13. - 0 TUTTTToomoesesss

-

"A Summary of the History of the Order of St. John of

ST Jerusalen, Scientia, XXVIII, 2 (1962), 74-87.

7 S

IT (1950), 23-32; III (1950), 25-32; 1V (1950), 23-32; v
(1951), 32-40; VI (1951), 31-40; VII (1951), 25-34.

~—=_-SOLER, Edgar G. "Britain’s Obligations to Malta," Maltese Review.

—._._.__- "sth September, 1800," Maltese Review, VIT (1951), 9-11.

STANHOPE, Earl of. Life of William Pitt. 4 vols.

SULTANA, Donald. Samuel Taylor Coleridge in Malta and Italy.

Oxford, 1969. , :

"Coleridge s Political Papers in Malta," New
Approaches to Coleridge, 212-40. LonQon_ 1981.

.THIERS, Louis Adolphe. ﬁig;ggz_éﬁ_Ebg;ggggglgﬁgl_and the Empire

of France under Napoleon. D.E. Campbell (trans.). 20 vols.

WALDER, David .Nelson. London, 1978.

WEBB, P.L.C: "'The Royal Navy in the Ochakov Affair, "
" International History Review, II (1980), 13-33.

WILLIS, Richard. "William Pitt’s Resignation i:; 1801:
Re-examination and Document," Bulletin of fﬁ?_;9?§i§9ﬁ§_9f
Historical Research, XLIV (1971). :

WOUb, Alfred C. A History of the Levent Company. Oxford, 19°5.



T
XUEREB, Paul. "Sir William Hamilton s Account of his First Visit | -
to'Malta," Melita Historica, VI, 1 (1972), 22-24. L '

(D) Unpublished Dissertations

AVERY, Ronald. "The Naval Protection of British Maritime
Trade. 1793-1802." D.Phil.: Oxford, 1983. c

CHANCELLOR, Valerie E. "The Ministry of all the Talents,
January 1806-March 1807: a political study."
D.Phil.: Oxford, 1978.

GWYNNE-TIMOTHY, J.R.W. "Anglo-French Colonial Rivalry, 1783-1815."
D.Phil.: Oxford, 1953. - '

JONES, J.S. "English Foreign Trade.in the First Half of the
Nineteenth Century, together with some Observations on the War
Pepiod, 1793-1814." M.Sc.: London, 1928.

MURDFE, Ella ' "Minorca Under British Rule, 1713-1783."
: M.A.: London, 1931.

SCHABER, J.R. "Admiral Sir William Cornwallis and the Blockade

of Brest, 1801-6." ‘B.Litt.: Oxford, 1977.

STEER, D.M. '"The Blockade.of Brest by the Royal Navy, 1793-1805."
M.A.: Liverpool, 1971.

WEBB, P.L.C. "The Navy and British Diplomacy, 1783-93."
M.Litt.: Cambridge, 1972.°

WEIR, A.J. "British Opinion ard Colonial Policy, 1783-1839"
Ph.D.: Edinburgh, 1924.



